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OF 1934
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OR
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ACT OF 1934
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlerge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, m-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. See definition of “accelerated filer,"garaccelerated filer” and “smaller reporting comygan Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS.

We are an international biotechnology company ithédcused primarily in the field of regenerativedicine. We are committed to the
discovery and development of best-in-class thesapésigned to extend and enhance the quality oghuife. We have established a portfolio
of therapeutic product development programs toesfdsignificant unmet medical needs in multipleaée areas. Our MultiSteheell therapy
a patented and proprietary allogeneic stem cetlye is our lead platform product and has beefuated in two completed Phase 1 clinical
trials and is currently being evaluated in two dngdPhase 2 clinical trials, as well as an invegtigled Phase 1 trial. Our current clinical
development programs are focused on treating imflatary and immune disorders, neurological cond#j@ardiovascular disease, and other
conditions. We are also applying our pharmaceuticaiovery capabilities to identify and develop 8mmlecule compounds with potential
applications in indications such as obesity, relatetabolic conditions and certain neurologicalditions. These represent major areas of
clinical need, as well as substantial commercigloofunities.

We believe our MultiStem therapy represents a lirgaligh in the field of regenerative medicine atadrscell therapy and could be used to
treat a range of disease indications. MultiSteratinent enhances tissue repair and healing in nultipys, including reducing inflammatory
damage, protecting tissue that is at risk followdérgite or ischemic injury, and promoting formatadmew blood vessels in regions of ischemic
injury. These cells appear to be responsive t@tivironment in which they are administered, by hmagrtd sites of injury and providing active
disease response, while producing proteins thatpmayide benefit in both acute and chronic condgidn contrast to traditional
pharmaceutical products or biologics that genemdtythrough a single biological mechanism of agtMultiStem therapy can enhance healing
and tissue repair through multiple distinct mechars acting in parallel, such as by producing aeafgherapeutic factors and dynamically
responding to the needs of the body, resultingritoee effective therapeutic response.

The MultiStem product is uniqgue among regeneratieglicine approaches because it can be manufaainradarge scale, may be administ
in an “off-the-shelf” manner with minimal procesgjrand can augment healing in multiple ways, priogidiological potency and therapeutic
effects that other cell therapy approaches maypeable to achieve. Additionally, MultiStem treatthbas demonstrated a consistent safety
profile in both preclinical and clinical studieske drugs and biologics, the product is clearedfthe body over time, enhancing product s¢
relative to other types of stem cell therapy. WHhhle product does not permanently engraft in thizph the therapeutic effects of treatment
with MultiStem cells appear to be quite durable.

We believe the therapeutic and commercial potefaraVultiStem therapy to be very broad, applyingrany areas of significant unmet
medical need. We are pursuing opportunities in séymtential multi-billion dollar markets. Whileaditional pharmaceuticals and traditional
biologic therapies typically may be used to tredy@ single disease or a narrowly defined seelz#ted conditions, MultiStem cells appear to
have far broader potential and could be developetifierent formulations and with different deliyespproaches to effectively treat a range of
disease indications.

We have evaluated the use of MultiStem cells astangial treatment in several disease areas. Wgmkith an international network of leading
investigators and prominent research and clinitgtitutions, and through our own internal effowtg, have explored the potential for MultiSt
therapy to be used as a treatment of acute andictfayms of inflammatory and immune disorders, noéagical conditions, cardiovascular
disease, certain pulmonary conditions and othexsané unmet medical need.

To date, we have successfully advanced MultiStearatties into five clinical stage programs, whiclrads areas of significant medical need
and represent major commercial market opportunikigtiStem cells have been evaluated as a potdre@ment for heart attack patients in a
completed Phase 1 clinical trial. We are prepatinigitiate a Phase 2 clinical study late in 20@dthe administration of MultiStem cells to
patients that have suffered a myocardial infarctinor2013, we were awarded a grant from the Natibrsitutes of Health for up to $2.8
million to support funding this clinical programda@itionally, we have evaluated in a completed PHasknical study the potential for
MultiStem therapy to prevent or reduce graft-ve#isast disease, or GvHD, and other complicationd,tarprovide supportive care to patients
undergoing a hematopoietic stem cell transplatreat leukemia or related conditions. We are piiegao advance our GvHD program into
next phase of clinical development and have hadrs¢interactions with the United States Food andgDAdministration, or FDA, and similar
international agencies regarding study design haghotential to accelerate the path to productayabr Based on current plans, we are
preparing to start this Phase 2/3 study in 2014tHmuiinitiation will depend on the progress inestklinical trials and the achievement of cer
business development and financial objectives. MultiStem therapy for GvHD has been designatedrahan drug by both the FDA and the
European Medicines Agency, or EMA, which may previdarket exclusivity and other substantial potéinigentives and benefits.

MultiStem therapy is also being evaluated in sdvatteer ongoing clinical trials. Our partner, Pfizec., or Pfizer, is conducting a Phase 2
clinical study of MultiStem cells administered tatignts with ulcerative colitis, or UC, a commomnfioof inflammatory bowel disease, or IBD.
We announced enrollment completion in December 2848 we anticipate that preliminary results wéldnnounced in the spring of 2014. In
another Phase 2 trial, we are evaluating the patdbt MultiStem treatment of patients who havéeted neurological damage from an
ischemic stroke. We are targeting to complete émmsit, which is taking place in the United Stated &urope, around the end of summer 2
and release of the preliminary results as soohesdre available. Finally, a research collaboratat leading transplantation center in Europe
is conducting a small, exploratory institutionabapored Phase 1 study to evaluate the administrafiMultiStem cells to patients undergoing
a liver transplant.
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Our development approach has historically involgsthblishing collaborative relationships with leamdiesearch and clinical centers in the
United States and internationally. This has enabketb methodically advance multiple programs gnarof defined unmet medical need in a
resource efficient manner. Furthermore, by empiragithe potential application of our technologiesreas of significant clinical need, we
believe we are well positioned to utilize recemulatory initiatives that are designed to prombie fapid and cost effective development of
innovative new therapies. These include recentinies in the United States being implementedigyRDA involving the broadened
application of the accelerated approval pathwag,the new Breakthrough Therapies framework, as agethe new accelerated Regenerative
Medicine regulatory framework in Japan that couldtde rapid conditional authorization of regenemtnedicine therapies. We believe such
initiatives could accelerate the development androercialization of products like MultiStem celiSclinical results demonstrate appropriate
safety and therapeutic effectiveness, thereby &sing shareholder value.

In addition to our MultiStem programs, we have #&xpbur pharmaceutical discovery capabilities entify and develop novel pharmaceutit
to treat obesity, related metabolic conditions saglliabetes, and certain neurological indicatsarth as schizophrenia. Further, small
molecule compounds that may be used to enhang&dldection or therapeutic effectiveness of MultiSter related products are under
development. These compounds may increase biolggitency for certain indications and lead to seconthird generation products in the
regenerative medicine area. Our 5HT2c agonist pradgor obesity works by the same mechanism as kero# , which was approved by the
FDA in 2012 for the treatment of obesity. We bedi@ur compounds may have the potential for progidimperior weight loss performance,
while also achieving a superior safety and tolditgdprofile. In addition, we have demonstratedttbar compounds are complementary with
other agents that have been approved by the FD#&édating obesity. Furthermore, we have evaluagethin compounds in preclinical models
of schizophrenia that exhibit an attractive seléfgtiprofile and also observed that these compowxdisbit potent effects. We may elect to e
into a partnership to advance the development o6biT2¢ agonist program, either for the treatmdmtt®sity, schizophrenia, or both
indications, as well as for certain programs iniravMultiStem.

We were incorporated in Delaware on October 245198 June 8, 2007, we merged with a wholly owndasigliary of BTHC VI, Inc., a
Delaware corporation, and, on August 31, 2007, BWHQnc. changed its name to Athersys, Inc.

Business Strategy

Our principal business objective is to discoveralep and commercialize novel therapeutic prodfartslisease indications that represent
significant areas of clinical need and commercpgartunity. The key elements of our strategy artireed below:

. Efficiently Conduct Clinical Development to EstahliClinical Proof of Concept and Biological Activivith our Lead Produc
CandidatesWe are conducting a number of clinical studies whthintent to establish proof of concept and/@opof biological
activity in a number of important disease areasre/tige cell therapies would be expected to havefiteninflammatory and
immune system dysfunctions, neurological conditiand cardiovascular disease. Our focus is on caimiuwell-designed studies
early in the clinical development process to esthld robust foundation for subsequent developnpamtnering activity and
expansion into complementary areas. We are conthtitta rigorous clinical and regulatory framewantkijch we believe has
helped us to advance our programs efficiently, jgiog high quality, transparent regulatory subnuasi Our discussions with the
FDA have resulted in a successful regulatory pastrip that has helped to advance our programsaesftly.

. Continue to Refine and Improve our Manufacturind &elated Processes and Deepen our Understandiberapeutic
Mechanisms of ActiolA key aspect of MultiStem cells is their expanstapacityex vivorelative to other cell types. This allows
large scale production of the clinical product, ethenables greater consistency, specificity antafogoods advantages over other
cell therapies. We plan to build on this intrinkiological advantage by continuing to advance gptéhtze our production and
process development approaches, further develogngmanufacturing techniques including our bioreaptatform, and
optimizing the plant-to-bedside supply chain tosup late-stage development and commercializatfdviudtiStem therapy.
Additionally, we will continue to refine our undésisding of our products’ activities and mechanigrhaction to enable
optimization of administration and dosing and tegare the foundation for product enhancements extigeneration opportunitie

. Enter into Arrangements with Business Partnersdoeferate Development and Value Creatin addition to our internal
development efforts, an important part of our piidievelopment strategy is to work with collaboratand partners to accelerate
product development, reduce our development castbproaden our commercial access. We have eritacelicensing and
product codevelopment arrangements with qualified commem@ainers to achieve these objectives. We anticihatiethis stratec
will help us to develop a portfolio of high qualibyoduct development opportunities, enha
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our clinical development and commercialization dalitées, and increase our ability to generate gdhom our proprietary
technologies. Over the past decade, we have eritdretéchnology licensing arrangements and estadd product
commercialization and co-development partnershigs @mpanies such as Pfizer, Bristol-Myers Squilsmnpany, or Bristol-
Myers Squibb, Johnson & Johnson, Wyeth Pharmaa@sitimc., Angiotech Pharmaceuticals, Inc., or Ategh, and RTI Surgical,
Inc., or RTI. Licensing partnerships generate rereeaind provide capital that allows us to advanegoagrams further in
development

. Efficiently Explore New High Potential Therapewdipplications, Leveraging Thi-Party Research Collaborations and our Results
from Related AreaOur product candidates have shown promise in neltfsease areas, including in treating inflammagord
immune disorders, neurological conditions, cardsovdar disease, and other areas. We are comnutdptoring potential clinical
indications where our therapies may achieve bestass profile, and where we can effectively adslsignificant unmet medical
needs. In order to achieve this goal, over the ashde, we have established collaborative resealaiionships with investigators
from many leading research and clinical institusi@eross the United States and Europe, includimgtaveland Clinic, Case
Western Reserve University, University of Minnes@aorgia Regents University, the University of @me Health Sciences
Center, the University of Texas Health Science €eatt Houston, the University of Pittsburgh MediCainter, the Katholieke
Universiteit Leuven, or KUL, University of Regensguand other institutions. Through this networlcoflaborations, we have
studied MultiStem therapy in a range of preclinicaldels that reflect various types of human diseasejury in the cardiovascule
neurological, and immunological areas. These cofiative relationships have enabled us to cost &ffedg explore where
MultiStem cells may have therapeutic relevance,tand it may be utilized to advance treatment owgremt clinical care.
Additionally, we have shown that we can leverageicdl safety data and preclinical results from sgmnograms to support
accelerated clinical development efforts in othela, saving substantial development time and resswompared to traditional
drug development where generally each programpiaragely develope(

. Continue to Expand our Intellectual Property PolitioWe have a broad intellectual property estate thegis our proprietary
products and technologies, as well as methodsaofyation and methods of use. Our intellectual priype important to our
business and we take significant steps to proteeiue. We have ongoing research and developeffemts, both through internal
activities and through collaborative research ddts with others, which aim to develop new intelleal property and enable us to
file patent applications that cover new applicatiof our existing technologies or product candislaitecluding MultiStem cells and
other opportunities. We currently have approximaieéd0 patents related to our stem cell technologiescell therapy applications
providing protection in the United States, Eurafspan and other areas, and we have 53 patentsagsdagith our other
technologies and small molecule progra

Our Current Programs

By applying our proprietary MultiStem cell therapgoduct, we have established therapeutic produaldpment programs treating
inflammatory and immune disorders, neurologicaldittons, cardiovascular disease, and other contditido date, we have advanced five
programs to the clinical development stage, inclgdhe following:

« Inflammatory Bowel DiseaseMultiStem therapy is being evaluated in a Phasknal study involving administration of
MultiStem to patients suffering from UC, the mostemon form of IBD. This double blind, placebo catigd trial being conducte
with our partner, Pfizer, in UC patients that haveinadequate response or are refractory to cumesatiment, completed enrolling
patients in December 2013. We expect to report Ritker the initial results in the spring of 2014.

« Ischemic Stroke In our ongoing Phase 2 clinical study, we ardweating the administration of MultiStem cell theyap
patients that have suffered an ischemic strokeofrast to treatment with thrombolytics, which s administered within 3 to 4
hours after a stroke, we are treating patientstotwo days after the stroke has occurred. In prieell studies, administration of a
single dose of MultiStem cells, even several ddies a stroke, resulted in significant and durabiprovements. This double blind,
placebo-controlled trial is being conducted at iegdtroke centers across the United States anapEuil he study is expected to
enroll approximately 136 patients. We are targetingomplete enroliment around the end of summéd2ihd release the
preliminary results as soon as they are available.

» Acute Myocardial Infarction We have evaluated the administration of MultiSterpatients that have suffered an acute
myocardial infarction, or AMI, in a Phase 1 clifisaudy. In 2010, we announced preliminary resfatghis study, demonstrating a
favorable safety profile and encouraging signsmgdrovement in heart function among patients thhtketed severely compromis:
heart function prior to treatment. This data waBlished in a leading peer reviewed scientific j@lin 2012. One-year follow-up
data suggested that the benefit observed was isedtaver time. We are preparing for a Phase Zceliisitudy of MultiStem
administration to heart attack victims and are piag to initiate late 2014. In 2013, we were awdrdegrant for up to $2.8 million
to support funding this clinical program.
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» Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplant / GviH/e completed a Phase 1 clinical study of the adstration of MultiStem cel
to patients suffering from leukemia or certain othiwod-borne cancers in which patients undergo radiatienaipy and then recer
a hematopoietic stem cell, or HSC, transplant. Sattents are at significant risk for serious caggdlons, including GvHD, an
imbalance of immune system function caused by plansed immune cells that attack various tissuesaagans in the patient. In
2011 and in 2012, we released data from the studich demonstrated the safety of MultiStem cellghis indication and suggest
that the MultiStem therapy may have a beneficidatfin reducing the incidence and severity of GytdB well as providing other
benefits. The MultiStem therapy has been desigremeatphan drug by both the FDA and EMA, which rpayvide market
exclusivity and other substantial potential incessi and benefits. We have had several interactiithsthe FDA and international
agencies regarding study design and the potentmtdelerate the path to product approval. Basenioent plans, we intend to be
ready to start this study in 2014, but study itiia will depend on the progress in our other clatitrials and the achievement of
certain business development and financial objestiv

We are also collaborating with a leading transptaoup at the University of Regensburg in Germdmay has initiated a small institutional
sponsored clinical trial exploring the administoatiof MultiStem cells in patients following a liveansplant. We are providing the clinical
product and some financial support to conduct ttiaé t

In addition to our current and anticipated clinidalelopment activities, we are engaged in pradirdevelopment and evaluation of
MultiStem therapy in other inflammatory and immuneurological and cardiovascular disease areasekss certain other indications. We
conduct such work both through our own interna¢aesh efforts and through a broad network of colfabons we have established with
investigators at leading research institutions s€tbe United States and in Europe.

We are in discussions with third parties aboutatmating in the development of MultiStem therapydertain programs and may enter into
one or more business partnership(s) to advance firegrams.

We have also collaborated with RTI on the develapnoé products for certain orthopedic applicatiaistng our stem cell technologies in the
bone graft substitutes market. RTI's product conuiadization activities are underway in 2014, andwik receive royalty revenue from
product sales and other payments upon the suctessiievement of certain commercial milestones.

We are also engaged in the development of novell smadecule therapies to treat obesity and otherdaions, such as schizophrenia.
Currently, we are focused on the development afmohighly selective compounds that act throughudation of a specific receptor in the
brain, the 5HT2c serotonin receptor. We are corndggireclinical evaluation of novel compounds thvathave developed that exhibit favore
attributes, including outstanding receptor selétgtias well as greater potency and activity thtren5HT2¢ agonists. We have also
demonstrated our compounds are complementary Wit agents that have been approved by the FDAealiele these compounds could
achieve best in class weight loss, along with @&sapsafety and tolerability profile. Furthermoves have evaluated certain compounds in
preclinical models of schizophrenia that exhibitatimactive selectivity profile and also observiedttthese compounds exhibit potent effects.
We may elect to enter into a partnership to advémeelevelopment of our 5SHT2¢ agonist program eeifor the treatment of obesity,
schizophrenia, or both indications, as well ascntain programs involving MultiStem.

Regenerative Medicine Progran
MultiStem— A Novel Therapeutic Modality

We are developing our MultiStem therapy, a proprighon-embryonic, allogeneic stem cell productdidate, that we believe has potential
utility for treating a broad range of diseases emuald have widespread application in the fieldlofical regenerative medicine. Unlike
traditional bone marrow transplants or other steihtherapies, MultiStem cells may be manufactwed large scale and may be administere
without tissue matching or the need for immune seiggion, analogous to type O blood. Potential apptins of MultiStem therapy include the
treatment of cardiovascular disease, neurologisalade or injury and conditions involving the imrawgystem, including autoimmune disease
and other conditions. We believe that the MultiSteerapy represents a significant advancementiffi¢hd of stem cell therapy and could
have broad clinical application. We currently hapen Investigational New Drug applications, or INEBs the study of MultiStem
administration in distinct clinical indications,@a collaborating institution recently obtainedreutzation in Europe to initiate a clinical
program through an investigator sponsored clirtitall application, obtained with our permission agbport.

The MultiStem product is a patented biologic prddhat is manufactured from human stem cells obthfnom adult bone marrow, although
these cells may alternatively be obtained from iotissue sources, which are also covered undeinteltectual property. The product consists
of a special class of human stem cells that hawaltility to express a range of therapeuticallgvaht proteins and other factors, as well as
form multiple cell types. Factors expressed byc#lés have the potential to deliver a therapeutiediit in several ways, such as the reduction
of inflammation, regulation of immune system funati protection of damaged or injured tissue, thimédion of new blood vessels in regions
of ischemic injury and augmentation of tissue repad healing in other ways. Like drugs, thesesamlhy be stored for an extended period of
time (in frozen form) and used off-the-shelf. Fallng administration, the cells have been showmxfress multiple therapeutically relevant
proteins, but unlike a traditional transplant, subsequently cleared from the body over time, amale to a drug or biologic.
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The therapeutic benefit of bone marrow transpléomdtas been recognized for decades, and its alinge has grown since Congress passed
the National Organ Transplant Act in 1984 and tlatidvhal Marrow Donor Registry was established iB3However, widespread bone
marrow or stem cell transplantation has yet to bexa reality. Some of the limitations that havevprged broader clinical application of bone
marrow or stem cell transplantation include theunegment for tissue matching between donor angieat, the typical need for one donor for
each patient (a reflection of the inability to ergacells in a controlled and reproducible manrfegfjuent use of immune suppressive drugs to
avoid rejection or immune system complications,ittability to efficiently produce significant quaties of stem cells and a range of potential
safety issues.

A stem cell therapy that has the potential to askltbe challenges mentioned above could repredmetathrough in the field of regenerative
medicine, since it could greatly expand the clihagaplication of stem cell therapy or other fornfisegenerative medicine. In 2003, we
acquired technology originally developed at theudnsity of Minnesota related to a novel stem gglet Multipotent Adult Progenitor Cells, or
MAPC @, that may be isolated from adult bone maremmwvell as other tissue sources. Over the pastaeugars, we have further developed
this technology and the manufacturing of thesesdell use in ongoing clinical trials. We refer ke tlead cell therapy as the MultiStem product
platform. During several years of preclinical wokkultiStem cells have demonstrated the potentialddress many of the fundamental
limitations observed with traditional bone marromhematopoietic stem cell transplants.

We believe that MultiStem represents a potentiat-breclass stem cell therapy because it exhibits eatheofollowing characteristics based
research and development conducted to date:

. Broad plasticity and multiple potential mechanismhsction.MultiStem cells have a demonstrated ability in aaimodels to form
a range of cell types and also appear to be aldlelicer therapeutic benefit by producing factdrsttprotect tissues against damage
and inflammation, as well as enhancing or playimirect role in revascularization or tissue regatien.

. Large scale productiorUnlike conventional stem cells, such as bldodning or hematopoietic stem cells, mesenchynehstells
or other cell types, MultiStem cells may be prodlioa a large scale, processed, and cryogenicadlyepved, and then used
clinically in a rapid and efficient manner. Matérdtained from a single donor may be used to predwndreds of thousands or
millions of individual doses, representing a yitdd greater than other stem cells have been aldehizve

. “Off-the-shelf” utility. Unlike traditional bone marrow or hematopoietimsteell transplants that require extensive genetitching
between donor and recipient, MultiStem administratioes not require tissue matching or immune |gspre drugs. The
MultiStem product is administered as a cryogenycgateserved allogeneic product, meaning that tbhelig are not genetically
matched between donor and recipient. This featamiabined with the ability to establish large MutéB banks, could make it
practical for clinicians to efficiently deliver stecell therapy to a large number of patie

. SafetyOther stem cell types, such as undifferentiatedrgamic stem cells or induced pluripotent stem cetise shown the
capacity to form ectopic tissue or teratomas, whiehtumor-like growths. These could pose seriafesty risks to patients. In
contrast, MultiStem cells have shown a consistadtautstanding safety profile that has been cordpler several years of
preclinical study in a range of animal models hsagety of investigators and that is supported imgrging clinical date

At each step of the MultiStem production procesfis@are analyzed according to pre-establishedr@ito ensure that a consistent, well
characterized product candidate is produced. @edidrarvested from a pre-qualified, healthy, cotisgrmonor and these cells are then
expanded to form a master cell bank from which wiesequently produce clinical grade material. Weshdemonstrated the ability to harvest
cells that meet our rigorous criteria from healttoynors with a high degree of consistency. Furthegria multiple animal models, MultiStem
has been shown to be non-immunogenic, and is ast@ied without the genetic matching that is tyfycedquired for conventional bone
marrow or stem cell transplantation.

The distinctive profile of the MultiStem productai/s us to pursue multiple high value commercigantunities from a single product
platform. Based upon work that we and independeltdlmorators have conducted over the past sevembywe believe that MultiStem cells
have the potential to treat a range of distincéase indications, including ischemic injury andd@arascular disease, certain types of
neurological conditions or injury, autoimmune disgaransplant support (including in oncology patieand solid organ transplant areas), &
range of orphan disease indications. As a reselth@lieve we will be able to leverage our foundabbsafety and efficacy data to add clinical
indications efficiently, enabling us to reduce depenent costs and timelines substantially.
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MultiStem for Treating Immune System Disorders,rblegical Conditions and Cardiovascular Disez

Healthcare represents a significant part of thbeajleconomy. In the United States, it represenpgdcaximately 17.2% of all economic activity
in 2012, or about $2.8 trillion dollars annuallyowever, the United States, along with many othéibng, is experiencing an unprecedented
demographic shift that is resulting in a signifitgrexpanded population of older individuals. Aodimg to United States Census data, in the
next few years there will be a dramatic increasténnumber of individuals over the age of 65 hés $egment of the population increases fror
40.2 million individuals in 2010 to more than 72lian people in 2030, representing an increaseppfaximately 80%. The aging of the
population will create enormous financial pressurghe healthcare system in the United States #ret oountries around the world, resulting
in significant clinical challenges, but also remgtin substantial commercial opportunities.

Data from the National Center for Health Statisshews that as people get older, they are moreeptibte to a variety of age related
conditions, including heart disease, stroke, ceffimims of cancer, diabetes, progressive neuradglisorders, various chronic inflammatory
and immune conditions, renal disease and a rangthefs. As a consequence, as people get oldespend far more on healthcare— on
average they spend three to seven times more dif¢eea annually at age 65 than when they were geuand more healthy. According to the
Alliance for Aging Research, 83% of healthcare siiegis associated with chronic conditions, andepotiesearch shows that 62% of healthcar
spending is associated with multiple chronic candg. Traditional medical approaches have faileddequately address this problem.

We have worked with independent investigatorsrairaber of leading institutions, such as the ClewIl@linic, Case Western Reserve
University, University of Minnesota, the Nationaktitutes of Health, the Georgia Regents Univerditg University of Oregon Health Scien
Center, the University of Texas Health Science €eat Houston, KUL, the University of Pittsburgh dileal Center, University of Regensburg
and other institutions. Through this network ofl@bbrations, we have studied MultiStem cells image of preclinical models that reflect
various types of human disease or injury in thelicaascular, neurological, and immunological ardasdate, we and our collaborators have
published research results illustrating the po&thienefits of MultiStem therapy in a range of gadions including myocardial infarction,
vascular disease, ischemic stroke, traumatic binfiny, or TBI, brain damage due to restricted lddlow in newborns, spinal cord injury, and
bone marrow transplant support/GvHD. In additior,lvave explored and intend to further explore Nhtétim administration in the treatment

a range of other conditions, including other fowhsardiovascular disease, neurological conditians, immune related disorders.

As stated above, we have consistently observedvtbliStem cells are safe and effective in animaldels. As a result, we have advanced
MultiStem therapy to clinical development stagéoar clinical indications or disease areas: treatineé IBD (initially focused on UC); support
in the hematologic malignancy setting to reduc¢ateicomplications associated with traditional bomerrow or HSC transplantation; treatrr
for stroke caused by a blockage of blood flow i linain; and treatment of damage caused by myadandarction. Additionally, in
collaboration with a leading transplant center urdpe, a fifth program in the solid organ transpkmea has been advanced to clinical
development.

We may expand to other clinical indication areaseaslits warrant and resources permit.

Immunological Disorders— MultiStem for IBD and HSC Transplant Support

Inflammatory and immune disorders represent a fiogmt burden to society. There are over 80 recaghautoimmune disorders, which are
conditions caused by an acute or chronic imbalamtiee immune system. In these conditions, celithefimmune system begin to attack
certain tissues or organs in the body, resultinissue damage and loss of function. Some inflarargatnd immune conditions are associated
with age-related conditions (e.g., rheumatoid @ity but some are due to other causes that mayebetic, environmental or a combination of
both (e.g., Type 1 diabetes, IBD). Still other citiods may reflect complications associated with tteatment of other conditions (e.g., GvHD,
a frequent complication associated with transpteiatedures used to treat leukemia or related bbmyde cancers). Each of these conditions
shares certain biological characteristics, in thatimmune system imbalance results from the irgppate activation of certain populations of
immune cells that subsequently results in significssue damage and destruction. This immune iamc&l may result in a complex cascade o
inflammation that can result in pain, progressissue deterioration and loss of function. Whilerently available immunomodulatory drugs
have proven to be effective for some patients, tiese failed to adequately address the needs of other patients that suffer from
inflammatory and immune disorders.

In multiple studies, MultiStem cells have showngratimmunomodulatory properties, including theifibtb reduce active inflammation
through various modes of action, stimulate tisgmair and restore immune system balance. Accordimg believe that MultiStem therapy
could have broad application in the area of trgaitinimune system disorders, including certain autaime diseases and other conditions,
including GvHD, which is a frequent immunologicalneplication associated with bone marrow or HSCdpdamtation.

In 2009, we entered into a collaboration agreemétht Pfizer to develop and commercialize MultiStdmarapy for the treatment of IBD for t
worldwide market. IBD is a group of inflammatorydaautoimmune conditions that affect the colon andlkintestine, typically resulting in
severe abdominal pain, weight loss, vomiting arrtiea. The most common forms of the disease irdli@
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and Crohn’s disease, which are estimated to afifectmillion people or more in the United Statégefmajor European markets (United
Kingdom, Germany, France, Italy and Spain) and da@aronic IBD can be a severely debilitating céiodi, and advanced cases may require
surgery to remove the affected region of the boasedi may also require temporary or permanent anogor ileostomy. In many cases,
surgery does not achieve a permanent cure, arehpg@Buffer a return of the disease. In 2011, énesit commenced in our double-blind,
placebo-controlled Phase 2 clinical study evalgghitultiStem administration to patients sufferingrfr UC, and enroliment was completed in
December 2013. We anticipate reporting initialltrésults in the spring of 2014.

Another area of focus is the use of MultiStem cafisadjunctive treatment for HSC/bone marrow treampsed as therapy in hematologic
malignancy. For many types of cancer, such as haiger other blood-borne cancers, treatment tylyi¢avolves radiation therapy or
chemotherapy, alone or in combination. Such treatro@n substantially deplete the cells of the bland immune system, by reducing the
number of stem cells in the bone marrow from whiety arise. The more intense the radiation treatmechemotherapy, the more severe the
resulting depletion is of the bone marrow, bloatj anmune system. Other tissues may also be affesteh as cells in the digestive tract and
in the pulmonary system. The result may be seveeené&, immunodeficiency, substantial reductionigedtive capacity, and other problems
that may result in significant disability or death.

One strategy for treating the depletion of bonerowaiis to perform a peripheral blood stem cell §@ant or a bone marrow transplant. This
approach may augment the patient’s ability to foew blood and immune cells and provide a significamvival advantage. However, finding
a closely matched donor is frequently difficultemen impossible. Even when such a donor is founthdny cases there are immunological
complications, such as GvHD, which may result incges disability or death.

Working with leading experts in the stem cell amthéd marrow transplantation field, we have studiadti@tem in animal models of radiation
therapy and GvHD. In multiple animal models, Muléif cells have been shown to be non-immunogenén aihen administered without the
genetic matching that is typically required for gentional bone marrow or stem cell transplantatfanthermore, in animal model systems
testing immune reactivity of T-cells against untethdonor tissue, MultiStem has been shown to &gspthe T-cell-mediated immune
responses that are an important factor in causirtgds MultiStem-treated animals also displayed aigant increase in survival relative to
controls. As a result, we believe that MultiStermadstration in conjunction with or following staacd HSC transplantation may have the
potential to reduce the incidence or severity ahplications and may enhance gastrointestinal fongtivhich is frequently compromised as a
result of radiation treatment or chemotherapy.

We completed a Phase 1 clinical trial examiningséiety and tolerability of a single dose or repkzing of MultiStem cells administered
intravenously to patients receiving a bone marrolwamatopoietic stem cell transplant as part daf theatment of leukemia or other
hematological condition. The trial was an open lameilticenter trial that involved leading expeirighe field of bone marrow transplantation.
In February 2012, we announced the top-line re$udta the trial. We observed a consistent safetfilerin both the single and multiple dose
arms of the study, and at all dose levels testéttioAgh the trial was not specifically designediéamonstrate efficacy, we also observed
clinically meaningful improvement in medically imgpant parameters relative to historical clinicapesience, including reduced incidence and
severity of acute GvHD, improved relapse free sualyino graft failures, and enhanced engraftmaesreelative to other forms of treatment.

We have been granted orphan drug designation biy@#eand EMA for MultiStem treatment in the previentof GvHD. We met with the

FDA to review the results from the Phase 1 tria discuss plans for the next phase of clinical thgraent, which we intend to be a Phase 2/3
study of MultiStem for GvHD prophylaxis and HSCrtsplant support. Based on FDA feedback, we areotiyrworking to finalize our trial
design as we plan and prepare for trial initiatiBased on current plans, we intend to be readtato this study in 2014, but the initiation of 1
trial will depend on the progress in our clinicadls and the achievement of certain business dpwetnt and financial objectives.

Neurological Injury and Diseas+— MultiStem for Ischemic Stroke

Another focus of our regenerative medicine progimMultiStem administration for the treatment ofin@ogical injury as a result of acute or
chronic conditions. Neurological injury and diseaggresents an area of significant unmet medioad n@ major burden on the healthcare
system, and also represents a huge commercial toptgr

Many neurological conditions require extensive kvagn therapy, and many require extended hospitiidiz and/or institutional care, creating
an enormous cost burden. Stroke represents anvarya the clinical need is particularly significasince it represents a leading cause of dea
and significant long term disability. Currentlyetie are approximately 800,000 individuals in thététhStates that suffer a stroke each year,
more than two million stroke victims in the Unit8thtes, Europe and Japan, combined, and approxymi&enillion people that suffer a stro
each year globally. The vast majority of these (apimately 85% to 90%) are ischemic strokes, thatcaused by a blockage of blood flow in
the brain, that cuts off the supply of oxygen anttients, and can result in tissue loss and negicéb damage, as well as long term or
permanent disability. The remaining 10% to 15%lemorrhagic strokes, which occur when a blood Vdrasts and bleeding into the brain
ensues.
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Studies show that in recent years there has beeanaatic rise in ischemic strokes among young adué., individuals in the 25 to 45 age
group), which is likely due to a combination ofimig rates of obesity and other factors. Unfortulyateurrent therapeutic options for ischemic
stroke victims are limited, as the only availalbierapy, a clot dissolving agent or “thrombolytimust be administered within several hours of
the occurrence of the stroke. As a consequendasfinited time window, only a small percentagestrbke victims are treated with the
currently available therapy—most simply receivemrtive or “palliative” care. The long-term costisstroke are substantial, with many
patients requiring extended hospitalization, exéehphysical therapy or rehabilitation (for thoséigras that are capable of entering such
programs), and many require long-term instituticsralamily care. Similarly, there are other acute @rogressive neurological conditions that
require substantial healthcare resources, withtdidhéxisting treatment options that are only madyrclinically effective.

We have published research with independent caliding investigators that demonstrates that MutiSadministration conveys biological
benefits in preclinical models of ischemic stro&e well as other models of neurological damagegndy, including TBI, neonatal hypoxic
ischemia (a cause of neurological damage in infaatsl spinal cord injury. We have also conductegtimical work in other neurological
areas, and have been awarded grants to supportinvarkas such as the indications described abuvéoa evaluating the potential of
MultiStem cells to address chronic conditions sastMultiple Sclerosis, or MS, or Parkinson’s diged@3ur research has shown that MultiSten
cells convey benefits through distinct mechanismduding reducing inflammatory damage, protectgisk tissue at the site of injury, and
through direct neurotrophic effects that stimuldie recovery of damaged neurons. As a result, lievieethat MultiStem therapy may have
relevance to multiple forms of neurological injunyd disease.

Our initial clinical focus in the neurological argavolves evaluating MultiStem administration tedt ischemic stroke. Ischemic stroke is a
leading cause of death and disability globally, andounts for approximately 85% of all strokes. &¢@rogress toward the development of
safer and more effective treatments for ischermaksthas been disappointing. Despite the factiichemic stroke is one of the leading cause:
of death and disability in the United States, tHeas been little progress toward the developmetreatments that improve the prognosis for
stroke victims. The only FDA-approved drug currgr@Vailable for ischemic stroke is the anti-clagtiiactor, tPA. According to current clinical
guidelines, tPA must be administered to strokegpigi within several hours after the occurrencdefischemic stroke to remove the clot while
minimizing potential risks, such as bleeding irtte brain. Administration of tPA after three to fdwurs is not recommended, since it can
cause cerebral bleeding or even death. Givenithited therapeutic window, it is estimated thaslésan 5% of ischemic stroke victims in the
United States currently receive treatment with tPA.

In preclinical studies conducted by investigatorsluding at the University of Minnesota, the GaarBegents University, and the Universit
Texas Health Science Center at Houston, signifitardtional improvements have been observed inmsdinat have undergone an
experimentally induced stroke, or that have inaligignificant neurological damage due to similgrety of ischemic events, such as a result of
neonatal hypoxic ischemia or TBI, and then receMeudtiStem treatment. Published research has detraiad that MultiStem administration
even one week after a surgically induced strokelt®e substantial long-term therapeutic beneafitevidenced by the improvement of treated
animals compared with controls in a battery ofgestamining mobility, strength, fine motor skilégd other aspects of neurological functional
improvement.

Based on the research conducted by us and ouboddiers, we believe MultiStem treatment convegsificant benefits through several
mechanisms, including reduction of inflammation anchune system modulation in the ischemic area,thegrotection and rescue of
damaged or injured cells, including neuronal tisResearch results presented at the 2011 and 2@E2i¢an Heart Association International
Stroke Conference by collaborators from the Unitgisf Texas Health Science Center at Houston destnated that MultiStem administration
24 hours following a stroke reduced inflammatoryndge in the brain and resulted in significant fioral improvement, and that some of
these results were achieved by reducing the inflatarg response emanating from the spleen. Theaé#gesnfirm that MultiStem treatment
well tolerated, does not require immunosuppresaiahresults in a robust and durable therapeutiefiieand are consistent with prior results
that show MultiStem can provide significant berseeéiven when administered up to one week aftemitialistroke event.

We are currently enrolling patients in the Unitd€dt&s and Europe in a 136-patient, double-blina¢gibo-controlled Phase 2 clinical trial
exploring the administration of MultiStem to patiethat have suffered an ischemic stroke. In tiag, tMultiStem is administered one to two
days after a stroke has occurred. If shown to feaad effective, this would represent a signiftaaxtension of the treatment window relative
to existing standard of care and could providengportant new therapeutic option for stroke patievite believe that the potential market for a
new therapy to treat stroke could be $15 to $2®hibr more annually.

We are also interested in the application of Mt for other neurological indications that représereas of significant unmet medical need,
such as TBI, which represents the leading causiésability among children and young adults, andaaling cause of death. Approximately
1.7 million cases of TBI are seen in the United&ta@ach year, nearly half a million cases of whighchildren age 0 to 14 years old. The
United States Center for Disease Control and Ptareror CDC, estimates that more than 5.3 miliiodividuals are living with a disability
and have a long-term or lifelong need for helpedi@rm activities of daily living as a result off&Il. The annual direct and indirect costs for
TBI are approximately $60 billion a year, accordinghe National Institute of Neurological Disorgend Stroke, which is part of the National
Institutes of Health. In preclinical studies of TRBHministration of MultiStem dramatically redudéé extent of damage caused by a TBI, and
promoted accelerated healing of the blood-brainidrar
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In 2012, we announced grant funding of up to $3il6an to further advance our MultiStem programslaell therapy platform, including
further development of MultiStem therapy for thesttment of TBI and further development of our tedirapy formulations and manufacturing
capabilities. We received authorization in 201&deance our TBI program into the second phaseeofivilo-stage federal grant award.

We are also conducting preclinical work explorihg tipplication of MultiStem treatment in other rdogical indications. In 2010, we and
collaborators at the Center for Stem Cell and Regeive Medicine and Case Western Reserve Uniyergte awarded $1.0 million through
the Ohio Third Frontier Biomedical Program to supmoeclinical and translational research into MhdtiStem treatment of spinal cord injury,
or SCI. In 2012, we presented data at the AnnueieBofor Neuroscience meeting that demonstratatitiravenous MultiStem administrati
one day after SCI results in statistically sigrafit and sustained improvements in gross locomatastion, fine locomotor function and blad
control compared to control treated animals.

In 2011, we announced the award of grant fundingpoto $640,000 to investigate the potential forlthBtem treatment for chronic progress
MS based on initial results in preclinical modéts2012, in collaboration with scientists from Ca¥estern Reserve University, and with the
support of Fast Forward and the National MultipbdeBosis Society, we reported research resultsdiaionstrate the potential benefits of
MultiStem therapy for treating MS. In standard firecal models of MS, researchers observed thati&tdm administration results in
sustained behavioral improvements, arrests the diémagion process that is central to the patholoigMS, and supports remyelination of
affected axons. We have advanced our MS programmeist Forward into the second phase of the twgesgaant in 2013.

Cardiovascular Disease— Evaluating MultiStem for Treating Damage from a HebAttack

Cardiovascular disease is an area of significanicell need that is expected to expand signifigaintthe years ahead. Despite treatment
advances in recent years, cardiovascular diseas@ns the leading cause of death, and represeatefdhe leading causes of disability arounc
the world. In the United States, approximately 908, people suffer a heart attack each year, andzippately 5.1 million individuals in the
United States are currently suffering from heaittifa in 2009, according to the American Heart Asation 2013 Statistical Update. Another
8.5 million people suffer from peripheral arteriigease, which is associated with significant nditpiand mortality. In addition, there were
approximately 788,000 deaths that occurred frorfoaths of cardiovascular disease, including 443,@00viduals that died as a result of
coronary heart disease or heart failure. Accordingrojections published recently by the AmericaaH Association in February 2011 in the
journalCirculation, aggregate costs for treating heart disease ibJtiited States are expected to soar in the congagsy In 2010, annual
direct costs for treating cardiovascular disease 273 billion, but by 2030 these are expectauetrly triple, to a projected $818 billion per
year. This increase will occur primarily as a resitithe aging population, and may not fully refléee impact of the dramatic escalatior
obesity rates that has occurred for both adultschildren in recent years, which could further eethate the long-term challenges and increas
costs associated with cardiovascular disease #ed obnditions.

In a Phase 1 clinical trial, we have explored Mit#im treatment for damage caused by AMI. Myocaidfalction is one of the leading causes
of death and disability in the United States anchissed by the blockage of one or more arterigsstigply blood to the heart. Such blockages
can be caused, for example, by the rupture of faerasclerotic plaque deposit. A variety of riskttas are associated with an elevated risk of
myocardial infarction or atherosclerosis, includagg, high blood pressure, smoking, sedentantyifeand genetics. While advances in the
diagnosis, prevention and treatment of heart deshase had a positive impact, there is clearly ré@mnmimprovement—myocardial infarction
remains a leading cause of death and disabilithériUnited States and the rest of the world.

MultiStem treatment has been studied in validatéchal models of AMI, including at both the Cleveta@linic and the University of
Minnesota. Investigators demonstrated that the midimation of allogeneic MultiStem cells into theahnts of animals damaged by
experimentally induced heart attacks resultedgnificant functional improvement in cardiac outpntd other functional parameters comparec
with animals that received placebo or no treatmiemtthermore, the administration of immunosuppresdrug was not required and provided
no additional benefit in this study, and suppduts ¢concept of using MultiStem cells as an allogepedduct.

Working with a contract research organization, wmpleted additional preclinical studies in estadf# pig models of AMI using catheter
delivery and examining various factors such agdge and method of MultiStem administration, das®ging, and timing of treatment. We
conducted a multicenter, open-label Phase 1 clitiigdin this indication and announced in 2018 fireliminary results, which showed that
MultiStem treatment was well tolerated at all diesels and exhibited a favorable safety profileattdition, patients that received MultiStem
treatment exhibited meaningful improvements in imascular function, including left ventricular ej®n fraction, wall motion scores, and
other parameters. These results were publishétiroylation Researcin 2012.

We are preparing for a Phase 2 clinical study ofti8tem administration to patients that have séffiea myocardial infarction and are planning
to initiate the study in 2014. In 2013, we were alea a grant from the National Institutes of He&tthup to $2.8 million to support funding
the program.
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Pharmaceutical Program:
Novel 5HT2c agonists for the treatment of obesity ather condition:

Obesity is a substantial contributing factor t@aage of diseases that represent the major causkesatsf and disability in the developed world
today. Individuals that are clinically obese halevated rates of cardiovascular disease, strok&gindypes of cancer and diabetes. According
to the CDC, the incidence of obesity in the UniBdtes has increased at an epidemic rate duringaste20 years. CDC now estimates that
almost 70% of all Americans are overweight, inchgdmore than on#sird that are considered clinically obese. Thepetage of young peof
that are overweight has more than tripled sincéd198&ere has also been a dramatic rise in theofaibesity in Europe and Asia. Despite the
magnitude of this problem, current approachesitocell obesity are largely ineffective, and we aveare of relatively few new therapeutic
approaches in clinical development.

We are developing novel pharmaceutical treatmamteliesity, which are compounds designed to aestibyulating a key receptor in the brain
that regulates appetite and food intake—the 5HE&2eptor. The role of this receptor in regulatingdantake is well understood in both animal
models and humans. In 1996, Wyeth launched theochetity drug Reduf (dexfenfluramine), a non-spesiérotonin receptor agonist that
was used with the stimulant phentermine in a coatibn commonly known as fen-phen. This diet drughbmation was shown to be highly
effective at regulating appetite, reducing foodk®, and causing significant weight loss. Unfortalya in addition to stimulating the SHT2c
receptor, Redux also stimulated the 5HT2b receptdris found in the heart, and Redux was withdréam the market in 1997.

Since the withdrawal of Redux, several groups tmuw#ished research and clinical data that impliséitaulation of the 5HT2b receptor as the
underlying cause of the cardiovascular problemgs€Hindings suggest that highly selective compsuhdt stimulate the SHT2c receptor, but
that do not appreciably stimulate the 5HT2b recemtould be developed that maintain the desirecdtigepsuppressive effects without the
cardiovascular toxicity. Recent clinical data supgthis hypothesis and also suggests that the Bldganists may also cause a statistically
significant reduction in the amount of sugar in lth@od, as measured by fasting blood glucose arfdlidlevels, which are both clinically
relevant measures for patients suffering from diee

In 2012, the FDA approved Lorcaserin, a 5HT2c agfpfor the treatment of obesity. We believe thkigresents a significant event for our
program because it illustrates that the FDA reczegand agrees with the concept that SHT2c¢ agdhistslisplay appropriate selectivity,
biological activity and clinical safety are apprbilafor indications such as obesity.

Our drug development program is focused on cregtoignt and selective orally administered compouhdsstimulate the SHT2c receptor,
but that avoid the 5SHT2b receptor and other reesptuch as 5HT2a, or other receptors that couldecadverse side effects. Based on
extensive preclinical studies that we have condlatith compounds that we have generated, we haveistrated the ability to develop
compounds that are highly potent and selectivéif@’5HT2c receptor, and that lack activity at eithidT2a or 5SHT2b. We believe that clinical
trials will demonstrate that this achievement rgpres a significant advance in the field, and thatpotency and selectivity profile displayec
compounds we are developing will result in substdlytbetter efficacy and a cleaner safety andredddity profile, as well as a more
convenient dosing schedule than other 5HT2¢ agpnigframs including Lorcaserin. We also evaluatsthin of our compounds when
administered as a monotherapy or in conjunctioh wiher weight loss agents, and have observedtieeess with both approaches. We are
conducting preclinical evaluation of novel compositidat we have developed that exhibit outstanddegptor selectivity and are working
toward the selection of a clinical development ¢datd for this program.

Certain potent and highly selective compoundsweahave developed display a profile that we belimag have utility in treating
schizophrenia. We evaluated some of these companmaeclinical models of schizophrenia and haveenbed that they exhibit efficacy in
these models.

We may elect to enter into a partnership to advéimeelevelopment of our 5SHT2¢ agonist program eeifor the treatment of obesity,
schizophrenia, or both indications.

Other Small Molecule Programs & Key Technologies

In addition to our other programs, we believe thate are significant opportunities for synergywsstn our small molecule platform and
related capabilities and our MultiStem technoldgyecifically, we believe that substantial opportiesi exist for identifying and utilizing small
molecule modulators of therapeutically relevantdmccal activity exhibited by MultiStem or othelesh cell types. We believe that applying
capabilities in both areas could lead to next gatiear product development opportunities, includingre potent stem cell based therapies that
have been optimized for use in specific indicatoeas.

In addition to our current product development paogs, we developed our patented RAGE technologyptiterides us with the ability to
produce human cell lines that express specifidpgioally well validated drug targets without redgi upon cloned and isolated gene sequence
While our RAGE technology is not a therapeutic prcddit is a commercial technology that we havecsasfully applied for the benefit of our
partners and that we have also used for our ovenriat drug development programs. Modern drug sangeapproaches typically require the
physical isolation and structural modification ofene of interest, an
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approach referred to as gene cloning, in orderdate a cell line that expresses a drug targettefdést. Researchers may then use the
genetically modified cell line to identify pharmatieal compounds that inhibit or stimulate the &rgf interest. The RAGE technology ena
us to turn on or amplify the expression of a diaugét without having to physically clone or isoltdte gene. In effect, the technology works
through the random insertion of tiny, proprietagngtic switches that randomly turn genes on withegtiring their physical isolation, or any
advance knowledge of their structure. This techgylarovides us with broad freedom to work with &tggthat may be otherwise unavailabl

a result of intellectual property restrictions te tise of specific cloned and isolated genes.denteyears, we have produced cell lines that
express drug targets in a range of disease arehsasumetabolic disease, infectious disease, oggotardiovascular disease, inflammation,
and central nervous system disorders. Many of these produced for drug development programs abmnpdjarmaceutical companies that we
have collaborated with, such as Bristol-Myers Shudnd some have been produced for our internagl development programs.

Collaborations and Partnerships
Pfizer

In 2009, we entered into a collaboration agreemétht Pfizer to develop and commercialize MultiStdmarapy for the treatment of IBD for t
worldwide market. Under the terms of the agreemeatreceived a non-refundable up-front cash paymw&$6.0 million from Pfizer and
research funding during the initial phase of thkatmration that ended in 2012. In addition, we @s® eligible to receive milestone payments
of up to $105 million upon the successful achievenoé certain development, regulatory and commeroikestones, though there can be no
assurance that we will achieve these milestonebnparsignificant milestone payments were receivedfadecember 31, 2013. We are
responsible for manufacturing and Pfizer pays usrfanufacturing product for clinical developmenti@ommercialization purposes. Pfizer
responsibility for development, regulatory and coencialization and will pay us tiered royalties oonldwide commercial sales of MultiStem
IBD products. Alternatively, in lieu of royaltiesid certain commercialization milestones, we magtete codevelop with Pfizer and the part
will share development and commercialization experad profits/losses on an agreed basis begimniRgase 3 clinical development.

The Pfizer collaboration does not have a spedafimination date, but will terminate upon the laséxpire royalty term, unless terminated
earlier by either party. Either party can termintie agreement for an uncured material breachfautiePfizer is permitted to terminate the
agreement upon advance written notice to us ifwstaén certain turnover levels for employees wagkam the program, if our license with the
University of Minnesota is terminated, if we exgerte a specified change of control event, or isats discretion. We can terminate the
agreement if a certain milestone event has notroediy a defined period of time, or if we reasdpdielieve that Pfizer has failed to satisfy
obligations to progress the development of the anog Following termination of the agreement byalklicenses granted to Pfizer to develop
and commercialize MultiStem for IBD will terminatether than certain more limited research licenaed,ownership of regulatory and clinical
data will revert to us. Following termination okthgreement by Pfizer, the licenses granted t@P#il remain in effect according to their
terms, unless the termination is due to our breagiployee turnover or termination of the licensthwdniversity of Minnesota, in which case
payments to us will be reduced from what was otism\payable. Also, if Pfizer terminates in its soigcretion, then Pfizer retains its
obligation to fund our research and developmentiscas set forth in the agreement.

RTI

In 2010, we entered into an agreement with RTleleetbp and commercialize MAPC technoldogsed biologic implants for certain orthope
applications in the bone graft substitutes marideter the terms of our RTI agreement, we received #illion of license fees in installments
during 2010-2012. In accordance with the agreenvemare also eligible to receive an additional $3aillion in cash payments upon the
successful achievement of certain commercial natesg, though there can be no assurance that sles$tanies will be achieved, and no
significant milestone payments were received d3eafember 31, 2013. In addition, we will receivedikroyalties on worldwide commercial
sales of implants using our technologies beginimr014, since RTI recently commenced its commézeition activities.

Angiotech

In 2011, we reached an agreement with Angiotecdhrtuinate the collaboration agreement and liceeded®rn the parties, reflecting a change
in Angiotech’s business and financial strategy aAesult of the termination, we regained ownersifigll rights for developing our stem cell
technologies and products for cardiovascular des@aications, including AMI, congestive heart taé, chronic ischemia, and peripheral
vascular disease, and Angiotech no longer hasiegryse rights or options with respect to our teébgies and products. As part of the
termination agreement, if we enter into a new AMllaboration before November 14, 2014, and atithe bf the collaboration, we have made
certain progress in development, Angiotech couléliggble for 10% of any third-party license fegsto a maximum of $5.0 million.
Angiotech is not entitled to other downstream paytsiesuch as milestone payments, royalties or aofitysharing payments.
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Bristol-Myers Squibb

In 2000, we entered into a collaboration with Brigflyers Squibb to provide cell lines expressinglwalidated drug targets produced using
our RAGE technology for compound screening and ldgveent. This initial collaboration was expande@@92 and again in 2006, and was in
its final phase as amended in 2009. Bristol-Myeysilsh uses the cell lines in its internal drug depment programs and, in exchange, we
receive license fee and milestone payments andwiéintitled to receive royalties on the sale gf @pproved products. Depending on the use
of a cell line by Bristol-Myers Squibb and the pregs of drug development programs benefiting frioenuse of such a cell line, we may
receive as much as approximately $5.5 million gdrime in additional license fees and milestoagmpents, though we cannot assure you tha
any further milestones will be achieved or thatwi receive any additional milestone payments2008, Bristol-Myers Squibb successfully
advanced into Phase 2 clinical development a danglidate discovered using a target provided byhaseby triggering a clinical development
milestone payment to us. As of December 31, 20E3reseived an aggregate amount of $2.1 millionilestone payments and $9.8 million in
license fees since the inception of our collaboratiith Bristol-Myers Squibb.

The Bristol-Myers Squibb collaboration does notédawspecific termination date, but will terminatieem Bristol-Myers Squibb no longer has
an obligation to pay us royalties, which obligatgemnerally continues until the later of the expiatof the Bristol-Myers Squibb patent
covering an approved product and ten years aft@nuercial sales of that product began. If eithetyplareaches its material obligations and
fails to cure that breach within 60 days after cfrom the non-breaching party, the non-breacharty may terminate the collaboration.

Competition

We face significant competition with respect to #agious dimensions of our business. With regarautoefforts to develop MultiStem as a
novel stem cell therapy, currently, there are alemof companies that are actively developing stelinproducts, which encompass a range o
different cell types, including embryonic stem selimbilical cord stem cells, adwderived stem cells and processed bone marrow deceis

Mesoblast Limited, or Mesoblast, is currently erggan clinical trials evaluating the safety andaef€y of Revascor, an allogeneic stem cell
product based on mesenchymal stem cell precurisatsite obtained from healthy consenting donoresg&feells also appear to display limited
expansion potential and biological plasticity. Atfehially, Mesoblast is developing Prochymal, a mebgmal stem cell product candidate that
it acquired from Osiris Therapeutics, Inc. in 2082010, Mesoblast announced a partnership witth@len, Inc., or Cephalon, now owned
Teva Pharmaceuticals, Inc., in which Cephalon paidpfront license fee of $130 million, and agreethvest an additional $220 million in
equity for a 19.9% stake in Mesoblast. In additiotal regulatory milestone payments to Mesoblasiadtreach $1.7 billion, assuming that the
agreement results in commercial treatments for itiond including congestive heart failure, AMI, Rawson’s disease and Alzheimedisease

Other public companies are developing stem-reldtedhpies, including Aastrom Biosciences, IncAastrom, Stem Cells Inc., Johnson &
Johnson, Celgene Corporation, or Celgene, Adva@edidTrechnology, Inc., CRYO-CELL International, InPluristem Therapeutics, Inc., or
Pluristem, and Cytori Therapeutics, Inc., or Cytbriaddition, private companies, such as Gamidal@a, Plureon Corporation, NeoStem,
Inc., Tigenix NV and others, are also developinijtberapy related products or capabilities. Gitlea magnitude of the potential opportunity
for stem cell therapy, we expect competition irs thiea to intensify in the coming years.

We also face competition in our efforts to devatompmpounds for the treatment of obesity. In 2012, hew treatments were approved by the
FDA for the treatment of obesity, Belviq (Lorcasgriwhich was developed by Arena Pharmaceuticats, br Arena, and Qsymia (a
proprietary combination of phentermine and topirsajjavhich was developed by Vivus, Inc., or VivBsior to these recent approvals, there
was one approved therapeutic product on the mégkebesity, Xenical (also known as Alli), whichrizarketed by F. Hoffman—LaRoche
Ltd., or Roche. Potential side effects associatithl taking Xenical / Alli include cramping, intestl discomfort, flatulence, diarrhea, and
leakage of oily stool. Another obesity drug, Megidivas approved for clinical use and marketed byodhPharmaceuticals, but was withdrawn
from the market due to concerns regarding increaskaf cardiovascular disease and stroke amotigmia taking the drug.

There are many other companies that have previaitgynpted or are attempting to develop novelitneats for obesity, and a wide range of
approaches are being taken. Some of these compadliede large, multinational pharmaceutical comesusuch as Bristol-Myers Squibb,
Merck & Co., Inc., Roche, Sanofi, GlaxoSmithKlinke,por GlaxoSmithKline, Eli Lilly and Company anthers. There are also a variety of
biotechnology companies developing treatments fesiy, including Orexigen Therapeutics, Neurodea#angen Inc., or Amgen, Regeneron
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Nastech Pharmaceutical Coympdizyme plc, Amylin Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Nearine Biosciences, Inc., Shionogi &
Co., Ltd., Metabolic Pharmaceuticals Limited, KypRharmaceutical Co., Ltd., and others. It is {ikblt, given the magnitude of the market
opportunity, many companies will continue to focusthe obesity area, and that competition will reniégh. If we are successful at
developing a 5HT2c agonist as a safe and effett®zgment for obesity, it is likely that other coamies will attempt to develop safer and more
effective compounds in the same class, or willnagteto combine therapies in an effort to estabdigafer and more effective therapeutic
product.
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We believe our most significant competitors ardyfiitegrated pharmaceutical companies and biotalolgy companies that have substantially
greater financial, technical, sales, marketing, lamthan resources than we do. These companies roegeslin obtaining regulatory approval
for competitive products more rapidly than we candur products. In addition, our competitors mayealop technologies and products that ar
cheaper, safer or more effective than those bedvgldped by us or that would render our technolmwggolete. Furthermore, some of these
companies may feel threatened by our activitiesatenpt to delay or impede our efforts to develapproducts or apply our technologies.

Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of patent applicationgepts, trademarks, and contractual provisions ¢tept our proprietary rights. We believe
that to have a competitive advantage, we must dpwehd maintain the proprietary aspects of oureldgies. Currently, we require our
officers, employees, consultants, contractors, faturers, outside scientific collaborators andnspoed researchers, and other advisors to
execute confidentiality agreements in connectiath Wieir employment, consulting, or advisory relaships with us, where appropriate. We
also require our employees, consultants, and advikat we expect to work on our products to agwetisclose and assign to us all inventions
conceived during the work day, developed usingpoaperty, or which relate to our business. We alyehave over 180 patents for our
technologies.

We have a broad patent estate with claims dirdctedmpositions, methods of production, and mettuddse of certain non-embryonic stem
cells and related technologies. We have develapegljired and exclusively licensed intellectual ety covering our cell therapy product
candidates and other applications in the field. @road intellectual property portfolio consistsnodre than 130 issued patents (of which
seventeen are United States patents) and morel#ttaglobal patent applications around our stemteelinology and MultiStem product
platform. This includes fourteen United States petend more than 90 international patents thalyappgVIAPC and related products, such as
MultiStem. The current intellectual property estathich incorporates additional filings and maydmten over time, could provide coverage
our stem cell product candidates, manufacturinggsses and methods of use through 2030 and beyaridermore, an extended period of
market exclusivity may apply for certain produasy(, exclusivity periods for orphan drug desigmatr biologics).

We have established a broad intellectual propestifgio related to our small molecule product caiaties and functional genomics
technologies. We have a broad patent estate vatisldirected to compositions, methods of making, methods of using our small molecule
drug candidates. We have six United States paterttshree patent applications with broad claimealéd to selective 5SHT2c agonists
discovered at Athersys that currently provide patenerage through as late as 2029. From our His@af3 program, we have six United
States patents with broad claims directed to comgeuliscovered at Athersys from two distinct cheinseries that currently provide patent
coverage through as late as 2028. In addition,wmeently have 36 issued patents (16 United Staag=snps and 20 international patents) relatin
to compositions and methods for the RAGE technotbgy currently provide patent coverage througlatesas 2020, and five United States
patents relating to human proteins and candidatg @rgets that we identified through the applamatf RAGE and to our other technologies
that currently provide patent coverage throughatsas 2022. The RAGE technology was developedrbydbn Harrington and other Athers
scientists internally in the mid-1990s.

We believe that we have broad freedom to use amunegrcially develop our technologies and productiadates. However, if successful, a
patent infringement suit brought against us magdars or any of our collaborators or licenseesdp sr delay developing, manufacturing, or
selling potential products that are claimed toiige a third party’s intellectual property, unléisat party grants us rights to use its intellectual
property. In such cases, we may be required tarobtenses to patents or proprietary rights okoghto continue to commercialize our
products. However, we may not be able to obtainli@eyses required under any patents or proprietghys of third parties on acceptable
terms, or at all. Even if we were able to obtaghts to the third party’s intellectual propertyesle rights may be non-exclusive, thereby giving
our competitors access to the same intellectuggety. Ultimately, we may be unable to commerc@abpme of our potential products or may
have to cease some of our business operationseaslaof patent infringement claims, which coudderely harm our business.

Research and Development

Our research and development costs, which congimsaply of costs associated with external clinit@l costs, preclinical study fees,
manufacturing costs, salaries and related persamusts$, legal expenses resulting from intelleghwaperty application processes, and
laboratory supply and reagent costs, were $20.5omin 2013, $19.6 million in 2012 and $18.9 nuiin 2011.
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Government Regulation

Any products we may develop and our research awndloigment activities are subject to stringent gowent regulation in the United States
the FDA and, in many instances, by correspondingido and state regulatory agencies. The Europ&donUor EU, has vested centralized
authority in the EMA and Committee on Proprietargditinal Products to standardize review and apprac@ss EU member nations. In
Japan, the Pharmaceuticals and Medical Device Agemd®DMA, a division of the Ministry of Healthabour and Welfare, or MHLW,
regulates the development and commercializationedical therapies. Recently, Japan’s parliamenttedanew legislation to promote the safe
and accelerated development of treatments using atéls. The new regenerative medicine law andsel/pharmaceutical affairs law define
products containing stem cells as regenerative ecmedproducts and allow for the conditional appt@fasuch products if safety has been
confirmed in clinical trials, even if their efficatas not been fully demonstrated. The legislati@ates a new, faster pathway for cell therapy
product approval, and offers the potential to emabbre rapid entry in the Japanese market. The MHia®/been directed to develop and a
new rules and procedures to implement this legisiat

These regulatory agencies enforce comprehensittdetaregulations and guidelines governing the dievelopment process. This process
involves several steps. Initially, a company musiarate preclinical data to show safety before lutasting may be initiated. In the United
States, a drug company must submit an IND to tha pior to securing authorization for human testimige IND must contain adequate data
on product candidate chemistry, toxicology and imeliam and, where appropriate, animal researcintetd support initial safety.

A Clinical Trial Agreement, or CTA, is the Europeaquivalent of the IND. CTA requirements are isshgadach competent authority within
the European Union and are enacted by local lawdarectives.

Any of our product candidates will require regutgtapproval and compliance with regulations mad&hited States and foreign government
agencies prior to commercialization in such coestriThe process of obtaining FDA or foreign regulatgency approval has historically beer
extremely costly and time consuming. The FDA retgdaamong other things, the development, testragnufacture, safety, efficacy, record
keeping, labeling, storage, approval, advertismmgmotion, sale, and distribution of biologics arev drugs.

The standard process required by the FDA befoteaanpaceutical agent may be marketed in the UnitatéSincludes:
. preclinical tests in animals that demonstrate ageable likelihood of safety and effectivenessumhn patients

. submission to the FDA of an IND, which must beeogffective before clinical trials in humans cameooence. If Phase 1 clinical
trials are to be conducted initially outside theitdth States, a different regulatory filing is requai, depending on the location of the
trial;

. adequate and well controlled human clinical ¢ri@l establish the safety and efficacy of the dnulgiologic in the intended disease
indication;

. for drugs, submission of a New Drug ApplicationNdDA, or a Biologic License Application, or BLA, i the FDA; anc
. FDA approval of the NDA or BLA before any commeidale or shipment of the dru

Preclinical studies can take several years to cetapand there is no guarantee that an IND basédose studies will become effective to
permit clinical trials to begin. The clinical degpiment phase generally takes five to seven yeafsnger, to complete (i.e., from the initiation
of Phase 1 through completion of Phase 3 studies)) such sequential studies may overlap or be cedbifter successful completion of
clinical trials for a new drug or biologic produEDA approval of the NDA or BLA must be obtainedhig process requires substantial time
effort and there is no assurance that the FDAawitlept the NDA or BLA for filing and, even if filethat the FDA will grant approval. In the
past, the FDA’s approval of an NDA or BLA has taken average, one to two years, but in some inetan@y take substantially longer. If
guestions regarding safety or efficacy arise, &t studies may be required, followed by a ressbion of the NDA or BLA. Review and
approval of an NDA or BLA can take up to severainge

In addition to obtaining FDA approval for each puot] each drug manufacturing facility must be icspd and approved by the FDA. All
manufacturing establishments are subject to ingpecby the FDA and by other federal, state, agdllagencies, and must comply with good
manufacturing practices, or GMP, requirements. Weat currently have any GMP manufacturing captidj and will rely on contract
manufacturers to produce material for any clintdals that we may conduct.

We must also obtain regulatory approval in othemtdes in which we intend to market any drug. Téguirements governing conduct of
clinical trials, product licensing, pricing, andmbdursement vary widely from country to country.ABpproval does not ensure regulatory
approval in other countries. The current approvatess varies from country to country, and the tipment in gaining approval varies from that
required for FDA approval. In some countries, thke @rice of the drug must also be approved. Thangrreview period often begins after
market approval is granted. Even if a foreign ratpry authority approves a drug product, it mayaypyrove satisfactory prices for the prod
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In addition to regulations enforced by the FDA, ave also subject to regulation under the OccupatiSafety and Health Act, the
Environmental Protection Act, the Toxic SubstanCestrol Act, the Resource Conservation and Recofetyand other present and potential
future federal, state, or local regulations. Osesrch and development involves the controllecbfisazardous materials, chemicals, biolog
materials, and various radioactive compounds. Algiowe believe that our safety procedures for hiagdind disposing of such materials
currently comply in all material respects with #tandards prescribed by state and federal regoattbe risk of accidental contamination or
injury from these materials cannot be completeipielated. In the event of such an accident, weatbel held liable for any damages that re
and any such liability could exceed our availaklsources.

Employees

We believe that our success will be based on, amtmgy things, the quality of our clinical prograrosr ability to invent and develop superior
and innovative technologies and products, and bilityato attract and retain capable managementathdr personnel. We have assembled a
high quality team of scientists, clinical developrhemanagers, and executives with significant exgpee in the biotechnology and
pharmaceutical industries.

As of December 31, 2013, we employed 56 full-timgp®yees, including 17 with Ph.D. degrees. In addito our employees, we also use the
service and support of outside consultants andsadsi None of our employees is represented byanuand we believe relationships with our
employees are good.

Available Information

We use the Investors section of our web site, wiherays.com, as a channel for routine distributibmportant information, including news
releases, analyst presentations and financialrmdtion. We post filings as soon as reasonably jgedile after they are electronically filed w

or furnished to, the SEC, including our annual,rtprdy, and current reports on Forms 10-K, 10-QJ &K; our proxy statements; and any
amendments to those reports or statements. All gastings and filings are available on the Invessmction of our web site free of charge. In
addition, this web site allows investors and oiht#rested persons to sign up to automaticallyiveoe-mail alerts when we post news release
and financial information on our web site. The SEH€b maintains a web site, www.sec.gov, that costegports, proxy and information
statements, and other information regarding isstiratsfile electronically with the SEC. The contentany web site referred to in this annual
report on Form 10-K is not incorporated by refeeemto this annual report unless expressly noted.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The statements in this section, as well as statenumscribed elsewhere in this annual report, othier SEC filings, describe risks that could
materially and adversely affect our business, fif@rcondition and results of operations, whichldalso cause the trading price of our equity
securities to decline. These risks are not the dsks that we face. Our business, financial coodiand results of operations could also be
affected by additional factors that are not prdgdatown to us or that we currently consider tarbenaterial to our operations.

We have incurred losses since inception and we ekp@ incur significant net losses in the foresedalfuture and may never become
profitable.

Since our inception in 1995, we have incurred digait losses and negative cash flows from opamatigVe incurred net losses of $31 million
in 2013, $15 million in 2012 and $14 million in 2D1As of December 31, 2013, we had an accumulaédidof $264 million and anticipate
incurring additional losses for at least the nextesal years. We expect to spend significant ressuover the next several years to enhance o
technologies and to fund research and developnientrgipeline of potential products. To date, dab#ally all of Athersys’ revenue has been
derived from corporate collaborations, license agrents and government grants. In order to achiefégbility, we must develop products
and technologies that can be commercialized by tisrough our existing or future collaborations.r@bility to generate revenues and becom
profitable will depend on our ability, alone or lvipotential collaborators, to timely, efficientipcdasuccessfully complete the development of
our product candidates. We have never earned reviemm selling a product and we may never do sopag of our product candidates have
been approved for sale, since they are currenthgtiested in humans and animal studies. We caaswitre you that we will ever earn revenue
or that we will ever become profitable. If we sust@sses over an extended period of time, we neayrtable to continue our business.

We will need substantial additional funding to ddep our products and for our future operations. ife are unable to obtain the funds
necessary to do so, we may be required to delajedzack or eliminate our product development aites or may be unable to continue our
business.

The development of our product candidates will rega commitment of substantial funds to conduetdbstly and time-consuming research,
which may include preclinical and clinical testimgcessary to obtain regulatory approvals and mingproducts to market. Net cash used in
our operations was $23 million in 2013, $18 millior2012 and $14 million in 2011.

At December 31, 2013, we had $32 million of casishcequivalent and investments, and we will nebdtantially more to advance our
product candidates through development. Furthernvezewill need to add additional capital to fund operations through the completion of
our current clinical trials. Our future capital t&gements will depend on many factors, including:

. our ability to raise capital to fund our operatip

. the progress and costs of our research and develdgnograms, including our ability to develop eurrent portfolio of therapeut
products, or discover and develop new ol

. our ability, or our partners ability and willingss, to advance partnered products or programghargpeed in which they are
advanced

. the cost of prosecuting, defending and enforcirtgmtaclaims and other intellectual property rigl

. the progress, scope, costs, and results of @atipical and clinical testing of any current otute pharmaceutical or MultiStem-
related products

. the time and cost involved in obtaining regulatapprovals
. the cost of manufacturing our product candide
. expenses related to complying with GMP of theraipgqubduct candidate:
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. costs of financing the purchases of additionaltedpiquipment and development technoloc
. competing technological and market developme

. our ability to establish and maintain collaboratand other arrangements with third parties tesessbringing our products to
market and the cost of such arrangeme

. the amount and timing of payments or equity itwests that we receive from collaborators or charig®r terminations of future
or existing collaboration and licensing arrangeraamd the timing and amount of expenses we incsupporting these
collaborations and license agreeme

. costs associated with the integration of any neerafon, including costs relating to future mergamd acquisitions with compan
that have complementary capabiliti

. expenses related to the establishment of saksnanketing capabilities for products awaiting awai or products that have been
approved

. the level of our sales and marketing expenses
. our ability to introduce and sell new produt

The extent to which we utilize our existing equtyrchase agreement with Aspire Capital Fund, LLiGAspire Capital, as a source of funding
will depend on a number of factors, including thevailing market price of our common stock, thewoé of trading in our common stock and
the extent to which we are able to secure funds mther sources. The number of shares that we gibipsAspire Capital under the purchase
agreement on any given day and during the terrheagreement is limited. Additionally, we and Asp@apital may not effect any sales of
shares of our common stock under the purchaseragreeduring the continuance of an event of def&en if we are able to access the
remaining $24.5 million under the purchase agre¢mgf December 31, 2013, we will still need addgl capital to fully implement our
business, operating and development plans.

We have secured capital historically from granerases, collaboration proceeds, and debt and egffid@sings. We will need to secure
substantial additional capital to fund our futuperations. We cannot be certain that additionaitabywill be available on acceptable terms ¢
all. In recent years, it has been difficult for quemies to raise capital due to a variety of factatsch may or may not continue. To the extent
we raise additional capital through the sale ofitgcgecurities, including to Aspire Capital, themsvship position of our existing stockholders
could be substantially diluted. If additional furat® raised through the issuance of preferred siodiebt securities, these securities are likely
to have rights, preferences and privileges seniout common stock. Fluctuating interest ratesaalgo increase the costs of any debt
financing we may obtain.

Failure to successfully address ongoing liquid@guirements will have a material adverse effeabumbusiness. If we are unable to obtain
additional capital on acceptable terms when needednay be required to take actions that harm asmiess and our ability to achieve cash
flow in the future, including possibly the surrendé our rights to some technologies or productarpmities, delaying our clinical trials or
curtailing or ceasing operations.

We are heavily dependent on the successful devetapdrand commercialization of MultiStem products, @if we encounter delays or
difficulties in the development of this product cditate, our business could be harmed.

Our success is heavily dependent upon the sucteesfelopment of MultiStem products for certainedises and conditions involving acute or
ischemic injury or immune system dysfunction. Ousibess could be materially harmed if we encoutiiféculties in the development of this
product candidate, such as:

. delays in the ability to manufacture the prodaajuantities or in a form that is suitable for aeguired preclinical studies or
clinical trials;

. delays in the design, enroliment, implementationanpletion of required preclinical studies anaicll trials;
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. an inability to follow our current developmentagegy for obtaining regulatory approval from tHeA-because of changes in the
regulatory approval proces

. less than desired or complete lack of efficacyafety in preclinical studies or clinical trials;c
. intellectual property constraints that preventrasif making, using, or commercializing the produtdidate

Our product candidates are in an early stage of dimpment and we currently have no therapeutic pratiiapproved for sale. If we are
unable to develop, obtain regulatory approval or rket any of our product candidates, our financiabadition will be negatively affected,
and we may have to curtail or cease our operations.

Many factors, known and unknown, can adverselycaffénical trials and the ability to evaluate aguct’s efficacy. During the course of
treatment, patients can die or suffer other advevsats for reasons that may or may not be retatéitk proposed product being tested. Even
unrelated to our product, certain events can negkrss adversely impact our clinical trials. Agsutt, our ability to ultimately develop and
market the products and obtain revenues would suffe

Even promising results in preclinical studies amtal clinical trials do not ensure successfululesin later clinical trials, which test broader
human use of our products. Many companies in alustry have suffered significant setbacks in adedratinical trials, despite promising
results in earlier trials.

We are in the early stage of product developmett,vee are dependent on the application of our t&lcigies to discover or develop therape
product candidates. We currently do not sell arpyrayed therapeutic products and do not expectye hay products commercially available
for several years, if at all. You must evaluaténuiéght of the uncertainties and complexities affieg an early stage biotechnology company.
Our product candidates require additional reseanthdevelopment, preclinical testing, clinical rggtand regulatory review and/or approvals
or clearances before marketing. To date, no omeit&nowledge has commercialized any therapeutidyxts using our technologies and we
might never commercialize any product using ountetogies and strategy. In addition, we may notsad in developing new product
candidates as an alternative to our existing plaotfd product candidates. If our current produahdidates are delayed or fail, or we fail to
successfully develop and commercialize new prodantlidates, our financial condition may be neggtiaéected, and we may have to curtail
or cease our operations.

We may not successfully maintain our existing cdilarative and licensing arrangements, or establisewnones, which could adversely affi
our ability to develop and commercialize our produandidates.

A key element of our business strategy is to consialize some of our product candidates throughataltations with other companies. Our
strategy includes establishing collaborations #&®hking agreements with one or more pharmacepbi@bchnology or device companies,
preferably after we have advanced product candidateugh the initial stages of clinical developmétowever, we may not be able to
establish or maintain such licensing and collalionaarrangements necessary to develop and comrieeaiar product candidates. Even if we
are able to maintain or establish licensing oradmitation arrangements, these arrangements maerast favorable terms and may contain
provisions that will restrict our ability to dev@lotest and market our product candidates. Anyifaito maintain or establish licensing or
collaboration arrangements on favorable terms cadlrsely affect our business prospects, finacoiatlition or ability to develop and
commercialize our product candidates.

Our agreements with our collaborators and licensggshave provisions that give rise to disputes@igg the rights and obligations of the
parties. These and other possible disagreemenks leaa to termination of the agreement or delaysollaborative research, development,
supply, or commercialization of certain productdiaates, or could require or result in litigationasbitration. Moreover, disagreements could
arise with our collaborators over rights to intetleal property or our rights to share in any offiltere revenues of products developed by our
collaborators. These kinds of disagreements caddltin costly and timeensuming litigation. Any such conflicts with owllaborators coul
reduce our ability to obtain future collaboratiggreéements and could have a negative impact onetatianship with existing collaborators.
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Currently, our material collaborations and licegsamrangements are our collaboration with Pfizedtdeelop and commercialize MultiStem for
the treatment of IBD, and our collaboration withIR3 develop and commercialize MAPC technology-blasielogic implants for certain
orthopedic applications in the bone graft substgunarket, and our license with the University afifdsota pursuant to which we license
certain aspects of the MAPC technology. These geaments do not have specific termination datebpratach arrangement terminates upon
the occurrence of certain events.

If our collaborators do not devote sufficient timend resources to successfully carry out their cadted duties or meet expected deadlir
we may not be able to advance our product candidatea timely manner or at all.

Our success depends on the performance by oubodditors of their responsibilities under our cotlediion arrangements. Some potential
collaborators may not perform their obligationsitimely fashion or in a manner satisfactory toTygically, we cannot control the amount of
resources or time our collaborators may devotaitgpoograms or potential products that may be dged in collaboration with us. We are
currently involved in multiple research and devehgmt collaborations with academic and researcitutisins. These collaborators frequently
depend on outside sources of funding to conducboplete research and development, such as gnaotsey awards. In addition, our
academic collaborators may depend on graduatergsjdeedical students, or research assistantatuctd certain work, and such individuals
may not be fully trained or experienced in certi@as, or they may elect to discontinue their pigdtion in a particular research program,
creating an inability to complete ongoing reseanch timely and efficient manner. As a result afgb uncertainties, we are unable to control
the precise timing and execution of any experimérds may be conducted.

Additionally, our current or future corporate caltaators will retain the ability to pursue othesearch, product development or commercial
opportunities that may be directly competitive watlr programs. If these collaborators elect tongiie or pursue other programs in lieu of
ours, we may not be able to advance product deredapprograms in an efficient or effective manifeat all. If a collaborator is pursuing a
competitive program and encounters unexpecteddinbar capability limitations, they may be motigdtto reduce the priority placed on our
programs or delay certain activities related tomnagrams or be unwilling to properly fund theiash of the development expenses for our
programs. Any of these developments could harnpoeduct and technology development efforts, whishld seriously harm our business.

We may experience delays in clinical trials and tadgtory approval relating to our products that cailadversely affect our financial results
and our commercial prospects for our pharmaceutiaal stem cell products.

In addition to the regulatory requirements for phiarmaceutical programs, we will also require ratprly approvals for each distinct
application of our stem cell product. In each casewill be required to conduct clinical trialsdemonstrate safety and efficacy of MultiStem,
or various products that incorporate or use Mudtist For product candidates that advance to climésting, we cannot be certain that we or a
collaborator will successfully complete the clifit@als necessary to receive regulatory produgtrayals. This process is lengthy and
expensive.

We intend to seek approval for our product caneisiéhrough the FDA approval process. To obtainleggry approvals, we must, among ot
requirements, complete clinical trials showing that products are safe and effective for a pawicindication. Under the approval process, we
must submit clinical and non-clinical data to deistosite the medication is safe and effective. Famgple, we must be able to provide data ant
information, which may include extended pharmacyg)dagxicology, reproductive toxicology, bioavailéity and genotoxicity studies, to
establish suitability for Phase 2 or large scalageiB clinical trials.

All of our product candidates are at an early stafggevelopment. As these programs enter and psedheough early stage clinical
development, or complete additional non-clinicatiteg, an indication of a lack of safety or lackefficacy may result in the early termination
of an ongoing trial, or may cause us or any ofamllaborators to forego further development of gipalar product candidate or program. The
FDA or other regulatory agencies may require extenglinical trials or other testing prior to grarg approval, which could be costly and time
consuming to conduct. Any of these developmentslavbimder, and potentially prohibit, our ability (ommercialize our product candidates.
We cannot assure you that clinical trials will atf demonstrate that our products are safe orteféec
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Additionally, we may not be able to find acceptatddients or may experience delays in enrollingepés for our currently planned or any
future clinical trials. The FDA or we may suspenut olinical trials at any time if either believdsat we are exposing the subjects participating
in the trials to unacceptable health risks. The FiDAnstitutional review boards and/or institutibbasafety committees at the medical
institutions and healthcare facilities where wekgeesponsor clinical trials may not permit a ttialproceed or may suspend any trial
indefinitely if they find deficiencies in the conchwof the trials.

Product development costs to us and our poterdlibmorators will increase if we have delays irtitesor approvals or if we need to perform
more or larger clinical trials than planned. We estio continue to rely on third-party clinical astigators at medical institutions and
healthcare facilities to conduct our clinical tsighnd, as a result, we may face additional dejefantors outside our control. Significant delays
may adversely affect our financial results andatvamercial prospects for our product candidatescetaly our ability to become profitable.

The results seen in animal testing of our produ@raidates may not be replicated in humans.

This annual report discusses the safety and effisaen in preclinical testing of our lead produntdidates, including MultiStem, in animals,
but we may not see positive results when our gtheduct candidates undergo clinical testing in hasna the future. Preclinical studies and
Phase 1 clinical trials are not primarily desigtedest the efficacy of a product candidate in haspdéut rather to:

. test shor-term safety and tolerabilit
. study the absorption, distribution, metabolism atichination of the product candida

. study the biochemical and physiological effedtthe product candidate and the mechanisms ofriing action and the relationship
between drug levels and effect; ¢

. understand the product candic's side effects at various doses and sched

Success in preclinical studies or completed clirtigals does not ensure that later studies olstriacluding continuing non-clinical studies and
large-scale clinical trials, will be successful moes it necessarily predict future results. The o failure in drug development is quite high,
and many companies in the biotechnology and phagutmal industries have suffered significant setsan advanced clinical trials, even after
promising results in earlier trials. Product cadié may fail to show desired safety and efficadaiger and more diverse patient populations
in later stage clinical trials, despite having pesged through early stage trials. Negative oroksive results from any of our ongoing
preclinical studies or clinical trials could resuitdelays, modifications, or abandonment of ongainfuture clinical trials and the termination
of our development of a product candidate. Adddibn even if we are able to successfully comppgtetal Phase 3 clinical trials, the FDA

still may not approve our product candidates.

Even if we obtain regulatory approval of any of oproduct candidates, the approved products may digexct to pos-approval studies and
will remain subject to ongoing regulatory requiremts. If we fail to comply, or if concerns are ideafied in subsequent studies, our approv
could be withdrawn and our product sales could hesgended.

If we are successful at obtaining regulatory apptéer MultiStem or any of our other product caratigs, regulatory agencies in the United
States and other countries where a product wildié may require extensive additional clinicalltriar post-approval clinical studies that are
expensive and time consuming to conduct. In pdei¢ctherapeutic products administered for thetineat of persistent or chronic conditions,
such as obesity, are likely to require extensiiefoup studies and close monitoring of patienteafegulatory approval has been granted, fo
any signs of adverse effects that occur over a pmrgpd of time. These studies may be expensivdiarelconsuming to conduct and may
reveal side effects or other harmful effects ingyds that use our therapeutic products after #ieyon the market, which may result in the
limitation or withdrawal of our drugs from the matkAlternatively, we may not be able to conduahsadditional trials, which might force us
to abandon our efforts to develop or commerciadizgain product candidates. Even if post-approtaliges are not requested or required, aftel
our products are approved and on the market, thagkt be safety issues that emerge over time #watire a change in product labeling or that
require withdrawal of the product from the markettich would cause our revenue to decline.
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Additionally, any products that we may successfdiyelop will be subject to ongoing regulatory riegunents after they are approved. These
requirements will govern the manufacturing, packggmarketing, distribution, and use of our produtftwe fail to comply with such
regulatory requirements, approval for our produeéy be withdrawn, and product sales may be suspeide may not be able to regain
compliance, or we may only be able to regain coamgié after a lengthy delay, significant expensst,fevenues and damage to our reputatior

We may rely on third parties to manufacture our Miftem product candidate.

Our current business strategy relies on third eatth manufacture our MultiStem product candidates&cordance with good manufacturing
practices established by the FDA, or similar retjoites in other countries. These third parties matydeliver sufficient quantities of our
MultiStem product candidates, manufacture MultiSfgwduct candidates in accordance with specifioatior comply with applicable
government regulations. Additionally, if the maratfaed products fail to perform as specified, ousibess and reputation could be severely
impacted.

We expect to enter into additional manufacturingeagents for the production of product materidlany manufacturing agreement is
terminated or any third party collaborator exper&sa significant problem that could result in Eger interruption in the supply of product
materials to us, there are very few contract mastufars that currently have the capability to preour MultiStem product on acceptable
terms, or on a timely and cost-effective basis.dafenot assure you that manufacturers on whom weleglend will be able to successfully
produce our MultiStem product on acceptable teomsn a timely or cost-effective basis. We canrssuae you that manufacturers will be able
to manufacture our products in accordance withpsaduct specifications or will meet FDA or othequé@ements. We must have sufficient anc
acceptable quantities of our product materialsotodact our clinical trials and ultimately to marketr product candidates, if and when such
products have been approved by the FDA for margetinve are unable to obtain sufficient and acabf& quantities of our product material,
we may be required to delay the clinical testing ararketing of our products.

If we do not comply with applicable regulatory remements in the manufacture and distribution of oyroduct candidates, we may inc
penalties that may inhibit our ability to commerdiae our products and adversely affect our reven

Our failure or the failure of our potential collabtors or third party manufacturers to comply vétiplicable FDA or other regulatory
requirements including manufacturing, quality cohtlabeling, safety surveillance, promoting anplaiging may result in criminal prosecution,
civil penalties, recall or seizure of our produdtdal or partial suspension of production or ganuation, as well as other regulatory action
against our product candidates or us. Discovepr@fiously unknown problems with a product, suppleanufacturer or facility may result in
restrictions on the sale of our products, includingithdrawal of such products from the market. ®beurrence of any of these events would
negatively impact our business and results of djpera

If we are unable to attract and retain key persornred advisors, it may adversely affect our abilttyobtain financing, pursue
collaborations or develop our product candidates.

We are highly dependent on our executive officaéts/@n Bokkelen, Ph.D., our Chief Executive Offic&Yilliam Lehmann, J.D., M.B.A.,
President and Chief Operating Officer, John HatdngPh.D., Chief Scientific Officer and ExecutiVee President, Robert Deans, Ph.D.,
Executive Vice President, Regenerative Medicind, lzaura Campbell, CPA, Vice President of Finanseyall as other personnel.

These individuals are integral to the developmenitiategration of our technologies and to our pnesad future scientific collaborations,
including managing the complex research processéshe product development and potential commezeidgbn processes. Given their
leadership, extensive technical, scientific andiicial expertise and management and operationatiexge, these individuals would be
difficult to replace. Consequently, the loss ofvssgs of one or more of these named individualdccoesult in product development delays or
the failure of our collaborations with current a@ntlure collaborators, which, in turn, may hurt aiility to develop and commercialize prodt
and generate revenues.

Our future success depends on our ability to ditratain and motivate highly qualified managenmamd scientific, development and
commercial personnel and advisors. If we are unbégtract and retain key personnel and advisonsay negatively affect our ability to
successfully develop, test and commercialize ocodpet candidates.
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Our ability to compete may decline if we are notsessful in adequately protecting our patented asitier proprietary technologies.

Our success depends in part on our ability to atdad maintain intellectual property that protemis technologies and our products. Patent
positions may be highly uncertain and may involemplex legal and factual questions, including thiéitg to establish patentability of
compounds and methods for using them for which ek patent protection. We cannot predict the breafitlaims that will ultimately be
allowed in our patent applications, if any, incliglithose we have in-licensed or the extent to whielhmay enforce these claims against our
competitors. We have filed multiple patent applimas that seek to protect the composition of mattel method of use related to our progre
In addition, we are prosecuting numerous distirtept families directed to composition, methodproiuction, and methods of use of
MultiStem and related technologies. If we are unessful in obtaining and maintaining these pategitted to products and technologies, we
may ultimately be unable to commercialize prodtctd we are developing or may elect to developénftture.

The degree of future protection for our proprietagits is therefore highly uncertain and we carassture you that:

. we were the first to file patent applicationd@invent the subject matter claimed in patentiapfibns relating to the technologies
or product candidates upon which we re

. others will not independently develop similar deatative technologies or duplicate any of our tetbgies;

. others did not publicly disclose our claimed tezlogy before we conceived the subject matter ohetlin any of our patent
applications

. any of our pending or future patent application result in issued patent
. any of our patent applications will not result imerferences or disputes with third parties regaydiriority of invention

. any patents that may be issued to us, our caldbis or our licensors will provide a basis fontoercially viable products or will
provide us with any competitive advantages or milf be challenged by third parti

. we will develop additional proprietary technologtlat are patentabl
. the patents of others will not have an adverseceéfa our ability to do business;

. new proprietary technologies from third partiesjuding existing licensors, will be available t@ensing to us on reasonable
commercial terms, if at al

In addition, patent law outside the United Stasasricertain and in many countries intellectual proplaws are undergoing review and
revision. The laws of some countries do not proigetlectual property rights to the same extend@mestic laws. It may be necessary or u:
for us to participate in opposition proceedingsdétermine the validity of our competitors’ pateotgo defend the validity of any of our or our
licensor’s future patents, which could result ibstantial costs and would divert our efforts aridraton from other aspects of our business.
With respect to certain of our inventions, we hdeeided not to pursue patent protection outsidéJiieed States, both because we do not
believe it is cost effective and because of comifiiddity concerns. Accordingly, our internationanapetitors could develop and receive foreign
patent protection for gene sequences and functnsghich we are seeking United States patent ptime, enabling them to sell products that
we have developed.

Technologies licensed to us by others, or in-liegngchnologies, are important to our business.sEbpe of our rights under our licenses may
be subject to dispute by our licensors or thirdipar Our rights to use these technologies anddctige the inventions claimed in the licensed
patents are subject to our licensors abiding byehas of those licenses and not terminating tHarparticular, we depend on certain
technologies relating to our MultiStem technologghsed from the University of Minnesota, and #renination of this license could result in
our loss of some of the rights that enable usitzethis technology, and our ability to developgucts based on MultiStem could be seriousl
hampered.
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In addition, we may in the future acquire rightatilitional technologies by licensing such rightsf existing licensors or from third parties.
Such in-licenses may be costly. Also, we geneddiyot control the patent prosecution, maintenam@nforcement of in-licensed
technologies. Accordingly, we are unable to exertii® same degree of control over this intellequaperty as we do over our internally
developed technologies. Moreover, some of our anadmstitution licensors, collaborators and sdfemtaidvisors have rights to publish data
and information to which we have rights. If we cahmaintain the confidentiality of our technologa®d other confidential information in
connection with our collaborations, our abilitypimtect our proprietary information or obtain pdtprotection in the future may be impaired,
which could have a significant adverse effect onlusiness, financial condition and results of atiens.

We may not have adequate protection for our unpatshproprietary information, which could adversefiffect our competitive position.

In addition to patents, we will substantially rely trade secrets, know-how, continuing technoldgdicevations and licensing opportunities to
develop and maintain our competitive position. Hegre others may independently develop substanté]lyivalent proprietary information a
techniques or otherwise gain access to our tractetseor disclose our technology. To protect cadérsecrets, we may enter into confidenti
agreements with employees, consultants and poteotiaborators. However, these agreements mapmotide meaningful protection of our
trade secrets or adequate remedies in the evemiaothorized use or disclosure of such informatidkewise, our trade secrets or know-how
may become known through other means or be indepgigddiscovered by our competitors. Any of thegergs could prevent us from
developing or commercializing our product candidate

We may be sued for product liability, which could\ersely affect our business.

Because our business strategy involves the developamd sale by either us or our collaboratorsoafroercial products, we may be sued for
product liability. We may be held liable if any pitect we develop and commercialize, or any productcollaborators commercialize that
incorporates any of our technology, causes injurig dound otherwise unsuitable during productitggtmanufacturing, marketing, sale or
consumer use. In addition, the safety studies wet merform and the regulatory approvals requirecbtomercialize our pharmaceutical
products, will not protect us from any such liayili

We carry product liability insurance that includewerage for human clinical trials. Currently, vaarg a $5 million per event, $5 million
annual aggregate coverage for both our produdigitiapolicy and our clinical trials protection. 8\also intend to seek product liability
insurance for any approved products that we magldpwor acquire. However, in the event there aoglyet liability claims against us, our
insurance may be insufficient to cover the expearisiefending against such claims, or may be insigffit to pay or settle such claims.
Furthermore, we may be unable to obtain adequattupt liability insurance coverage for commerceles of any of our approved products. If
such insurance is insufficient to protect us, @sauits of operations will suffer. If any produeHility claim is made against us, our reputation
and future sales will be damaged, even if we hagjaate insurance coverage.

Many potential competitors, including those who tegreater resources and experience than we do, aeelop products or technologis
that make ours obsolete or noncompetitive.

We face significant competition with respect to puwvduct candidates. With regard to our effortdeégelop MultiStem as a novel stem cell
therapy, currently, there are a number of compahigisare actively developing stem cell productsicv encompass a range of different cell
types, including embryonic stem cells, adult-detigéem cells, and processed bone marrow derivésl Gair future success will depend on ou
ability to maintain a competitive position with pext to technological advances. Technological agrmknts by others may result in our
MultiStem product platform and technologies, aslaglour pharmaceutical formulations, becoming t#iso

We are subject to significant competition from phaceutical, biotechnology and diagnostic compamieagdemic and research institutions,
government or other publicly funded agencies thafpairsuing or may pursue the development of theertipproducts and technologies that ar
substantially similar to our proposed therapeutadpcts and technologies, or that otherwise addhesmsdications we are pursuing. Our most
significant competitors include major pharmaceutimanpanies such as Pfizer, Roche, Johnson & Johi$amofi and GlaxoSmithKline, as
well as smaller biotechnology or biopharmaceutizahpanies such as Celgene, Mesoblast, Aastrom, Gédisiinc., Cytori, Pluristem, Arena
Pharmaceuticals and Vivus. Most of our current poténtial competitors have substantially greatseaech and development capabilities and
financial, scientific, regulatory, manufacturingarketing, sales, human resources, and experieacenth do. Many of our competitors have
several therapeutic products that have already deeeloped, approved and successfully commercdilizeare in the process of obtaining
regulatory approval for their therapeutic productthe United States and internationally.

Many of these companies have substantially greatgital resources, research and development resand experience, manufacturing
capabilities, regulatory expertise, sales and mantgesources, established relationships with gores products companies and production
facilities.
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Universities and public and private research instins are also potential competitors. While thesmnizations primarily have educational
objectives, they may develop proprietary techn@sgelated to stem cells or secure patent protettit we may need for the development of
our technologies and products. We may attemptemée these proprietary technologies, but thesed&s may not be available to us on
acceptable terms, if at all. Our competitors, eitdene or with their collaborative partners, mageeed in developing technologies or product
that are more effective, safer, more affordablenore easily commercialized than ours, and our coitape may obtain intellectual property
protection or commercialize products sooner tharweDevelopments by others may render our procladidates or our technologies
obsolete.

Our current product discovery and development bollators are not prohibited from entering into aesk and development collaboration
agreements with third parties in any product fi€@dr failure to compete effectively would have gnglicant adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

The availability, manner, and amount of reimbursemisfor our product candidates from government andyate payers are uncertain, and
our inability to obtain adequate reimbursement fany products could severely limit our product sales

We expect that many of the patients who seek tresattavith any of our products that are approvedirarketing will be eligible for Medicare
benefits. Other patients may be covered by priliatdth plans. If we are unable to obtain or retmiequate levels of reimbursement from
Medicare or from private health plans, our abildysell our products will be severely limited. Téygplication of existing Medicare regulations
and interpretive coverage and payment determinatiomewly approved products is uncertain and thegelations and interpretive
determinations are subject to change. The Medegscription Drug Improvement and Modernization, Actacted in December 2003,
provides for a change in reimbursement methodotbgtreduces the Medicare reimbursement rates &oyrdrugs, which may adversely
affect reimbursement for any products we may dexeltedicare regulations and interpretive deterniamatalso may determine who may be
reimbursed for certain services, and may limitgbel of patients our product candidates are beewglbped to serve.

Federal, state and foreign governments continyedpose legislation designed to contain or red@adth care costs. Legislation and
regulations affecting the pricing of products liker potential products may change further or bgotatbbefore any of our potential products
approved for marketing. Cost control initiativesdyvernments or third-party payers could decrelasetice that we receive for any one or all
of our potential products or increase patient amasce to a level that make our products underldpireent become unaffordable. In addition,
government and private health plans persistentijiehge the price and cost-effectiveness of theraperoducts. Accordingly, these third
parties may ultimately not consider any or all of products under development to be cost effectivech could result in products not being
covered under their health plans or covered onyylatver price. Any of these initiatives or devetmgnts could prevent us from successfully
marketing and selling any of our products thataeroved for commercialization.

Public perception of ethical and social issues sounding the use of adu-derived stem cell technology may limit or discogeathe use of
our technologies, which may reduce the demand far therapeutic products and technologies and redumg revenues.

Our success will depend in part upon our abilitdéwelop therapeutic products incorporating oralisced through our adult-derived stem cell
technology. For social, ethical, or other reasgoesernmental authorities in the United States ahdracountries may call for limits on, or
regulation of the use of, aduderived stem cell technologies. Although we dous# the more controversial stem cells derived feombryos o
fetuses, claims that adult-derived stem cell tetihgies are ineffective, unethical or pose a dangéhne environment may influence public
attitudes. The subject of stem cell technologiegeneral has received negative publicity and ambpsilic debate in the United States and
some other countries. Ethical and other conceroatatur adultderived stem cell technology could materially lthet market acceptance of «
therapeutic products and technologies, resultirgjrimnished sales and use of any products we dectallevelop using adult-derived stem
cells.

Even if we or our collaborators receive regulatoapproval for our products, those products may nebercommercially successft

Even if we develop pharmaceuticals or MultiStenatexil products that obtain the necessary regulatgpyoval, and we have access to the
necessary manufacturing, sales, marketing andhiison capabilities that we need, our success migp# a significant degree upon the
commercial success of those products. If theseystsdail to achieve or subsequently maintain maakeeptance or commercial viability, our
business would be significantly harmed becausduture royalty revenue or other revenue would heedelent upon sales of these products.
Many factors may affect the market acceptance antheercial success of any potential products thatnag discover, including:

. health concerns, whether actual or perceivednéavorable publicity regarding our obesity drusfem cell products or those of our
competitors

. the timing of market entry as compared to competiiroducts
. the rate of adoption of products by our collabarstind other companies in the indus
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. any product labeling that may be required byRB& or other United States or foreign regulatorgmgjes for our products or
competing or comparable produc

. convenience and ease of administrat

. pricing;

. perceived efficacy and side effec

. marketing;

. availability of alternative treatment

. levels of reimbursement and insurance coverage
. activities by our competitor:

If we are unable to create and maintain sales, matikg and distribution capabilities or enter intoggeements with third parties to perfori
those functions, we will not be able to commerczaiour product candidates.

We currently have no sales, marketing or distriuttapabilities. Therefore, to commercialize ourdurct candidates, if and when such
products have been approved and are ready for tiragkeve expect to collaborate with third partiegperform these functions. We will either
need to share the value generated from the saeyoproducts and/or pay a fee to the contract safgmization. If we establish any such
relationships, we will be dependent upon the cdjpialsi of our collaborators or contract service\pders to effectively market, sell, and
distribute our product. If they are ineffectivesatling and distributing our product, or if theyodise to emphasize other products over ours, wi
may not achieve the level of product sales revethegsve would like. If conflicts arise, we may it able to resolve them easily or
effectively, and we may suffer financially as auleslif we cannot rely on the sales, marketing distribution capabilities of our collaborators
or of contract service providers, we may be formedstablish our own capabilities. We have no eepee in developing, training or managing
a sales force and will incur substantial additicegdenses if we decide to market any of our fupwmoglucts directly. Developing a marketing
and sales force is also time consuming and could/daunch of our future products. In addition, wil compete with many companies that
currently have extensive and wéllnded marketing and sales operations. Our mauetitd sales efforts may be unable to compete ssiody
against these companies.

We will use hazardous and biological materials inrdbusiness. Any claims relating to improper hanadg, storage or disposal of these
materials could be time consuming and costly.

Our products and processes will involve the cotedostorage, use and disposal of certain hazaralodidiological materials and waste
products. We and our suppliers and other collabosatre subject to federal, state and local reigmisigoverning the use, manufacture, stor
handling and disposal of materials and waste prisd&ven if we and these suppliers and collabosatomply with the standards prescribed b
law and regulation, the risk of accidental contaation or injury from hazardous materials cannottpletely eliminated. In the event of an
accident, we could be held liable for any damagesresult, and any liability could exceed the t81r fall outside the coverage of any
insurance we may obtain and exceed our financs@ukees. We may not be able to maintain insuranceoeptable terms, or at all. We may
incur significant costs to comply with current atire environmental laws and regulations.

Disputes concerning the infringement or misapprogtion of our proprietary rights or the proprietaryights of others could be tim
consuming and extremely costly and could delay oesearch and development efforts.

Our commercial success, if any, will be signifidartitarmed if we infringe the patent rights of thpdrties or if we breach any license or other
agreements that we have entered into with regaoditéechnology or business.

We are aware of other companies and academicutistis that have been performing research in thesaof adult derived stem cells. In
particular, other companies and academic institstitave announced that they have identified nongonir stem cells isolated from bone
marrow or other tissues that have the ability tonfa range of cell types, or display the propeftglaripotency. To the extent any of these
companies or academic institutions currently havebtain in the future, broad patent claims, goatents could block our ability to use
various aspects of our discovery and developmertgss and might prevent us from developing or corvialeing newly discovered
applications of our MultiStem technology, or oth&mvconducting our business. In addition, it isgilsie that some of the pharmaceutical
product candidates we are developing may not benfmtile or may be covered by intellectual propeftthird parties.

We are not currently a party to any litigation witlgard to our patent or trademark positions. Harethe life sciences and other technology
industries are characterized by extensive litigategarding patents and other intellectual propegtyts. Many life sciences and other
technology companies have employed intellectugberty litigation as a way to gain a competitive aghage. To the extent we are involved in
litigation, interference proceedings, oppositiclegxamination, protest or other potentially advéngalectual property proceedings as a result
of alleged infringement by us of the rights of ather as a result of priority of invention
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disputes with third parties, we might have to spgigaificant amounts of money, time and effort aefieg our position and we may not be
successful. In addition, any claims relating toitifengement of third-party proprietary rights jproprietary determinations, even if not
meritorious, could result in costly litigation, [gthy governmental proceedings, divert managemaitténtion and resources, or require us to
enter into royalty or license agreements that ateadvantageous to us. If we do not have the filmhnesources to support such litigation or
appeals, we may forfeit or lose certain commenggits. Even if we have the financial resourcesdntinue such litigation or appeals, we may
lose. In the event that we lose, we may be foroguhy very substantial damages; we may have torobostly license rights, which may not be
available to us on acceptable terms, if at allvermay be prohibited from selling products thatfatend to infringe the patent rights of others.

Should any person have filed patent applicationsbtained patents that claim inventions also cldilmeg us, we may have to participate in an
interference proceeding declared by the relevatetpaegulatory agency to determine priority oféntion and, thus, the right to a patent for
these inventions in the United States. Such a pating could result in substantial cost to us e¥¢ne outcome is favorable. Even if successfu
on priority grounds, an interference action mayiitas loss of claims based on patentability grasinaised in the interference action. Litigat
interference proceedings or other proceedings odivkett management’s time and efforts. Even unsssfaéclaims could result in significant
legal fees and other expenses, diversion of managisrtime and disruption in our business. Uncatias resulting from initiation and
continuation of any patent proceeding or relatggdtion could harm our ability to compete and coiodve a significant adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of openst

An adverse ruling arising out of any intellectuebjerty dispute, including an adverse decisiorodhé priority of our inventions, could
undercut or invalidate our intellectual propertysipion. An adverse ruling could also subject usigmificant liability for damages, including
possible treble damages, prevent us from usingitdogies or developing products, or require usdgatiate licenses to disputed rights from
third parties. Although patent and intellectualgeay disputes in the technology area are oftetegethrough licensing or similar
arrangements, costs associated with these arramggemay be substantial and could include license éd ongoing royalties. Furthermore,
necessary licenses may not be available to ustiwiegdory terms, if at all. Failure to obtain ednse in such a case could have a significant
adverse effect on our business, financial condiiod results of operations.

To the extent we enter markets outside of the Udiftates, our business will be subject to politicatonomic, legal and social risks in those
markets, which could adversely affect our business.

There are significant regulatory and legal barrienharkets outside the United States that we mustcome to the extent we enter or attempt
to enter markets in countries other than the Uritedes. We will be subject to the burden of conmglyvith a wide variety of national and
local laws, including multiple and possibly ovelpéqpy and conflicting laws. We also may experienifgcdlties adapting to new cultures,
business customs and legal systems. Any salesmardtmns outside the United States would be stitggmolitical, economic and social
uncertainties including, among others:

. changes and limits in import and export contr
. increases in custom duties and tari
. changes in currency exchange ra
. economic and political instability
. changes in government regulations and le
. absence in some jurisdictions of effective lawpratect our intellectual property rights; a
. currency transfer and other restrictions and leggns that may limit our ability to sell certgimoducts or repatriate profits to the
United States
Any changes related to these and other factorglamlersely affect our business to the extent vier enarkets outside the United States.

Foreign governments often impose strict price cavltr on approved products, which may adversely affaa future profitability in those
countries, and the re-importation of drugs to thenited States from foreign countries that impose ggicontrols may adversely affect our
future profitability.

Frequently foreign governments impose strict paaetrols on newly approved therapeutic productaidfobtain regulatory approval to sell
products in foreign countries, we may be unablebiain a price that provides an adequate finametakn on our investment. Furthermore,
legislation in the United States may permit re-imi@tion of drugs from foreign countries into theitdd States, including re-importation from
foreign countries where the drugs are sold at Igwiees than in the United States due to foreigregament-mandated price controls. Such a
practice, especially if it is conducted on a widesgl basis, may significantly reduce our potedigited States revenues from any drugs that
we are able to develop.
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If we elect not to sell our products in foreign cotries that impose government mandated price cotgreecause we decide it
uneconomical to do so, a foreign government or pateffice may attempt to terminate our intellectuptoperty rights in that country,
enabling competitors to make and sell our products.

In some cases we may choose not to sell a prodictareign country because it is uneconomicabte@under a system of government-
imposed price controls, or because it could seydirait our profitability in the United States otheer markets. In such cases, a foreign
government or patent office may terminate any iet&lial property rights we may obtain with resgedhat product. Such a termination could
enable competitors to produce and sell our prouuittat market. Furthermore, such products mayxpereed into the United States through
legislation that authorizes the importation of drdiggm outside the United States. In such an evemtnay have to reduce our prices, or we
may be unable to compete with low-cost providerswfdrugs, and we could be financially harmed essalt.

We may encounter difficulties managing our growtwhich could adversely affect our business.

At various times we have experienced periods afirgpowth in our employee numbers as a resultdrfaanatic increase in activity in
technology programs, genomics programs, collabgratisearch programs, discovery programs, and safageerations. At other times, we
have had to reduce staff in order to bring our asps in line with our financial resources. Our sssowill also depend on the ability of our
officers and key employees to continue to improweaperational capabilities and our managementinddion and financial control systems,
and to expand, train and manage our work force.

If we acquire products, technologies or other bussses, we will incur a variety of costs, may havegration difficulties and may
experience numerous other risks that could adveysaffect our business.

To remain competitive, we may decide to acquirdtamdhl businesses, products and technologies. Wtetly have no commitments or
agreements with respect to, and are not activelkisg, any material acquisitions. We have limitggerience in identifying acquisition targe
successfully acquiring them and integrating theto our current infrastructure. We may not be ablsuccessfully integrate any businesses,
products, technologies or personnel that we mightie in the future without a significant expendi of operating, financial and managemen
resources, if at all. In addition, future acquéits could require significant capital infusions &odld involve many risks, including, but not
limited to the following:

. we may have to issue convertible debt or equtusties to complete an acquisition, which wouldté our stockholders and could
adversely affect the market price of our commoulst

. an acquisition may negatively impact our resaftsperations because it may require us to inagel@ane-time charges to earnings,
amortize or write down amounts related to goodavild other intangible assets, or incur or assumstantial debt or liabilities, or it
may cause adverse tax consequences, substantiat@dion or deferred compensation chari

. we may encounter difficulties in assimilating antkgrating the business, technologies, prodpeissonnel or operations of
companies that we acquil

. certain acquisitions may disrupt our relationshithvexisting collaborators who are competitivetie ticquired busines

. acquisitions may require significant capital isifins and the acquired businesses, products ardEies may not generate
sufficient revenue to offset acquisition cot

. an acquisition may disrupt our ongoing businesgriliresources, increase our expenses and disttachanagemen
. acquisitions may involve the entry into a geogragibusiness market in which we have little oipnior experience; an
. key personnel of an acquired company may decidéonwbrk for us

Any of the foregoing risks could have a significadierse effect on our business, financial comtligind results of operations.

If we do not continue to meet the listing standarestablished by The NASDAQ Capital Market, the coomstock may not remain listed fc
trading.

The NASDAQ Capital Market has established certaiangjtative criteria and qualitative standards ttaahpanies must meet in order to remair
listed for trading on these markets. We cannotantae that we will be able to maintain all necessaquirements for listing; therefore, we
cannot guarantee that our common stock will rerfisied for trading on The NASDAQ Capital Marketather similar markets.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal offices are located at 3201 Carnégienue in Cleveland, Ohio. We currently lease apipnately 45,000 square feet of space for
our corporate offices and laboratories, with ste#téhe-art laboratory space. The lease began i0 200 currently expires in March 2016, and
we have the option to renew annually through 2@L&. rent is $267,000 per year and our rental ratertot changed since the lease incepti
2000. Also, we currently lease office and labonaspace for our Belgian subsidiary. The lease otyrexpires in July 2015, and we have an
option to renew annually through July 2022. Theuahment in Belgium is €144,000 and is subjectdjustments based on an inflationary
index. Our total rent expense for all properties %491,000 in 2013.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we may become subject to varlegal proceedings that are incidental to the @dirtconduct of our business. Currently,
there are no such proceedings.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Capitafhdaunder the symbol “ATHX.” Set forth below afeethigh and low sale prices for
our common stock on the NASDAQ Capital Market fog periods indicated.

High Low

Year ended December 31, 201:

Fourth Quarte $2.52 $1.52
Third Quartel $1.9¢ $1.47
Second Quarte $2.4z2 $1.54
First Quarte! $1.8¢ $1.07
Year ended December 31, 2012:

Fourth Quarte $1.47 $0.9¢
Third Quartel $1.7¢ $1.3¢
Second Quarte $1.71 $1.2¢
First Quarte! $2.3: $1.4¢

Holders

As of March 1, 2014, there were approximately 5dldiérs of record of our common stock. Additiona#iipares of common stock are held by
financial institutions as nominees for beneficiainers that are deposited into participant accoanBTC, which are considered to be held of
record by Cede & Co. and are included in the haldérecord as one stockholder.

Dividend Policy

We would have to rely upon dividends and other paytsifrom our wholly owned subsidiary, ABT Holdi@@mpany, to generate the funds
necessary to make dividend payments, if any, orcoommon stock. ABT Holding Company, however, isalggdistinct from us and has no
obligation to pay amounts to us. The ability of AB®lding Company to make dividend and other paysemus is subject to, among other
things, the availability of funds and applicablatstlaws. However, there are no restrictions ssajoaernment regulations or material
contractual arrangements that restrict the abiithBT Holding Company to make dividend and othayments to us. We did not pay cash
dividends on our common stock during the past theags. We do not anticipate that we will pay aiwdénds on our common stock in the
foreseeable future. Rather, we anticipate that Wleetain earnings, if any, for use in the devetemt of our business

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use Bfoceeds

During the quarter ended December 31, 2013, weaokgregate of 300,000 shares of common stoékpoe Capital under an equity
purchase agreement an average purchase price68f @dr share. Each issuance of these unregisteagessqualifies as an exempt transaction
pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act@33. Each issuance qualified for exemption undeti®@e 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933
because none involved a public offering. Each offewas not a public offering due to the numbepe@fsons involved, the manner of the
issuance and the number of securities issued.ditiaw, in each case Aspire Capital had the necgs$saestment intent.

Information concerning our share repurchases madeglthe fourth quarter of 2013:

Total Number of

Shares Purchase! Maximum Number

Total Number : of Shares that
of as Part of Publicly May Yet Be
Shares Average Price Purchased Under

Period Purchased (1) Paid Per Shar¢ Announced Plans the Plans
October — $ — — —
Novembel — — — —
Decembe 65,73: 2.0¢€ — —
Total 65,73: $ 2.0¢€ — —

(1) All shares were surrendered or deemed surrendeneslin connection with our shi-based compensation pla
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Consolidated Statement of Operations Datz
Revenues
Contract revenu
Grant revenu
Total revenue:
Costs and expense
Research and developmt
General and administrati
Depreciatior
Loss from operation
Other (expense) incom
Other income (expense), r
(Expense) income from change in fair value
warrants

Net loss
Basic and diluted net loss per shar

Weighted average shares outstanding, basic and
diluted

Consolidated Balance Sheet Datz
Cash and cash equivalel
Available-for-sale securities, sh-tem
Working capital

Available-for-sale securities, lol-term
Total asset

Warrant liabilities and note payal
Total stockholder equity

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

$ 75E $ 7,38( $ 9,01¢ $ 6,68t $ 1,07¢
1,68: 1,32¢ 1,32¢ 2,25¢ 1,08(
2,43¢ 8,70¢ 10,34¢ 8,93¢ 2,15¢
20,48¢ 19,63¢ 18,93( 14,77¢ 11,92(
6,06~ 4,758 4,91¢ 5,387 5,621
34¢€ 32C 27¢€ 284 23:
(24,45 (16,007 (13,780) (11,51)) (15,61F)
38 (1,139 (779) 134 24¢

(6,329 2,40¢ 812 — _
$ (30,749 $ (14,73Hy $ (13,749 $ (11,37) $ (15,366
$ (059 $ (0.45)  $ (059 $ (060 $ (0.81)
57,674,83 32,556,78 23,239,01 18,929,74 18,928,37

December 31
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

$ 31,94¢ $ 25,53 $ 8,78t $ 2,10t $ 11,167
— — 3,99¢ 13,07¢ 10,13t
28,48 21,83: 7,01¢ 9,10¢ 16,29:
— — — — 5,08(
34,18¢ 27,60: 15,70: 19,10¢ 28,33:

9,99¢ 2,87¢ 98¢ — —
19,82 20,24 7,29¢ 9,00t 18,957
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ITEM 7.

MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion and arialiysconjunction with “Item 8. Financial Statemgiind Supplementary Data” included
below in this annual report on Form 10-K.

Overview

We are an international biotechnology company ith&dcused primarily in the field of regenerativedicine. Our MultiStem cell therapy has
been evaluated in two completed Phase 1 clini@stand is currently being evaluated in two ongdhthase 2 clinical trials, as well as an
investigator-led Phase 1 trial. Our current cliha@velopment programs are focused on treatingnmfhatory and immune disorders,
neurological conditions, cardiovascular diseasd,aher conditions. We are also applying our phaeutcal discovery capabilities to identify
and develop small molecule compounds with poteafilications in indications such as obesity, sglahetabolic conditions and certain
neurological conditions.

Current Programs

By applying our proprietary MultiStem cell therapsoduct, we have established therapeutic produetldpment programs treating
inflammatory and immune disorders, neurologicalditions, cardiovascular disease, and other conditido date, we have advanced five
programs to the clinical development stage, inclgdhe following:

* Inflammatory Bowel DiseaseMultiStem therapy is being evaluated in a Phasknial study involving administration of
MultiStem to patients suffering from UC, the mostemon form of IBD. This double blind, placebo catiggd trial being conducte
with our partner, Pfizer, in UC patients that haveinadequate response or are refractory to cumeatiment, completed enrolling
patients in December 2013. We expect to report Ritker the initial results in the spring of 2014.

« Ischemic Stroke In our ongoing Phase 2 clinical study, we ardwating the administration of MultiStem cell theyap
patients that have suffered an ischemic strokeohirast to treatment with thrombolytics, which s administered within 3 to 4
hours after a stroke, we are treating patientstome&o days after the stroke has occurred. In priedl studies, administration of a
single dose of MultiStem cells, even several ddies a stroke, resulted in significant and durabiprovements. This double blind,
placebo-controlled trial is being conducted at iegdtroke centers across the United States anopEuil he study is expected to
enroll approximately 136 patients. We are targetingomplete enroliment around the end of summéd2hd release the
preliminary results as soon as they are available.

» Acute Myocardial Infarction We have evaluated the administration of MultiSterpatients that have suffered an acute
myocardial infarction, or AMI, in a Phase 1 clirlistudy. In 2010, we announced preliminary resialtshis study, demonstrating a
favorable safety profile and encouraging signsmgirovement in heart function among patients thhtted severely compromis:
heart function prior to treatment. This data waBlished in a leading peer reviewed scientific j@lin 2012. One-year follow-up
data suggested that the benefit observed was sedtaver time. We are preparing for a Phase 2calirstudy of MultiStem
administration to heart attack victims and are piag to initiate late 2014. In 2013, we were awardeagrant for up to $2.8 million
to support funding this clinical program.

» Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplant / GviH/e completed a Phase 1 clinical study of the atstmation of MultiStem cel
to patients suffering from leukemia or certain othiwod-borne cancers in which patients undergo radiatienaipy and then recei
a hematopoietic stem cell, or HSC, transplant. Sattents are at significant risk for serious camgilons, including GvHD, an
imbalance of immune system function caused by plansed immune cells that attack various tissuesaagans in the patient. In
2011 and in 2012, we released data from the stuldich demonstrated the safety of MultiStem cellthis indication and suggest
that the MultiStem therapy may have a beneficidatfin reducing the incidence and severity of GytdB well as providing other
benefits. The MultiStem therapy has been desigremeatphan drug by both the FDA and EMA, which rpayvide market
exclusivity and other substantial potential inceesi and benefits. We have had several interactiithsthe FDA and international
agencies regarding study design and the potentatdelerate the path to product approval. Basemioent plans, we intend to be
ready to start this study in 2014, but study itiia will depend on the progress in our other clatitrials and the achievement of
certain business development and financial objestiv

We are also collaborating with a leading transptaotip at the University of Regensburg in Germdmag has initiated a small institutional
sponsored clinical trial exploring the administoatiof MultiStem cells in patients following a livelansplant. We are providing the clinical
product and some financial support to conduct ttiaé t

In addition to our current and anticipated clinidalvelopment activities, we are engaged in pradirdevelopment and evaluation of
MultiStem therapy in other inflammatory and immuneurological and cardiovascular disease areagekhss certain other indications. We
conduct such work both through our own interna¢agsh efforts and through a broad network of coltabons we have established with
investigators at leading research institutions s€tbe United States and in Europe.
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We are in discussions with third parties aboutatmrating in the development of MultiStem theraprydertain programs and may enter into
one or more business partnership(s) to advance firegrams.

We have also collaborated with RTI on the develapnoé products for certain orthopedic applicatiaising our stem cell technologies in the
bone graft substitutes market. We will receive tyysevenue from product sales beginning in 201dces RTI recently commenced its
commercialization activities, and we may receiveeoipayments upon the successful achievement ta#iceommercial milestones.

We are also engaged in the development of novell smadecule therapies to treat obesity and otherdiions, such as schizophrenia. We may
elect to enter into a partnership to advance theldpment of our 5HT2c agonist program, eithertfar treatment of obesity, schizophrenia, or
both indications, as well as for certain programalving MultiStem.

Financial

We have incurred losses since inception of operatio 1995 and had an accumulated deficit of $2Bbmat December 31, 2013. Our losses
have resulted principally from costs incurred ise@ch and development, clinical and preclinicablpct development, acquisition and
licensing costs, and general and administrativésassociated with our operations. We have usefirthecing proceeds from equity and debt
offerings and other sources of capital to develaptechnologies, to discover and develop therapguiiduct candidates, develop business
collaborations and to acquire certain technologies assets. During the years ended December 2013,ahd 2011, excluding issuances
pursuant to our equity purchase arrangement wiflirAsCapital described below, we completed registetirect, public and private equity
offerings generating net proceeds of approxime®éB.4 million, $29.2 million and $11.8 million, gEctively. Also, in January 2014, we
generated net proceeds of approximately $18.7anill a registered direct offering.

In November 2011, we entered into an equity puretz@geement with Aspire Capital, which provided #hspire Capital was committed to
purchase up to an aggregate of $20.0 million ofeshaf our common stock over a two-year term, sligeour election to sell any such shares
As part of the agreement, Aspire Capital made #ialiinvestment of $1.0 million in us and receive86,667 additional shares as compens
for its commitment. As of September 30, 2013, wet $izld all the remaining shares that were availabi#er the 8,000,000 shares of common
stock registered for resale under the equity fgcivhich was due to expire early in 2014.

In October 2013, we terminated the expiring 201ditggpurchase agreement with Aspire Capital anérextinto a new 2013 equity purchase
agreement with Aspire Capital to purchase up taggregate of $25.0 million of shares of our commsimek over a new two-year period. The
terms of the 2013 equity facility are similar t@ threvious arrangement, and we issued 333,333sshioeir common stock Aspire Capital as &
commitment fee in October 2013 and filed a regigmastatement for the resale of 10,000,000 shafreemmon stock in connection with the
new equity facility.

During the quarter ended December 31, 2013, we30¢D00 shares under the Aspire equity purchaseamnts, and no shares were sold in
the quarter ended December 31, 2012. From its firorejm November 2011 through December 31, 2013haxee received proceeds of
approximately $13.4 million, in aggregate, under &spire equity purchase arrangement since itpiraein November 2011.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, we redgiv@ceeds of approximately $402,000 from the egeraf warrants aggregating in
issuances of 397,826 shares of common stock. Maoth 1, 2014, we received proceeds of approxim&@88,000 from the exercise of
warrants in 2014. No warrants were exercised ir2241id 2011.

In August 2013, we were awarded a federal grantishexpected to provide up to $2.8 million in sagmf a Phase 2 clinical study evaluating
the administration of MultiStem to patients who éauffered an AMI. In 2012, we were awarded grantiing aggregating $3.6 million to
further advance our MultiStem programs and cellapg platform, including further development of M8tem for the treatment of TBI and
further development of our cell therapy formulai@nd manufacturing capabilities, from federaliestand European organizations.

Results of Operations

Since our inception, our revenues have consistdidaesfse fees, contract revenues and milestone @atgnfrom our collaborators, and grant
proceeds primarily from federal, state and fourmdagrants. We have derived no revenue from the cential sale of therapeutic products to
date. Research and development expenses consistrityiof external clinical and preclinical studgsts, manufacturing and process
development costs, salaries and related personstd,degal expenses resulting from intellectuapprty
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prosecution and maintenance processes, facilitig,cand laboratory supply and reagent costs. Weres@research and development costs as
they are incurred. We expect to continue to magfeiitant investments in research and developrmeahhance our technologies, advance
clinical trials of our product candidates, expamnd kegulatory affairs and product development cépials, conduct preclinical studies of our
product, and manufacture our product candidatesefaéand administrative expenses consist primafigalaries and related personnel costs,
board fees, legal and professional fees, and cthrpiorate expenses. We expect to continue to suostantial losses through at least the next
several years.

The following table sets forth our revenues andeasggs for the periods indicated. The followingealdre stated in thousands.

Revenues

Year ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Contract revenue $ 75t $7,38( $ 9,01t
Grant revenu 1,68: 1,32¢ 1,32¢

$2,43¢ $8,70¢ $10,34+

Research and development expenses

Year ended December 31

Type of expens 2013 2012 2011

Personnel costs $ 5,59( $ 5,09% $ 4,641
Research supplie 1,48¢ 1,43t 1,31¢
Facilities 1,08: 964 944
Clinical and preclinical development co 7,45¢ 8,05: 7,49t
Sponsored resear: 1,074 1,381 1,40¢
Patent legal fee 1,95¢ 1,37: 1,70:
Other 1,19¢ 1,18¢ 1,21¢
Stoclk-based compensatic 63¢ 15C 20&

$20,48¢ $19,63¢ $18,93(

General and administrative expenses

Year ended December 31

Type of expens 2013 2012 2011

Personnel costs $2,33¢ $2,16: $1,92%
Facilities 262 28( 27C
Legal and professional fe 1,05(C 79¢ 1,00¢
Other 1,53( 1,182 1,36¢
Stoclk-based compensatic 884 331 347

$6,06¢ $4,75: $4,91¢

Year Ended December 31, 2013 Compared to Year Erdlecember 31, 2012

RevenuesRevenues decreased to $2.4 million for the yeae@ftecember 31, 2013 from $8.7 million for 2012lecting a $4.0 million
decrease in our Pfizer contract revenues and ar§#lidn decrease in our RTI contract revenues. 2Af2 contract revenues included the
amortization of Pfizer payments, including a $6i0iam up-front license fee, research and developnfiending, and payments for
manufacturing services over the estimated perfoomgeriod that ended in June 2012. Absent any daborations,
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our ongoing contract revenues will be comprisedrof clinical manufacturing and milestone paymeramfPfizer, potential royalty and
commercial milestone payments from RTI, and po&ifitense fees, milestone payments and royalt@s Bristol-Myers Squibb. Grant
revenue increased $355,000 for the year ended Omredd, 2013 compared to the year ended Decemb@022, primarily due to expiring
grants being replaced with new, larger awards uagants are focused now on late-stage preclimicdlearly-stage clinical development
programs. Our grant revenues may fluctuate froroddo period based on the timing of grant-relaetivities and the award and expiration of
grants.

Research and Development ExpenResearch and development expenses increased ®i#idon for the year ended December 31, 2013
from $19.6 million for the year ended DecemberZ11,2. The increase of $0.9 million is primarily qamsed of an increase in patent legal fee
of $583,000, an increase in personnel costs of $8@3 an increase in stock-based compensation sgpdr$489,000, an increase in facility
costs of $119,000, and an increase in researcHissigh $49,000 for the year ended December 313 2@in the comparable period in 2012.
These increases were partially offset by a decr@aslaical and preclinical development costs 684,000 and a decrease in sponsored
research costs of $307,000 in 2013 compared to.Zdi2increase in patent legal fees resulted friareased patent expenses associated witl
patent prosecution, national filings, and intenfeeeand related other filings during 2013. Theeéase in personnel costs related to the additio
over the past twelve months of personnel suppodingoreclinical and clinical programs, an annuatitincrease in salaries, and increased
performance bonus payments. The increase in stask&ebcompensation in 2013 compared to 2012 repabenchrily to restricted stock units
granted to our named executive officers in exchdagthe termination of an old incentive agreemaritich vest over a three-year period, and
the issuance of stock options to our executivgsaaisof the implementation of an annual equity iise program. Our clinical and preclinical
development costs primarily reflect costs assodiatiéh our MultiStem clinical trials and includertoact research organization costs, clinical
manufacturing costs, manufacturing process devetopicosts and clinical consulting costs. The dessréaour clinical and preclinical costs in
2013 compared to 2012 relates primarily to fewenufacturing campaigns and less contract reseagdnaation costs for our ongoing clini
studies, net of increased manufacturing processldement costs. Sponsored research costs decrdased fewer academic research
institution costs being required under our gramigied programs. We expect our 2014 annual reseattHevelopment expenses to be higher
than the 2013 expenses based on our planned tligealopment and manufacturing process developeneivities, and such costs will vary
over time based on clinical manufacturing campaggme the timing and stage of clinical trials undeywOther than external expenses for our
clinical and preclinical programs, we do not track research expenses by project; rather, we sack expenses by the type of cost incurred.

General and Administrative Expens€gneral and administrative expenses increased.ifonfilion in 2013 from $4.8 million in 2012. The
$1.3 million increase in 2013 compared to 2012 dwes primarily to an increase of $553,000 in stoakddl compensation, an increase in othe
general and administrative costs of $348,000 réledeutside services and recruiting costs, arease in legal and professional fees of
$252,000 related primarily to SEC filings, and acrease in personnel costs of $177,000. The inefieastock-based compensation in 2013
compared to 2012 related primarily to restrictextktunits granted to our named executive officersxchange for the termination of an old
incentive arrangement, which vest over a three-gesnd, and the issuance of stock options to gacatives as part of the implementation of
an annual equity incentive program. The increasmiiside services related to an increase in investations costs and advisory fees, as we
our being designated an accelerated filer in 2643ylting in additional external costs associatéd the required attestation of internal
controls. The increase in legal and professiored felated primarily to required additional SE@{jk and related activities, and corporate
advisory services. The increase in personnel cekited to the addition of personnel over the paslve months, an annual merit increase in
salaries, and increased performance bonus paynwetexpect our general and administrative expetesesntinue at similar levels in 2014.

Depreciation.Depreciation expense increased to $346,000 in #0013 $320,000 in 2012 due to depreciation on nepitabpurchases.

Other Income (Expense), ndh 2013, we had net other income of $38,000 corthéw net other expense of $1.1 million in 2012Iuded in
other income (expense), net, are interest incoareign currency gains and losses, and any reafjagt and losses on the sale of our assets.
Also, included in 2012 were the final cash andlstibased milestone payments to our former lendecsimection with our equity offerings
amounting to $1.3 million, net of a gain of $183)@®8lated to an equity-method investment that wepsdated in 2012.

(Expense) Income from Change in Fair Value of WiatisaExpense of $6.3 million and income of $2.4 miiliwas recognized during the ye
ended 2013 and 2012, respectively, for the chamgfeei valuation of our warrant liabilities.

Year Ended December 31, 2012 Compared to Year Erdleckmber 31, 2011

RevenuesRevenues decreased to $8.7 million for the yeae@mkecember 31, 2012 from $10.3 million for 201&nact revenue decreased
$1.6 million for the year ended December 31, 20dr#mared to the year ended December 31, 2011 aedtsethe impact of our arrangements
with Pfizer, RTI and Bristol-Myers Squibb. Our cmatt revenues reflect the amortization of Pfizgmpants, including a $6.0 million up-front
license fee, over the estimated performance péhiadended in June 2012, as well as the amortizati@ $3.0 million guaranteed license fee
from the RTI collaboration over the estimated perfance period that ended in 2011 and the final 88l@n license payments from RTI that
was recognized in the fourth quarter of 2012. Graménue remained consistent at $1.3 million ferytbar ended December 31, 2012 and 201
primarily due to expiring grants being replacedwiew grants.
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Research and Development ExpenResearch and development expenses increased ®rilion for the year ended December 31, 2012
from $18.9 million for the year ended DecemberZ11. The increase of $0.7 million related to amméase in clinical and preclinical
development costs of $558,000, an increase in pred@osts of $456,000 and an increase in ressamblies of $119,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2012 from the comparable period il 20hese increases were partially offset by a dserén patent legal fees of $330,000, a
decrease in stock compensation expense of $55000 decrease in sponsored research costs o0$20Q0r clinical and preclinical
development costs relate primarily to costs assediaith our MultiStem clinical trials, and refléotcreases in contract research organization
costs and clinical consulting costs in 2012, phytiaffset by less clinical manufacturing costs idgrthe year. Lastly, our clinical costs for the
year ended December 31, 2011 were net of the nomirtated Angiotech collaborati’s cost-sharing amount of $312,000. The increase in
personnel costs related to an increase in salanédonus, and the addition of personnel suppodimgreclinical and clinical programs. The
increase in research supplies related primariutgplies for increased personnel. The decreasatémplegal costs resulted from reduced pi
prosecution costs during the year. Sponsored refseasts decreased primarily due to a decreasem-funded programs that require
collaboration with academic research institutiddther than external expenses for our clinical aredlmical programs, we do not track our
research expenses by project; rather, we track sxgobnses by the type of cost incurred.

General and Administrative Expens€eneral and administrative expenses decreased8a$fion in 2012 from $4.9 million in 2011. The
$163,000 decrease in 2012 compared to 2011 waprduarily to a decrease in legal and professioeasfof $210,000 and a decrease in othe
general and administrative costs of $182,000 réledeutside services, partially offset by an iasein personnel costs of $235,000.

Depreciation.Depreciation expense increased to $320,000 in #0012 $278,000 in 2011 due to depreciation on nepitabpurchases.

Other Income (Expense), nédther income (expense), net, includes cash antt-st@sed milestone payments that were complet2dig to
our former lenders in connection with our equitfeahgs, amounting to $1.3 million in 2012 and $t#lion in 2011, foreign currency gains
and losses, and a gain of $183,000 related to aityemethod investment that was liquidated in 2012.

(Expense) Income from Change in Fair Value of WiaisaWe recognized income of $2.4 million and $0.8liomil in 2012 and 2011,
respectively, from the change in the valuationwfwarrant liabilities.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our sources of liquidity include our cash balareed any available-fosale securities. At December 31, 2013, we had $3il@n in cash an
cash equivalents. We have primarily financed owarapons through business collaborations, grardifghand equity financings. We conduct
all of our operations through our subsidiary, AB®ltHng Company. Consequently, our ability to fund operations depends on ABT Holding
Company’s financial condition and its ability to keadividend payments or other cash distributionsstoThere are no restrictions such as
government regulations or material contractualrayeanents that restrict the ability of ABT Holdingi@pany to make dividend and other
payments to us.

In January 2014, we completed a registered dirféetiog generating net proceeds of approximately.$nillion through the issuance of
5,000,000 shares of common stock and warrantsrithpse 1,500,000 shares of common stock with artisreprice of $4.50 per share that
expire on July 15, 2016. The securities were solthiltiples of a fixed combination of one share@imon stock and a warrant to purchase
0.30 shares of common stock at an offering price4o10 per fixed combination.

In December 2013, we completed a registered daféeting generating net proceeds of approximatd®®.$ million through the issuance of
10,000,000 shares of common stock and warrantarthpse 3,500,000 shares of common stock with arcise price of $2.50 per share that
expire on March 31, 2015. Of the 3,500,000 warraht#01,218 are not exercisable until June 3, 20hé.securities were sold in multiples ¢
fixed combination of one share of common stock amhrrant to purchase 0.35 shares of common staak affering price of $2.00 per fixed
combination.

In October 2012, we completed a public offeringayating net proceeds of approximately $18.3 milimrough the issuance of 19,802,000
shares of common stock at a price of $1.01 peesthaiNovember 2012, the underwriters exercisddlirtheir right to purchase an additional
2,970,300 shares of common stock, solely to cover-allotments. The exercise of the full over-atient option generated an additional $2.8
million of net proceeds.
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In March 2012, we completed a private placememrrfaing generating net proceeds of approximatel¥ 88llion through the issuance of
4,347,827 shares of common stock and five-yearamésrto purchase 4,347,827 shares of common stitislaw exercise price of $2.07 per
share. The securities were sold in multiples akad combination of one share of common stock an@ugant to purchase one share of
common stock at an offering price of $2.07 perdixembination. The warrants have adiitistion price protection, subject to certain exieps.
As a result of the October 2012 public offering amdccordance with the terms of the warrants, ewgbkt and obtained stockholder approvi
February 2013 to reduce the exercise price of theseants to $1.01 per share. In connection wiih phivate placement, our former lenders
were entitled to a milestone payment in the amo@i$900,000, of which 75% was settled in 2012 thfothe issuance of our common stock a
$1.94 per share at our election.

In February 2011, we completed a registered dofeting with net proceeds of $11.8 million throute issuance of 4,366,667 shares of
common stock and five-year warrants to purchase0]0®0 shares of common stock with an exercise @fi&3.55 per share. The securities
were sold in multiples of a fixed combination ofeoshare of common stock and a warrant to purch&sef@ share of common stock at an
offering price of $3.00 per fixed combination.

We entered into an equity purchase agreement vahird Capital in 2011, which provided that Aspirgp@al was committed to purchase up tc
an aggregate of $20.0 million of shares of our camistock over a two-year term, subject to our @edb sell any such shares. Under the
agreement, we had the right to sell shares, sutjexdrtain volume limitations and a minimum flgwice, at a modest discount to the preva
market price. As part of the agreement, Aspire Gapiade amnitial investment of $1.0 million in us throughetipurchase of 666,667 share:
our common stock at $1.50 per share in 2011, acelwed 266,667 additional shares as compensatidtsfoommitment. As of September 30,
2013, we had sold all the remaining shares tha¢ aeailable under the 8,000,000 shares of comnumk ségistered for resale under the eq
facility. In aggregate since its inception in 20f/E received gross proceeds of approximately $ad@l®n under the agreement, which was

to expire in January 2014.

In October 2013, we terminated the expiring eqpitychase agreement with Aspire Capital and entetedh new equity purchase agreement
with Aspire Capital to purchase up to an aggregh&25.0 million of shares of our common stock ozerew two-year period. The terms of the
2013 equity facility are similar to the previouseargement, and we issued 333,333 shares of our oarstock Aspire Capital as a commitm
fee in October 2013 and filed a registration stateinfior the resale of 10,000,000 shares of comrtark $n connection with the new equity
facility.

During the quarter ended December 31, 2013, we3@D00 shares under the Aspire equity purchaseagent at an average price per share
of $1.69 per share, and no shares were sold iguager ended December 31, 2012. During the yemtsdeDecember 31, 2013 and 2012, we
sold 6,566,666 and 800,000 shares, respectivelysppire Capital at average prices of $1.70 andBpes share, respectively. As of
December 31, 2013, we have received proceeds obeppately $13.4 million in aggregate under the Wsgquity purchase agreements since
2011.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, we redqiv@ceeds of approximately $402,000 from the égerof warrants aggregating in the
issuance of 397,826 shares of common stock. Wadtideceive any proceeds from the exercise of wtsria the year ended December 31,
2012. As of March 1, 2014, we received proceedsppfoximately $938,000 from the exercise of wasam2014.

In connection with our equity offerings, our fornienders were entitled to milestone payments antyl remaining balance of an original $2.25
million milestone was paid. We made cash and sbtaded milestone payments of $1.3 million to ounter lenders during the year ended
December 31, 2012, which settled the final balafdlis contingent obligation, paying 75% of thdestone through the issuance of our
common stock at our election.

Under the terms of our agreement with Pfizer, veeddigible to receive milestone payments of upX@5million upon the successful
achievement of certain development, regulatory@mmercial milestones, though there can be no asserthat we will achieve any
milestones. No significant milestone payments Haen received as of December 31, 2013. Pfizer pajsr manufacturing product for
clinical development and commercialization purpo&dizer has responsibility for development, retpiaand commercialization and will pay
us tiered royalties on any worldwide commerciaésalf MultiStem IBD products. Alternatively, in li®f royalties and certain
commercialization milestones, we may elect to ceettsp with Pfizer and the parties will share depeh@nt and commercialization expenses
and profits/losses on an agreed basis beginniRate 3 clinical development.

In 2011, we reached an agreement with Angiotedbrtainate the collaboration agreement and licees@d®en the parties, reflecting a change
in Angiotech’s business and financial strategyaAssult of the termination, we regained ownersiigll rights for developing our stem cell
technologies and products for cardiovascular des@aications, including AMI, congestive heart ta@é, chronic ischemia, and peripheral
vascular disease, and Angiotech no longer hasiesyde rights or options with respect to our teébgies and products. As part of the
termination agreement, if we enter into a new AMllaboration before November 14, 2014, and atithe bf the collaboration, we have made
certain progress in development, Angiotech couléliggble for 10% of any third-party license fegsto a maximum of $5.0 million.
Angiotech is not entitled to other downstream paytsiesuch as milestone payments, royalties or asfitysharing payments.
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Under the terms of our RTI agreement, we receivie@ fillion of license fee payments in 2010-2012atcordance with the agreement, we
are also eligible to receive an additional $35.Biomi in cash payments upon the successful achienéwrf certain commercial milestones,
though there can be no assurance that such mitesstiti be achieved, and no milestone payments baea received as of December 31,
2013. In addition, we will receive tiered royalti@s worldwide commercial sales of implants usingteghnologies. RTI commenced its
commercialization activities in 2014.

We remain entitled to receive license fees foratrghat were delivered to Bristol-Myers Squibbemaur completed 2001 collaboration, as
well as milestone payments and royalties on comgsudeveloped by Bristol-Myers Squibb using our tedbgy, though there can be no
assurance that we will achieve any such milestonesyalties.

In 2012, we entered into an arrangement with treb@lCardiovascular Innovation Center and the QéeClinic Foundation in which we &
entitled to proceeds of up to $500,000 in the fofra forgivable loan to fund certain remaining pirgcal work using MultiStem to treat
congestive heart failure and for preparing the mogfor an investigational new drug application|dD with the FDA. Interest on the loan
accrues at a fixed rate of 4.25% per annum, aadded to the outstanding principal. The loan wélifbrgiven based on the achievement of a
certain milestone, unrelated to the preclinical kyavithin three to four years. As of December 3112, we had drawn $166,000 of this
financing with a total balance of $176,000.

In 2013, we were awarded a federal grant thatpeeted to provide up to $2.8 million in supporadPhase 2 clinical study evaluating the
administration of MultiStem to patients who havéfexed an AMI. In 2012, we were awarded grant faigdaggregating $3.6 million to further
advance our MultiStem programs and cell theraptfgta, including further development of MultiSteir fthe treatment of TBI and further
development of our cell therapy formulations andafacturing capabilities, from federal, state amtldpean organizations.

In 2011, we entered into an alliance with Fast Fodya nonprofit subsidiary of the National Muléclerosis Society, pursuant to which Fas
Forward is funding the development of MultiStem tloe treatment of multiple sclerosis through ttiediof an IND. Fast Forward has
committed $640,000 to fund the advancement of tbgram to clinical development stage. In returrgrupuccessful achievement of certain
development and commercialization milestones, welevoemit certain milestone payments to Fast Fodwar

When we hold investments, our available-for-saig#es typically include United States governmebligations and corporate debt
securities. We have been investing conservative#ytd the ongoing economic conditions and haveipred liquidity and the preservation of
principal in lieu of potentially higher returns. Agesult, we have experienced no losses on theipai of our investments and have held our
investments until maturity. All available-for-saecurities had matured as of December 31, 2012, Although the unfavorable market and
economic conditions have resulted in a decreaseronarket capitalization, there has been no imperit to the value of our assets. Our fixed
assets are used for internal research and devefd@nd, therefore, are not impacted by these exttéantors.

We will require substantial additional funding irder to continue our research and product developpr®grams, including preclinical
evaluation and clinical trials of our product catates and manufacturing process development. Aémber 31, 2013, we had available cash
and cash equivalents of $31.9 million and aftemgj\effect to our January 2014 registered direfgrofg, we had more than $50 million of
available cash and cash equivalents. As a reselinignd to meet our short-term liquidity needsweaivailable cash. Over the longer term, we
will make use of available cash, but will have tmtinue to generate additional funding to meetremeds, through business development
opportunities, as well as grant-funding opportesitiAdditionally, we are raising capital from titeetime through the equity purchase
agreement with Aspire Capital, subject to its vaduamd price limitations. We also manage our castidigrring certain discretionary costs and
stage certain development costs to extend our tpeahrunway, as needed. Over time, we may considesale of additional equity securiti
or possibly borrowing from financing institutions.

Our capital requirements over time depend on a murabfactors, including progress in our clinicevglopment programs, our clinical and
preclinical pipeline of additional opportunitiesdatheir stage of development, additional exteroats such as payments to contract research
organizations and contract manufacturing orgaromati additional personnel costs, and the cosifing find prosecuting patent applications
and enforcing patent claims. The availability afidis impacts our ability to advance multiple clinipeograms concurrently, and any shortfa
funding could result in our having to delay or ailrtesearch and development efforts. Further giieguirements may change at any time due
to technological advances, business developmeinttacir competition from other companies. We canassure you that adequate funding

be available to us or, if available, that it wilt vailable on acceptable terms.

We expect to continue to incur substantial loskesugh at least the next several years and may losses in subsequent periods. The amoun
and timing of our future losses are highly uncert&ur ability to achieve and thereafter sustaofitability will be dependent upon, among
other things, successfully developing, commerdiajzand obtaining regulatory approval or cleararfoesur technologies and products
resulting from these technologies.
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Cash Flow Analysis

Net cash used in operating activities was $22.8anijl$17.7 million and $14.5 million in 2013, 2048d 2011, respectively, and represel
the use of cash in funding preclinical and clinidalelopment activities. We expect that net casll irs operating activities will increase in
2014 compared to 2013 in connection with increadiaital development activities for our MultiStemopluct candidates and platform. Net
cash used in operating activities has fluctuatgdiicantly on a quarter-to-quarter basis overphst few years primarily due to the receipt of
collaboration fees and payment of specific clintcall costs, such as clinical manufacturing camgpsaj contract research organization costs,
and manufacturing process development projects.

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activitiess $(0.4) million, $3.9 million and $8.6 million 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
fluctuations from period to period were due totingng of purchases and maturity dates of investsiand the purchase of equipment.
Purchases of equipment were $385,000, $347,008%1@,000 in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. ¥peet that our capital equipment
expenditures will continue at similar levels in 20dompared to 2013.

Financing activities provided cash of $29.6 milliar2013 related to the December 2013 registenettoffering, the exercise of common
stock warrants, and usage of the Aspire Capitaitegurchase facility. Financing activities provileash of $30.5 million in 2012 related to
March 2012 private placement, the October 2012ipuiflering, and usage of the Aspire Capital eqpitychase facility, and provided cash of
$12.6 million in 2011 related to the February 20@ddistered direct offering and the initial Aspirapgital investment in 2011.

Investors in certain of our equity offerings haeeeived warrants to purchase shares of our cominok, ©f which an aggregate of 8,909,027
warrants remain outstanding at December 31, 20ff8awveighted average exercise price of $2.04 Ipeeres During 2013, we received
$402,000 from the exercise of warrants by our itorss

Our contractual payment obligations as of Decem3tie£013 are as follows:

Payment due by Period

Contractual Obligations Total Less than 1 Yea 1-3 Years 3-5 Years More than 5 Years
Operating leases for facilities and equipment Ieas $ 933,00( $  483,00( $450,00( $ — $ —
Note payable (1 176,00( — 176,00( — —

$1,109,001 $  483,00( $626,00( — —

(1) Consists of a loan pursuant to an arrangeméhttiie Global Cardiovascular Innovation Center graCleveland Clinic, which is
forgivable upon the achievement of a certain milest

We lease office and laboratory space under opgrégases. Our lease for our corporate offices abdrhtories began in 2000 and currently
expires in March 2016, and we have the option n@weannually through 2019. Our rent is $267,000ygar and our rental rate has not
changed since the lease inception in 2000. Alsdease office and laboratory space for our Belgialosidiary that currently expires in July
2015 and includes options to renew annually thralugi 2022, and the annual rent of $197,000 isestltp adjustments based on an
inflationary index. Our total rent expense for@ibperties was $491,000 in 2013.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We have no off-balance sheet arrangements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Management Estimats

The SEC defines critical accounting policies as¢hthat are, in management’s view, important tgotrérayal of our financial condition and
results of operation and demanding of managemgmitsgment. Our discussion and analysis of finanoialdition and results of operations are
based on our consolidated financial statements;iwi@ve been prepared in accordance with Unitet@<Stgenerally accepted accounting
principles. The preparation of these financialestagnts requires us to make estimates on experamten various assumptions that we believ
are reasonable under the circumstances, the refuitsich form the basis for making judgments aktbetcarrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from otheurces. Actual results may differ from thosénestes.

A discussion of the material implications of unaérties associated with the methods, assumptiothestimates underlying our critical
accounting polices is as follows:

40



Table of Contents

Revenue Recognitio

Our license and collaboration agreements may contaitiple elements, including license and techgglaccess fees, research and
development funding, manufacturing revenue, coatiag, milestones and royalties. The deliverableden such an arrangement are evaluate
under Accounting Standards Codification, or ASG3-€8, Multiple-Element Arrangement&ffective January 1, 2011, we adopted ASU 2009
13, Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements, &A2009-13, which amended the guidance in ASC @&6rthe accounting for
arrangements involving the delivery of more thar element. Pursuant to the new standard, eachreelggeliverable is evaluated to determine
whether it qualifies as a separate unit of accogritiased on whether the deliverable has “standealalue” to the customer. The
arrangement’s consideration that is fixed or deteaivle is then allocated to each separate unitodunting based on the relative selling price
of each deliverable. In general, the consideraditotated to each unit of accounting is recognaethe related goods or services are delive
limited to the consideration that is not contingepon future deliverables.

We adopted this new accounting standard on a petigpébasis for agreements containing multiple eets entered into on or after January 1,
2011, and for any agreements entered into pridatwary 1, 2011, but materially modified on or rafitat date.

The primary impact of adopting the new standakjzected to be the earlier recognition of revemmuerfultiple element arrangements. The
adoption of ASU 2009-13 did not affect revenues W have earned through December 31, 2013. Thadhgs adopting this new accounting
standard is dependent on the terms and conditibaisyofuture arrangements that we may enter irab ittclude multiple elements and
arrangements entered into prior to January 1, #@dtlare materially modified. Depending on the ®ohany such arrangements, the adoptior
of this accounting standard may have a materiadohpn our consolidated results of operationsrarfcial position as it may have the potel
effect of less revenue deferral for new collaboraithan we have historically experienced. We reizegl revenue of $7.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2011 and deferred revenue bhdiBion as of December 31, 2011 pertaining tdatmbrations which were entered into
prior to our adoption of ASU 2009-13 and which weot modified on or after January 1, 2011. Thegranince period for our multiple
element arrangements has concluded.

For agreements entered into prior to January 11 20 not materially modified thereafter, we comdirio apply our prior accounting policy
with respect to such arrangements. Under this pdiiee deliverables under the arrangement are atedduo assess whether they have
standalone value and objective and reliable evig@fdair value, and if so, are accounted for amgle unit. We then recognize revenue for
each unit based on the culmination of the earnimgsess under ASC 605-S25, issued as Staff Acauyitilletin, or SAB, Topic 13, and our
estimated performance period for the single urfiscoounting based on the specific terms of eatlhlmarative agreement. We subsequently
adjust the estimated performance periods, if apfatsy on a prospective basis based upon avaifable and circumstances. Future changes i
estimates of the performance period may matenalpact the timing of future revenue recognized. Aimis received prior to satisfying the
revenue recognition criteria for contract revenaiesrecorded as deferred revenue in the accompabgiance sheets. Reimbursement amc
(other than those accounted for using collaboraimrounting) paid to us are recorded on a grods lmathe statements of operations as
contract revenues.

We recognize revenue from at-risk, performance stolees that are substantive in the period thatnttestone is achieved, as defined in the
respective contracts.

We entered into collaboration agreements with P&zel RTI that contain multiple elements and deéies. For a description of the
collaboration agreement and the determination ofreat revenues, see Note E to our audited coraelidfinancial statements incorporated by
reference into this prospectus.

Also included in contract revenue are license feesived from Bristol-Myers Squibb, which are sfieally set forth in the license and
collaboration agreement as amounts due to us lmasedr completion of certain tasks (e.g., delivang acceptance of a cell line) and
development milestones (e.qg., clinical trial phasasd as such, are not based on estimates thatiseceptible to change. Such amounts are
invoiced and recorded as revenue as tasks are eted@nd as milestones are achieved.

Similarly, grant revenue consists of funding undest reimbursement programs primarily from fedarad state sources for qualified research
and development activities performed by us, angliab, are not based on estimates that are sudeeptithange. Such amounts are invoiced
(unless prepaid) and recorded as revenue as tasksmpleted.

Collaborative Arrangements

Collaborative arrangements that involve cost anrierfprofit sharing are reviewed to determine theimesof the arrangement and the nature of
the collaborative parties’ businesses. The arraegisrare also reviewed to determine if one parsydode or primary responsibility for an
activity, or whether the parties have shared resipdity for the activity. If responsibility for aactivity is shared and there is no principal p¢
then the related costs of that activity are recogphiby us on a net basis in the statement of dpesate.g., total cost less reimbursement from
collaborator). If we are deemed to be the princfjzaty for an activity, then the costs and
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revenues associated with that activity are recaghan a gross basis in the statement of operafidresaccounting may be susceptible to
change if the nature of a collaborator’s businéssges. Currently, our only collaboration accouritgen a net basis is our cost-sharing
collaboration with Angiotech, which was terminatec®011.

Clinical Trial Costs

Clinical trial costs are accrued based on workgreréd by outside contractors that manage and mpertioe trials. We obtain initial estimates
total costs based on enrollment of subjects, ptoamagement estimates and other activities. Actosts are typically charged to us and
recognized as the tasks are completed by the abotyand if we are invoiced based on progress paysnas opposed to actual costs, we
develop estimates of work completed to date. Aatelmical trial costs may be subject to revisi@ssclinical trials progress, and any revision:
are recorded in the period in which the facts g rise to the revisions become known.

Stock-Based Compensation

We recognize stock-based compensation expenseeatrtight-line method and use a Black-Schole®pgiricing model to estimate the
grant-date fair value of share-based awards. Thea®&d term of options granted represent the perfitiche that option grants are expected to
be outstanding. We use the “simplified” method atcualate the expected life of option grants givenlonited history and determine volatility
by using our historical stock volatility. Estimatefsfair value are not intended to predict actudlife events or the value ultimately realized by
persons who receive equity awards.

Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grantramntbed, if necessary, in subsequent periods ifadébreitures differ from those estimates and
if our expectations on forfeitures changes. If atfarfeitures vary from the estimate, we will rgoize the difference in compensation expens
in the period the actual forfeitures occur or wgtions vest.

All of the aforementioned estimates and assump@oa®valuated on a quarterly basis and may chasfgcts and circumstances warrant.
Changes in these assumptions can materially affeatstimate of the fair value of our share-bassanents and the related amount recognize
in our financial statements.

Fair Value of Warrant Liabilities

The estimated fair value of warrants accountech$oliabilities, representing a level 3 fair valueasure, is determined on the issuance date a
subsequently marked to market at each financiartigyy date. The fair value of the warrants israatied using the expected volatility based ol
our historical volatility for warrants issued aftianuary 1, 2013, or for warrants issued prior0®3? using the historical volatilities of
comparable companies from a representative peapgelected based on industry and market capitalizaeach of which using a Black-
Scholes pricing model. The fair value of certainnanats is determined using probability weightedrage assumptions that give consideration
to contractual terms in the warrants, such as arcese price repricing feature, as defined.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE ON FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This annual report on Form 10-K contains forwarodkiog statements within the meaning of the PriBgeurities Litigation Reform Act of
1995 that involve risks and uncertainties. Thesedod-looking statements relate to, among otherghi the expected timetable for
development of our product candidates, our growetegy, and our future financial performance, udahg our operations, economic
performance, financial condition, prospects, afeeofuture events. We have attempted to identifwéod-looking statements by using such
words as “anticipates,” “believes,” “can,” “contiafl “could,” “estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “myd’ “plans,” “potential,” “should,”
“suggest,” “will,” or other similar expressions. @e forward-looking statements are only predictam are largely based on our current
expectations. These forward-looking statementsapipea number of places in this annual report.

” o " ou ” o ” o

In addition, a number of known and unknown riskg;artainties, and other factors could affect treueacy of these statements. Some of the
more significant known risks that we face are fhksrand uncertainties inherent in the processsabgering, developing, and commercializ
products that are safe and effective for use asahutmerapeutics, including the uncertainty regayaivarket acceptance of our product
candidates and our ability to generate revenues fdllowing risks and uncertainties may cause @twal results, levels of activity,
performance, or achievements to differ materiaiynf any future results, levels of activity, perf@mee, or achievements expressed or implie
by these forward-looking statements:

. our ability to raise capital to fund our operatip

. the timing of the results of PfiZ s Phase 2 clinical study involving MultiStem célétapy to ulcerative colitis patien
. final results from our MultiStem clinical trial

. the possibility of delays in, adverse results af] axcessive costs of the development prot

. our ability to successfully initiate and compleliical trials of our product candidate

. uncertainty regarding market acceptance of oodycet candidates and our ability to generate reegnncluding MultiStem cell
therapy for the prevention of GvHD and the treatnegnBD, AMI, stroke and other disease indicatip

. changes in external market factc
. changes in our indust's overall performanc
. changes in our business strate

. our ability to protect and defend our intelledtpeoperty and related business operations, inntythe successful prosecution of our
patent applications and enforcement of our paights, and operate our business in an environnfemaipid technology and
intellectual property developmet

. our possible inability to realize commercially valle discoveries in our collaborations with pharendical and other biotechnolo
companies

. our ability to meet milestones under our collaboratgreements

. our collaborator ability to continue to fulfill their obligations wer the terms of our collaboration agreem

. the success of our efforts to enter into new gfiateartnerships and advance our programs, inodiidiithout limitation, in Japar

. our possible inability to execute our strategy ttuehanges in our industry or the economy gener

. changes in productivity and reliability of suppsg

. the success of our competitors and the emergemeevotompetitors; an

. the risks mentioned elsewhere in this annual repoform 1-K under Item 1A“Risk Factors’
Although we currently believe that the expectatiefected in the forward-looking statements agsomable, we cannot guarantee our future
results, levels of activity or performance. We utaee no obligation to publicly update forward-laud statements, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise, excepothagrwise required by law. You are advised, howgteeconsult any further disclosures we

make on related subjects in our reports on Forr®,18-K and 10-K furnished to the SEC. You shouiderstand that it is not possible to
predict or identify all risk factors. Consequenghpu should not consider any such list to be a detagset of all potential risks or uncertainties.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK ET RISK
Interest Rate Risl

Our exposure to interest rate risk is related toimuestment portfolio and our borrowings. Fixeteraavestments and borrowings may have
their fair market value adversely impacted fromraes in interest rates. Due in part to these factaur future investment income may fall
short of expectations. Further, we may suffer Isssénvestment principal if we are forced to saturities that have declined in market value
due to changes in interest rates. When approfrasged on interest rates, we invest our excesspeashrily in debt instruments of the United
States government and its agencies and corporhteséeurities, and as of December 31, 2013, wenbddvestments. We have been investing
conservatively due to the current economic condiitiand have prioritized liquidity and the presapratf principal in lieu of potentially hight
returns. As a result, we have experienced no lamseise principal of our investments.

We enter into loan arrangements with financialiindbns when needed and when available to us. étdinber 31, 2013, we had no borrow
outstanding other than a forgivable note payaldeaated with local grant funding bearing fixedigiwable interest of 4.25% per annum.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
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Report of Independent Registered Public AccourfEinm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Athersys, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Athersys, Inc. as of December 31, 288132012, and the related
consolidated statements of operations and compsaleloss, stockholders’ equity and cash flowselach of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2013. Our audits also includefiiancial statement schedule listed in the Iratdtem 15(a) (2). These financial
statements and schedule are the responsibilityeo€ompany’s management. Our responsibility iscpyess an opinion on these financial
statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those standard:s
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether the finastaieiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on Blasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digds in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managenewnielhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements refer@alove present fairly, in all material respedts,¢onsolidated financial position of Athersys,
Inc. at December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the catzell results of its operations and its cash flimwgach of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2013, in conformity with U.Segelly accepted accounting principles. Also, in opinion, the related financial statem
schedule, when considered in relation to the Hasaaicial statements taken as a whole, presentyg faiall material respects the information
set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), Athersys, Inc.’s
internal control over financial reporting as of Batber 31, 2013, based on criteria establishedtémrial Control-Integrated Framework issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations offtreadway Commission (1992 framework) and our regated March 13, 2014 expressed
an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Cleveland, Ohio
March 13, 2014
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Athersys, Inc.

We have audited Athersys, Inc.’s internal contrardfinancial reporting as of December 31, 2013¢gllaon criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the CommitteSponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Cassion (1992 framework) (the
COSO criteria). Athersys Inc.’s management is rasijtide for maintaining effective internal contrales financial reporting, and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal cootret financial reporting included in the accompagyManagement's Report on Internal
Control over Financial Reporting in Iltem 9A. Ouspensibility is to express an opinion on the conyfmimternal control over financial
reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8d&/nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenalteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal coraxer financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, testing and etinagutihe design and operating effectiveness ofiiralecontrol based on the assessed risk, anc
performing such other procedures as we considezedssary in the circumstances. We believe thaawdit provides a reasonable basis for ou
opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableamesuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statet:iéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A
company'’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (ftajmeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettitansactions and dispositions of the assetsofdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatg@aparation of financial statements in accor@awith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely detectfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzaneterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Athersys, Inc. maintained, in akt@rial respects, effective internal control oveancial reporting as of December 31, 2013,
based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the consolidated
balance sheets as of December 31, 2013 and 20d Zhamnelated consolidated statements of operatindscomprehensive loss, stockholders’
equity and cash flows for each of the three yaathé period ended December 31, 2013 of Athersys,dnd our report dated March 13, 2014
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Cleveland, Ohio
March 13, 2014
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Athersys, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In Thousands, Except Share and Per Share Amounts)

December 31

2013 2012
Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivale $ 31,94¢ $ 25,53
Accounts receivabl 52C 49C
Prepaid expenses and otl 387 28€
Total current asse 32,85t 26,30¢
Equipment, ne 1,33: 1,29¢
Total asset $ 34,18¢ $ 27,60:
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 2,24¢ $ 1,761
Accrued compensation and related ben: 1,067 827
Accrued clinical trial cost 88 95(
Accrued expense 884 934
Deferred revenu 86 —
Total current liabilities 4,36¢ 4,47¢
Note payable 17¢€ 16¢
Warrant liabilities 9,82: 2,70¢
Stockholder equity:
Preferred stock, at stated value; 10,000,000 slzaurtt®rized, and no shares issued and outstantling a
December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2 — —
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 150,000,000 anddDOMO00 shares authorized at December 31, 2!
and December 31, 2012, respectively, 70,749,2158158,632 shares issued at December 31, 2
and December 31, 2012, respectively, and 70,68348(3,058,632 shares outstanding at
December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, resplyc 71 53
Additional paic-in capital 284,32: 253,88¢
Treasury stock, at cost; 65,732 shares at DeceBihe013 (13%) —
Accumulated defici (264,439 (233,69)
Total stockholder equity 19,82: 20,24"
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity $ 34,18¢ $ 27,60:

See accompanying notes.
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Athersys, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Compserehoss

(In Thousands, Except Share and Per Share Amounts)

Revenues
Contract revenu
Grant revenu
Total revenue
Costs and expense
Research and development (including stock compiemsexpense of $639, $150
and $205 in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectiv
General and administrative (including stock compéins expense of $884, $331
and $347 in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectiv
Depreciatior
Total costs and expens
Loss from operation
Other income (expense), r
(Expense) income from change in fair value of wats
Net loss

Basic and diluted net loss per common shai

Weighted average shares outstanding, basic and diad
Items included in other comprehensive income (lc
Proportional share of comprehensive (loss) incofrexjaity method
investmen
Unrealized loss on availal-for-sale securitie

Other comprehensive (loss) income ite
Comprehensive los:

See accompanying notes.
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Year Ended December 31

2013

$ 75%
1,68¢
2,43¢

20,48

6,06¢
34€

26,89
(24,45)

38
(6,329
$ (30,749

$ (059
57,674,83

$ (30,749

2012 2011
$ 7,38 $ 9,01
1,32¢ 1,32¢
8,70¢ 10,34«
19,63¢ 18,93(
4,75: 4,91¢
32¢ 27¢
24,70¢ 24,12
(16,007 (13,780
(1,139) (775
2,401 81z
$ (14,73 $ (13,746
$  (0.45 $ (059
32,556,78 23,239,01
(29) 28
— (26)
(29) 2
$ (14,769 $ (13,749
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Athersys, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

(In Thousands, Except Share Amounts)

Accumulated

Preferred Stock Common Stock Additional Other Total
Treasury . ,
Comprehensive  Accumulated — Stockholders
Number Stated Number Par Paid-in
of Share: Value of Shares  Value Capital Stock Income Deficit Equity
Balance at January 1, 2011 — $ — 18,930,67 $ 1¢ $ 214,17 $ — $ 26 $ (205,21) $ 9,00t
Stock based compensati — — — — 552 — — 552
Issuance of common stock and warrants, net
issuance cos! — — 5,556,58 5 11,48( — — 11,48¢
Net loss — — — — — — (13,74¢) (13,74¢)
Other comprehensive income (loss) ite — — — — — 2 — 2
Balance at December 31, 2C — — 24,487,26 24 226,20t — 28 (218,96() 7,29¢
Stock based compensati — — — — 481 — — 481
Issuance of common stock and warrants, net of
issuance cos! — — 28,561,55 2¢ 27,20: — — 27,23
Issuance of common stock under equity
compensation plar — — 9,81¢ — — — — —
Net loss — — — — — — (14,73Y) (14,73Y)
Other comprehensive income (loss) ite — — — — — (28) — (28)
Balance at December 31, 2C — — 53,058,63 52 253,88¢ — — (233,69} 20,24%
Stock based compensati — — — — 1,528 — — — 1,52¢
Issuance of common stock from warrant
exercise — — 397,82( — 797 — — 797
Issuance of common stock and warrants, net
issuance cos! — — 16,899,99 17 28,11 137 — — 28,26
Issuance of common stock under equity
compensation plar — — 327,02. 1 1 (272) — — 270
Net loss — — — — — — — (30,747) (30,747)
Balance at December 31, 201 — $ — 70,68348 $ 71 $ 284,32; $ (135 $ — $ (264,43H) $ 19,82

See accompanying notes.
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Athersys, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In Thousands)

Operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Depreciatior
Realized gain on investments and avail-for-sale securitie
Stoclk-based compensatic
Issuance of common stock to former lenc
Change in fair value of warrant liabiliti
Amortization of premium on availat-for-sale securities and oth
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl
Prepaid expenses and other as
Accounts payable and accrued expel
Deferred revenu
Net cash used in operating activit
Investing activities
Purchase of availat-for-sale securitie
Proceeds from maturities of availa-for-sale securitie
Purchases of equipme
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activi
Financing activities
Proceeds from note payat
Purchase of treasury sto
Proceeds from exercise of warra
Proceeds from issuance of common stock and warnaet
Net cash provided by financing activiti
Increase in cash and cash equivali
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of

Cash and cash equivalents at end of

See accompanying notes.
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Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011

$(30,749)  $(14,739)  $(13,746)
34¢€ 32( 27¢
— (189) (55)
1,52¢ 481 552
— 1,00¢ 682
6,32¢ (2,404) (812)
7 14 58
(30) 19¢ 1,74¢
(101) 58C (511)
(19€) 19¢ 98¢
86 (3,140 (3,669
(22,78) (17,665 (14,489
— — (12,509)
— 4237 21,67
(385) (347) (590)
(385) 3,89( 8,57¢

— 16€ —

(272) — —

40z — —
2945: 30,35 12,59t
29,58: 30,52 12,59¢
6,41¢ 16,74¢ 6,68(
25,53 8,78t 2,10¢
$31,04¢ $2553. $ 8,78¢
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Athersys, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

A. Background

We are an international biopharmaceutical comphayis focused primarily in the field of regeneratmedicine and operate in one business
segment. Our operations consist primarily of resdeand product development activities.

B. Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include capants and results of operations and those oivbotly-owned subsidiaries. All
intercompany accounts and transactions have beamated in consolidation. Investments in joint ttees are accounted for using the equity
method when we do not control the investee, buetibg ability to exercise significant influence ptkee investee’s operations and financial
policies. We liquidated our investment in our joienture in January 2012 and recognized a gairi®38$00.

Revenue Recognition

Our license and collaboration agreements may acontaitiple elements, including license and techgglaccess fees, research and
development funding, manufacturing revenue, coatiag, milestones and royalties. The deliverableden such an arrangement are evaluate
under Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 625, Multiple-Element ArrangementEffective January 1, 2011, we adopted ASU 2009-
13, Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangeme(isSU 2009-13"), which amended the guidance in A&I5-25 on the accounting for
arrangements involving the delivery of more thae efement. Pursuant to the new standard, eachreelggeliverable is evaluated to determine
whether it qualifies as a separate unit of accogritiased on whether the deliverable has “stanceatatue” to the customer. The arrangeneent
consideration that is fixed or determinable is thBocated to each separate unit of accountingcdbasdhe relative selling price of each
deliverable. In general, the consideration allogddteeach unit of accounting is recognized as ¢teged goods or services are delivered, limite
to the consideration that is not contingent updariideliverables.

We adopted this new accounting standard on a petigpébasis for agreements containing multiple &ets entered into on or after January 1,
2011, and for any agreements entered into pridatwary 1, 2011, but materially modified on or reffitat date.

The primary impact of adopting the new standaekjsected to be the earlier recognition of revemmuerfultiple element arrangements. The
adoption of ASU 2009-13 did not affect revenues W have earned through December 31, 2013. Thadhgs adopting this new accounting
standard is dependent on the terms and conditibaisyofuture arrangements that we may enter irab ittclude multiple elements and
arrangements entered into prior to January 1, #@dtlare materially modified. Depending on the ®ohany such arrangements, the adoptior
of this accounting standard may have a materiadthpn our consolidated results of operationsrarfcial position as it may have the potel
effect of less revenue deferral for new collabaraithan we have historically experienced.

For agreements entered into prior to January 11 20l not materially modified thereafter, we coméirio apply our prior accounting policy
with respect to such arrangements. Under this pdiie deliverables under the arrangement are ateduo assess whether they have
standalone value and objective and reliable evig@fdair value, and if so, are accounted for amgle unit. We then recognize revenue for
each unit based on the culmination of the earngmgsess under ASC 605-S25, issued as Staff Acauytilletin (“SAB”) Topic 13, and our
estimated performance period for the single urfilscoounting based on the specific terms of eatlhlwarative agreement. We subsequently
adjust the estimated performance periods, if appatgy on a prospective basis based upon avaifable and circumstances. Future changes i
estimates of the performance period may matenalpact the timing of future revenue recognized. Aimis received prior to satisfying the
revenue recognition criteria for contract revenaiesrecorded as deferred revenue in the accompabgiance sheets. Reimbursement amc
(other than those accounted for using collaboradmrounting) paid to us are recorded on a gross lmathe statements of operations as
contract revenues.
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Athersys, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (contial)

We recognize revenue from at-risk, performance stolees that are substantive in the period thatntestone is achieved, as defined in the
respective contracts.

Also included in contract revenue are license feesived from Bristol-Myers Squibb, which are sfieally set forth in the license and
collaboration agreement as amounts due to us lmasedr completion of certain tasks (e.g., delivang acceptance of a cell line) and
development milestones (e.qg., clinical trial phasasd as such, are not based on estimates thatisegeptible to change. Such amounts are
invoiced and recorded as revenue as tasks are eted@nd as milestones are achieved.

Similarly, grant revenue consists of funding unclest reimbursement programs primarily from fedaral state sources for qualified research
and development activities performed by us, angliab, are not based on estimates that are sudeeptithange. Such amounts are invoiced
(unless prepaid) and recorded as revenue as tesksmpleted.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid investments with ataréty of three months or less when purchased todst equivalents. Cash equivalents are
primarily invested in money market funds and conuia¢paper. The carrying amount of our cash eqaivial approximates fair value due to
the short maturity of the investments.

Research and Development

Research and development expenditures, which aqnsisarily of costs associated with external aaliand preclinical study fees,
manufacturing costs, salaries and related persmusts, legal expenses resulting from intelleghwaperty application processes, and
laboratory supply and reagent costs, includingatliamd allocated overhead expenses, are chargeghémse as incurred.

Collaborative Arrangements

Collaborative arrangements that involve cost auriiprofit sharing are reviewed to determine theingeof the arrangement and the nature of
the collaborative parties’ businesses. The arraegésrare also reviewed to determine if one partysade or primary responsibility for an
activity, or whether the parties have shared resipdity for the activity. If responsibility for aactivity is shared and there is no principal pg¢
then the related costs of that activity are recogphiby us on a net basis in the statement of dpesate.g., total cost less reimbursement from
collaborator). If we are deemed to be the princpzaty for an activity, then the costs and reverassociated with that activity are recognized
on a gross basis in the statement of operatioresathounting may be susceptible to change if the@af a collaborator’s business changes.
Our only collaboration accounted for on a net bagis our cost-sharing collaboration with Angiot&farmaceuticals, Inc. (“Angiotech”),
which was terminated in 2011.

Clinical Trial Costs

Clinical trial costs are accrued based on workgreréd by outside contractors that manage and pertioe trials. We obtain initial estimates
total costs based on enrollment of subjects, ptoimagement estimates and other activities. Acosts are typically charged to us and
recognized as the tasks are completed by the abotyand if we are invoiced based on progress paysmas opposed to actual costs, we
develop estimates of work completed to date. Aatlimical trial costs may be subject to revisiassclinical trials progress, and any revision:
are recorded in the period in which the facts tina rise to the revisions become known.

Royalties

We may be required to make future royalty paymemtertain parties based on product sales undmrdie agreements. We did not pay any
royalties during the three-year period ended Deeer8h, 2013.

Investments in Available-for-Sale Securities

We determine the appropriate classification of gtreent securities at the time of purchase and atiate such designation as of each balance
sheet date. Our investments typically consist atédhStates government obligations and corporabé skcurities, which are classified as
available-for-sale and are valued based on quaiedsiin active markets for identical assets (Léyelvailable-for-sale securities are carried
at fair value, with the unrealized gains and loseesof applicable tax, reported as a componeatofimulated other comprehensive income.
The amortized cost of debt securities is adjuste@mortization of premiums and accretion of disgeuo maturity. Such amortization or
accretion is included in interest income. Realigaths and losses on available-for-sale securitiesngluded in interest income. The cost of
securities sold is based on the specific identificamethod. Interest earned on securities cla&skiis available-for-sale is included in interest
income. None of our financial assets are in marltetsare not active.
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Long-Lived Assets

Equipment is stated at acquired cost less accuatlti#preciation. Laboratory and office equipmeatdepreciated on the straight-line basis
over the estimated useful lives (three to ten yeaeasehold improvements are amortized over tbetahof the lease term or estimated useful
life.

Long-lived assets are evaluated for impairment wédamnts or changes in circumstances indicate hieatdrrying amount of the asset or relatec
group of assets may not be recoverable. If the@rpduture undiscounted cash flows are less thararrying amount of the asset, an
impairment loss is recognized at that time. Measrg of impairment may be based upon appraisakehaalue of similar assets or
discounted cash flows.

Patent Costs and Rights

Costs of prosecuting and maintaining patents atehpaights are expensed as incurred. As of DeceBihe2013, we have filed for broad
intellectual property protection on our proprietéeghnologies. We currently have numerous UnitedeStpatent applications and
corresponding international patent applicationateal to our technologies, as well as many issudtttlStates and international patents.

Warrant Liabilities

We account for common stock warrants as eitheililigls or as equity instruments depending on iecsic terms of the warrant agreement.
Registered common stock warrants that could reauaish settlement or liquidated damages are acabéomtas liabilities. We classify these
warrant liabilities on the consolidated balanceeslas non-current liabilities. The warrant lialp#lit are revalued at fair value at each balance
sheet date subsequent to the initial issuance. 8§¢he Black-Scholes valuation model to value thegrant liabilities at fair value. The fair
value is estimated using the expected volatilitydabon our historical volatility for warrants isduagter January 1, 2013, or for warrants issuec
prior to 2013, using the historical volatilities @dmparable companies from a representative peepgelected based on industry and market
capitalization. The fair value of the warrants éetmined using probability weighted-average assiomg when appropriate. Changes in the
fair market value of the warrant are reflectedhia tonsolidated statement of operations as otkhemnie (expense).

Treasury Stock

Treasury stock is recorded at cost and any differdretween the cost basis and the selling priteeasury stock is recognized as additional
paid-in capital. Treasury stock is relieved onrstfin-first-out basis at actual cost. At Decem®&r2013, we had 65,732 shares of common
stock held in treasury and available for reissuance

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Unrealized gains and losses on our available-fler-securities, if any, and the proportional shdreomprehensive income and loss of our
equity method investment, which was liquidated0i2, are the only components of accumulated otpeehensive income.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Our accounts receivable are generally comprisedhafunts due from collaborators and granting auikerand are subject to concentration of
credit risk due to the absence of a large numbeustomers. At December 31, 2013, the majoritywfaccounts receivable are due from
granting authorities. We do not require collatérain these customers.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia United States requires management
make estimates and assumptions that affect the @noeported in the financial statements and acemryipg notes. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.
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Athersys, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (contial)

Stock-Based Compensation

We recognize stock-based compensation expenseeatriight-line method and use a Black-Schole®ogiricing model to estimate the fair
value of option awards. The expected term of ogtignranted represent the period of time that ofjiamts are expected to be outstanding. We
use the “simplified” method to calculate the expeédife of option grants given our limited histarfyexercise activity and determine volatility
by using our historical stock volatility. The faialue of our restricted stock units are equal todlosing price of our common stock on the date
of grant and is expensed over the vesting period stnaight-line basis. Estimates of fair valueraseintended to predict actual future events o
the value ultimately realized by persons that rexzeiquity awards.

Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grantrantbed, if necessary, in subsequent periods ifahébrfeitures differ from those estimates. If
actual forfeitures vary from the estimate, we retpg the difference in compensation expense impéred the actual forfeitures occur or when
options vest.

All of the aforementioned estimates and assumptima®valuated on a quarterly basis and may chamfpects and circumstances warrant.
Changes in these assumptions can materially affeatstimate of the fair value of our share-bassanents and the related amount recognize
in our financial statements.

The following weighted-average input assumptionsawesed in determining the fair value of the Conymatock options:

December 31

2013 2012 2011
Volatility 109.2% 117.3% 125.7%
Risk-free interest rat 1.5% 0.8% 1.5%
Expected life of optiol 6.14 year: 5.72 year 5.96 year
Expected dividend yiel 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Income Taxes

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are determbeeskd on the differences between the financialrtiggoand tax basis of assets and liabilities
and are measured using the tax rate and laws tlyriereffect. We evaluate our deferred income tatcedetermine if a valuation allowance
should be established against the deferred taxsassé the valuation allowance should be redugsased on consideration of all available
evidence, both positive and negative, using a “nlikedy than not” standard.

We had no liability for uncertain income tax pamits as of December 31, 2013 and 2012. Our politty iecognize potential accrued interest
and penalties related to the liability for uncertix benefits, if applicable, in income tax experidet operating loss and credit carryforwards
since inception remain open to examination by fguanthorities, and will for a period post utilizati

Net Loss per Share

Basic and diluted net loss per share has been dechpsing the weighted-average number of sharesmamon stock outstanding during the
period. We have outstanding options and warramisate not used in the calculation of diluted neslper share because to do so would be ai
dilutive. The following instruments were excludedrh the calculation of diluted net loss per shazedoise their effects would be anti-dilutive:

Year ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Outstanding options 5,129,57! 4,058,18 4,499,60.
Restricted stock unit 2,449,341 70,81« 39,30(
Outstanding warrani 8,909,02 5,806,85: 6,435,49

16,487,95 9,935,85 10,974,39

Reclassifications
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassifiesbbhform with current year presentations.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (contial)

C. Equipment
December 31

Equipment consists of (in thousanc 2013 2012
Laboratory equipment $ 6,70 $ 6,741
Office equipment and leasehold improveme 2,81¢ 3,84z
9,517 10,58:
Accumulated depreciatic (8,184 (9,289
$1,33¢ $ 1,29/

In 2013, we disposed of approximately $1.5 milladrobsolete laboratory equipment, office equipmeerd leasehold improvements, all of
which was fully depreciated.

D. Financial Instruments
Fair Value Measuremen
We classify the inputs used to measure fair vaite the following hierarchy:

Level 1 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets fortidahassets or liabilities

Level Z Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets forlsingissets or liabilities, or unadjusted quotedgxifor identical or similar ass¢
or liabilities in markets that are not active, mputs other than quoted prices that are obserdabtee asset or liability

Level & Unobservable inputs for the asset or liabil

The following table provides a summary of the ficiahassets and liabilities measured at fair value recurring basis as follows: (in
thousands):

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2013 Usi

Balance as o
Quoted Prices in Active Significant Other
December 31 Observable Inputs Significant
Markets for Identical Unobservable
Description 2013 Assets (Level 1. (Level 2) Inputs (Level 3
Warrant liabilities $ 9,82¢ $ — $ — $ 9,82:
Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2012 Usi
Balance as o
Quoted Prices in Active Significant Other
December Observable Inputs Significant
31, Markets for Identical Unobservable
Description 2012 Assets (Level 1) (Level 2) Inputs (Level 3
Warrant liabilities $ 2,70¢ $ — $ — $ 2,70¢

We review and reassess the fair value hierarctssifleations on a quarterly basis. Changes fromquater to the next related to the
observability of inputs in a fair value measurenmaty result in a reclassification between fair eahierarchy levels. There were no
reclassifications for all periods presented.

The estimated fair value of warrants accountec@$diabilities, representing a level 3 fair valueasure, was determined on the issuance date
and subsequently marked to market at each finaregalrting date. The fair value is estimated usiregexpected volatility based on our
historical volatility for warrants issued after Jamny 1, 2013, or for warrants issued prior to 2Qk3ng the historical volatilities of comparable
companies from a representative peer group seléeased on industry and market capitalization. Hievialue of the warrants is determined
using probability weighted-average assumptions,ndypropriate. The warrants issued in our Decer®®&8 offering were issued in two
series, since 1,401,218 of the total 3,500,000amsrissued are not exercisable until June 3, ZMd following inputs were used at
December 31, 2013:

“pn «gr
Warrants Issuec Warrants Issuec Warrants Issuec Warrants Issuec
December 2013 December 2013 March 2012 February 2011
Expected volatility 53.2% 51.7% 71.£% 73.5%
Risk-free interest rat 0.12% 0.12% 0.7¢% 0.3¢%
Expected life 1.25years 0.82years 3.20years 2.09years

Fair value at December 31, 201
(in thousands) $ 1,232 $ 65C $ 6,94« $ 997



56



Table of Contents

Athersys, Inc.
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A roll-forward of fair value measurements usingngfigant unobservable inputs (Level 3) for the vaauts is as follows (in thousands):

Year ended
December 31, 201
Balance January 1, 2013 $ 2,70¢
Issuance of warrants December 2! 1,18¢
Settlement: (396)
Loss included in other income (expense), net,Hergerioc 6,324
Balance December 31, 201 $ 9,82¢

Financing Arrangement

We lease office and laboratory space under opgrégases. The lease for our corporate offices alnoratories began in 2000 and currently
expires in March 2016, and we have the option n@weannually through 2019. Our rent is $267,000ygar and our rental rate has not
changed since the lease inception in 2000. Alsdease office and laboratory space for our Belgialpsidiary, which currently expires in July
2015 and includes options to renew annually thraligh 2022, with annual rent of $197,000, subjecdjustments based on an inflationary
index

Aggregate rent expense was approximately $491 015,000 and $397,000 in 2013, 2012 and 2011, c&sply. The future annual minimu
lease commitments at December 31, 2013 are appatedyr483,000 for 2014, $383,000 for 2015, $67 02016, and $0 for 2017.

In April 2012, we entered into an arrangement lith Global Cardiovascular Innovation Center anddleveland Clinic Foundation pursuant
to which we are entitled to proceeds of up to $800,in the form of a forgivable loan to fund cemte@maining preclinical work using
MultiStem to treat congestive heart failure anddmparing the program for an investigational newgdapplication with the United States F
and Drug Administration. Interest on the loan aesrat a fixed rate of 4.25% per annum, and is atléte outstanding principal. The
principal and interest on the loan will be forgivieased on the achievement of a certain milestame)ated to the preclinical work, within thr
to four years. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012hawe drawn $166,000 of this financing, which ideeted on the balance sheet as a non-
current note payable, including interest.

Our former lenders retained a right to receive liemg milestone payments up to $1.3 million as etPmber 31, 2011 (from an original
amount of $2.25 million) upon the occurrence otaierevents, and the final balance was settledllnrf 2012 in connection with equity
offerings during the year. We elected to pay 75%hefmilestone payments in shares of common stottleger-share offering prices in 2012
and $1.3 million in cash and stock-based milesfzmgnents were recognized as other expense in 202011, milestone expense was $0.9
million.

We paid no interest during the three years endextimber 31, 2013.

E. Collaborations and Revenue Recognition
Pfizer

In 2009, we entered into a collaboration with Rfiee. (“Pfizer”) to develop and commercialize ddultiStem® product candidate to treat
inflammatory bowel disease (“IBD”) for the worldvddnarket. Under the terms of the agreement, wevext@ non-refundable up-front
payment from Pfizer and research funding and sugpbmsugh June 2012. In addition, we are eligibledceive milestone payments upon the
successful achievement of certain development|atmy and commercial milestones, for which we aa#td the nature of the events
triggering these contingent payments and concltldatthese events constituted substantive milesttiveg will be recognized as revenue in
period in which the underlying triggering event o In concluding that each milestone is substantve considered factors such as whether
the associated consideration fairly representeettie level of effort required to reach the mibest or the value added to the product based o
the achievement of such milestone. No significaiéstone revenue has been recognized to date.

Pfizer pays us for manufacturing product for cladidevelopment and commercialization purposesePfias responsibility for development,
regulatory and commercialization and will pay @sdd royalties on worldwide commercial sales of tMitém IBD products. Alternatively, in
lieu of royalties and certain commercializationestbnes, we may elect to co-develop with Pfizerthedgarties will share development and
commercialization expenses and profits/losses aagaped basis beginning at Phase 3 clinical dewstop.

We evaluated the facts and circumstances of theeaggnt and determined the Pfizer agreement hadpheudeliverables that should be
combined into a single unit of accounting. We ratpgd the license and technology access fee ardnadsand development funding ratably
on a straight-line basis over the estimated perdmece period, which was completed mid-2012, and aredsmanufacturing revenue beginning
upon the culmination of the earnings process aodgmized it over the performance period of the teshdnit of accounting.
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Angiotech

In 2011, we reached an agreement with Angiotedbrtainate the collaboration agreement and licees@d®en the parties, reflecting a change
in Angiotech’s business and financial strategyaAssult of the termination, we regained ownersiigll rights for developing our stem cell
technologies and products for cardiovascular des@aications, including AMI, congestive heart @@, chronic ischemia, and peripheral
vascular disease, and Angiotech no longer hasiesyde rights or options with respect to our teébgies and products. As part of the
termination agreement, if we enter into a new AMllaboration before November 14, 2014, and atithe bf the collaboration, we have made
certain progress in development, Angiotech couléliggble for 10% of any third-party license fegsto a maximum of $5.0 million.

Angiotech is not entitled to other downstream paytsiesuch as milestone payments, royalties or aofitysharing payments. Prior to the
termination of the collaboration, our clinical costere recorded net of Angiotech’s cost-share raimsgments, which amounted to $312,000 ir
2011.

RTI Surgical, Inc

In 2010, we entered into an agreement with RTI Batginc. (“RTI"), formerly RTI Biologics, Inc.,d develop and commercialize biologic
implants using our technology for certain orthopeatiplications in the bone graft substitutes mardatler the terms of the agreement, we
received a $5.0 million license fee in installmewotswhich $3.0 million was guaranteed and receive?l010 and 2011, and $2.0 million was
contingent upon future events and considered aanidge milestone at the inception of the agreeméfgt evaluated the facts and
circumstances and determined the RTI agreemendhléghtions constituting deliverables and concluttet it has multiple deliverables,
including deliverables relating to the grant ofcaihse to our technology and performance of rebeamnd development services, and conclude
that these deliverables should be combined intoglesunit of accounting. We recognized the $3.0iom guaranteed license fee ratably on a
straight-line basis over the estimated performaered, which was completed in 2011.

In September 2012, RTI agreed to make the remaBa@ million license fee payments by December2B12, and we agreed to provide RTI
with certain technical support through December2RiL2. The $2.0 million consideration associatetth Wie amendment was recognized over
the performance period from September 2012 thradegember 2012.

We are also eligible to receive $35.5 million irslegayments upon the successful achievement @icedmmercial milestones. We evaluatec
the nature of the events triggering these contingapments and concluded that these events areastilie and that revenue will be recogni

in the period in which each underlying triggeringst occurs. In addition, we will receive tieregatiies on worldwide commercial sales, if
any, of implants using our technologies. No milastor royalty revenue has been recognized to date.

F. Capitalization and Warrant Liability
Capitalization

At December 31, 2013, we had 150.0 million shafemmon stock (100.0 million shares at DecembeR812) and 10.0 million shares of
undesignated preferred stock authorized. No shadneseferred stock have been issued as of Dece81her013.

The following shares of common stock were resefeeduture issuance:

December 31

2013 2012
Stock-based compensation plans 11,020,51 5,490,18:
Warrants to purchase common st— former lender: 149,02t 149,02t
Warrants to purchase common st— 2011 offering 1,310,001 1,310,00!
Warrants to purchase common st— 2012 offering 3,950,00. 4,347,82
Warrants to purchase common st— 2013 offering 3,500,001 —

19,929,53 11,297,03

In January 2014, we completed a registered diféetiog generating net proceeds of approximatel®.$illion through the issuance of
5,000,000 shares of common stock and immediatedycésable warrants to purchase 1,500,000 sharesnafnon stock with an exercise price
of $4.50 per share that expire on July 15, 201@. Sécurities were sold in multiples of a fixed camakion of one share of common stock and :
warrant to purchase 0.30 shares of common stoak affering price of $4.10 per fixed combination.
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In December 2013, we completed a registered diféeting generating net proceeds of approximat&§.4 million through the issuance of
10,000,000 shares of common stock and warrantartthpse 3,500,000 shares of common stock with arcise price of $2.50 per share that
expire on March 31, 2015. Of the 3,500,000 warrah#01,218 are not exercisable until June 3, 2Uhé.securities were sold in multiples ¢
fixed combination of one share of common stock améarrant to purchase 0.35 shares of common stk affering price of $2.00 per fixed
combination.

In October 2012, we completed a public offeringayating net proceeds of approximately $18.3 mildlmmmugh the issuance of 19,802,000
shares of common stock at a price of $1.01 pereshaNovember 2012, the underwriters exercisedllrtheir right to purchase an additional
2,970,300 shares of common stock, solely to cover-allotments. The exercise of the full over-afient option generated an additional $2.8
million of net proceeds.

In March 2012, we completed a private placemerarfaing generating net proceeds of approximately 88llion through the issuance of
4,347,827 shares of common stock and five-yearamésrto purchase 4,347,827 shares of common stitislaw exercise price of $2.07 per
share. The securities were sold in multiples akad combination of one share of common stock an@ugant to purchase one share of
common stock at an offering price of $2.07 perdixembination, and the warrants include price mtide in the event we sell stock below the
exercise price, as defined. As a result of the Ret@012 public offering and in accordance withtdrens of the warrants, we sought and
obtained stockholder approval in February 201%tuce the exercise price of these warrants to §ie0share.

In February 2011, we completed a registered doffeting with net proceeds of $11.8 million throute issuance of 4,366,667 shares of
common stock and five-year warrants to purchas&0]0®0 shares of common stock with an exercise mfié3.55 per share. The securities
were sold in multiples of a fixed combination ofoshare of common stock and a warrant to purch&sef@ share of common stock at an
offering price of $3.00 per fixed combination.

Aspire Capital

In November 2011, we entered into an equity purelzgeement, which provides that Aspire Capitald-whC (“Aspire Capital”) is
committed to purchase up to an aggregate of $20l@mof shares of our common stock over a twonfteam, subject to our election to sell
any such shares. Under the agreement, we hav@thida sell shares, subject to certain volumethitions and a minimum floor price, at a
modest discount to the prevailing market price pAg of the agreement, Aspire Capital made arainitvestment of $1.0 million in us through
the purchase of 666,667 shares of our common stiogk.50 per share in 2011, and received 266,66ifiaubl shares as compensation for its
commitment. In 2012, we sold an additional 800,808res to Aspire Capital at an average price &#®fier share.

In October 2013, we terminated the expiring 201ditgqpurchase agreement with Aspire Capital anérextinto a new equity purchase
agreement with Aspire Capital to purchase up taggregate of $25.0 million of shares of our commsimek over a new two-year period. The
terms of the 2013 equity facility are similar t@ threvious arrangement, and we issued 333,333sshioeir common stock Aspire Capital as &
commitment fee in October 2013 and filed a regigmastatement for the resale of 10,000,000 shafreemmon stock in connection with the
new equity facility. In 2013, we sold an aggrega 66,666 shares to Aspire Capital at an average pf $1.70 per share under both equity
purchase agreements (300,000 shares were soldydhdamuarter ended December 31, 2013 at an avprageof $1.69 per share). As of
December 31, 2013, we have received aggregateguisa# approximately $13.4 million under both egpiirchase agreements since their
inception.

Warrant Liabilities

The warrants we issued in the December 2013 registiirect offering contain a provision for a cgstyment in the event that the shares are
not delivered to the holder within two trading dayke cash payment equals $10 per day per $2,08@mwént shares for each day late. The
warrants we issued in both the March 2012 privédegment and the February 2011 registered diréetinf) each contain a provision for net
cash settlement in the event that there is a fuedéshtransaction (e.g., merger, sale of substgnél assets, tender offer, or share exchange)
If a fundamental transaction occurs in which thesideration issued consists of all cash or stockron-public company, then the warrant
holder has the option to receive cash equal taakBbEcholes value of the remaining unexercisedgodf the warrant. Further, the March
2012 warrants include price protection in the eweatsell stock below the exercise price, as defikada result of the October 2012 public
offering and in accordance with the terms of theramts, we sought and obtained stockholder appiovétbruary 2013 to reduce the exercise
price of these 4,347,827 warrants to $1.01 pereshar

The warrants have been classified as liabilitisg@posed to equity, due to the potential adjustritetihe exercise price that could result upon
late delivery of the shares or potential cashesgitint upon the occurrence of certain events asided@bove, and are recorded at their fair
values at each balance sheet date. See Note D.
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As of December 31, 2013, we had the following @rtdtng warrants to purchase shares of common stock:

Number of

Underlying Shares Exercise Price

Expiration

149,02¢ $5.00 June 8, 201.
1,310,001 $3.55 February 2, 201
3,950,00. $1.01 March 14, 201"
3,500,001 $2.50 March 31, 201!
8,909,02'

G. Stock-Based Compensation

We have two incentive plans that authorized aneggge of 11,500,000 shares of common stock fordsmaremployees, directors and
consultants, which reflects an increase in shardwazed of 6,000,000 that was approved in 204&s€ equity incentive plans authorize the
issuance of equity-based compensation in the fdrstock options, stock appreciation rights, restdcstock, restricted stock units,
performance shares and units, and other stock-lzasandls to qualified employees, directors and dtensts. As of December 31, 2013, a total
of 479,490 shares of common stock have been issuger our equity incentive plans.

As of December 31, 2013, a total of 3,441,585 share available for issuance under our equity @msation plans and stock-based awards
to purchase 7,578,925 shares of common stock westanding. We recognized $1,523,000, $481,0006a6@,000 of stock-based
compensation expense in 2013, 2012 and 2011, risggc

Stock Options

The weighted average fair value of options gramezD13, 2012 and 2011 was $1.42, $1.21 and $2B8Hhare, respectively. The total fair
value of options vested during 2013, 2012 and 2044 $585,000, $420,000 and $570,000, respectid¢lpecember 31, 2013, total
unrecognized estimated compensation cost relatedwested stock options was approximately $1,6&6,@@ich is expected to be recognized
by mid-2017 using the straight-line method. Theghieéd average contractual life of unvested optairidecember 31, 2013 was 9.34 years.
The aggregate intrinsic value of fully vested optafvares and option shares expected to vest ascgfiber 31, 2013 was $402,000.

A summary of our stock option activity and relabefibrmation is as follows:

Weighted
Average
Number Exercise

of Options Price
Outstanding January 1, 2011 4,308,01: $ 4.7¢
Grantec 213,58t 2.61
Forfeited / Terminated / Expire (22,000 3.4¢€
Outstanding December 31, 20 4,499,60: 4.6:
Grantec 290,15( 1.44
Forfeited / Expirec (731,56 4.92
Outstanding December 31, 20 4,058,18: 4.3¢
Grantec 1,336,92! 1.71
Exercisec (1,312 1.2¢
Forfeited / Expirec (264,22) 3.3¢€

Outstanding December 31, 2013

Vested during 2013
Vested and exercisable at December 31, 20

512957 $ 3.7

383,80¢ $ 1.8¢
3,896,38: $ 4.3t

December 31, 201
Options Vested and Exercisabli

Options Outstanding

Weighted Weighted
Average Weighted Average Weighted

Remaining Remaining
Number Contractual Average Number Contractual Average
of Exercise of Exercise
Exercise Price Options Life Price Options Life Price
$1.13-2.94 1,988,57! 8.1¢ $ 1.8¢ 756,13: 6.2¢ $ 2.0¢
$3.10-5.00 3,033,501 337 $ 4.8t 3,032,75 337 $ 4.8¢
$5.28-7.80 107,50( 59¢ $ 5.2¢ 107,50( 5.9¢ $ 5.2¢

5,129,57! 3,896,38:
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Restricted Stock Uni
A summary of our restricted stock unit activity asethted information is as follows:

Number

of Weighted

Restricted Average
Stock Units Fair Value

Outstanding January 1, 2011 — $ —
Grantec 39,30( 2.6¢€
Outstanding December 31, 20 39,30( 2.6¢
Grantec 56,71¢ 1.4:
Veste-common stock issue (9,819 2.6¢
Forfeited/expirec (15,38) 1.8¢
Outstanding December 31, 20 70,81« 1.8¢
Grantec 2,851,96. 1.71
Veste-common stock issue (468,359 1.72
Forfeited/expirec (5,079) 1.77
Outstanding December 31, 2013 2,449,341 $ 1.71
Vested/Issued cumulative at December 31, 2013 478,17¢ $ 1.7¢

The weighted average fair value of restricted stouks granted in 2013 was $1.71 per share. Tl fait value of restricted stock units vested
during 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $805,000, $26,08G8nrespectively. At December 31, 2013, totakangnized estimated compensation
cost related to unvested restricted stock unitsapamsoximately $3,954,000, which is expected todoegnized by mid-2017 using the straight:
line method.

H. Income Taxes

We had net operating loss and research and develupax credit carryforwards of approximately $32,%00 and $1,473,000, respectively
December 31, 2013, and approximately $71,522,0804r176,000, respectively at December 31, 201eh Sisses and credits may be use
reduce future taxable income and tax liabilitied will expire at various dates between 2033 and1203

Additionally, as of December 31, 2013, we haveapatrating loss carryforwards of approximately $24,800 (“Section 382 Limited NOL")
that are limited to an annual net operating loss/f@ward of $1,833,000. This limitation under $ien 382 of the Internal Revenue Code was
a result of our equity offering in October 2012 eT®ection 382 Limited NOL may be used to reduceréutaxable income and tax liabilities
and will expire at various dates between 2014 @812

Significant components of our deferred tax assetsa follows (in thousands):

December 31

2013 2012

Net operating loss carryforwar $ 8,97( $ 24,31¢
Net operating loss carryforwar— Section 382 Limited NOI 11,737 2,271
Research and development credit carryforw. 1,47: 4,17¢
Compensation expen 3,35:¢ 2,94¢
Other 50¢ 502
Total deferred tax asse 26,04: 34,22:
Valuation allowance for deferred tax ass (26,047 (34,22))
Net deferred tax asse $ — $
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Because of our cumulative losses, the deferredsagts have been fully offset by a valuation alloseaWe have not paid income taxes for the

three-year period ended December 31, 2013.

I. Profit Sharing Plan and 401(k) Plan

We have a profit sharing and 401(k) plan that cegeibstantially all employees and allows for diserary contributions by us. We make
employer contributions to this plan, and the expemas approximately $97,000 in 2013, $98,000 ir22@hd $88,000 in 2011.

J. Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

The following table presents quarterly data forykars ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, in thdeisarcept per share data:

2013
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Full Year
Revenues $ 326 $ 571 $ 621 $ 92C $ 2,43¢
Net loss $(9,389) $(5,946 $(5.619) $(9,799 $(30,749)
Basic and diluted net loss per common sl $ (0.1 $(0.11) $ (0.10) $ (0.15) $ (0.5%
2012
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Full Year
Revenues $2,747 $2657 $1,01t $2,28¢ $ 8,70¢
Net loss $(4,330  $(3,719) $(3,449 $(3,23) $(14,73Y)
Basic and diluted net loss per common sl $(0.17 $(0.15 $(0.12) $ (0.07) $ (0.4%

Due to the effect of quarterly changes to outstagm@hares of common stock and weightings, the ahossper share will not necessarily ec

the sum of the respective quarters.
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ITEM9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
Not applicable

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of disclosure controls and proceduresAn evaluation was carried out under the supervisioth with the participation of our
management, including our principal executive @ffiand our principal financial officer, of the effveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures as of the end of the period coverethibyahnual report on Form 10-K. Based on that eatan, these officers have concluded that
as of December 31, 2013, our disclosure contradspracedures are effective.

Management'’s report on internal control over finandal reporting: Management is responsible for establishing and taigimg adequate
internal control over financial reporting, as stietm is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Einthe supervision and with the
participation of management, including our printigeecutive officer and principal financial officave conducted an evaluation of the
effectiveness of internal control over financighoeting based on the 1992 framework in Internalt@dr— Integrated Framework issued by
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tred@ommission. Based on this evaluation under 882 framework in Internal Control
— Integrated Framework, management concluded thrainternal control over financial reporting wasesffive as of December 31, 2013. The
effectiveness of our internal control over finahcéporting as of December 31, 2013 has been alititernst & Young LLP, an independent
registered public accounting firm, as stated inrtheport, which is included in Item 8 of this amhweport on Form 10-K and incorporated
herein by reference.

Changes in internal control: During the fourth quarter of 2013, there has beenhange in our internal control over financialogjmg that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likelyrtaterially affect, our internal control over fir@al reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

On January 17, 2014, the Board of Directors of@benpany, upon the recommendation of the Compems&tionmittee of the Board of
Directors of the Company, approved a cash bonwenine plan, or the Plan, for the year ended Deesr@b, 2014 for the named executive
officers of the Company. The Plan provides thahgaarticipant is eligible to earn a bonus during @lvard term of January 1, 2014 through
December 31, 2014. The Plan provides for the fallgwarget bonus percentages of the named exeafficer’s salary during the award ter
weighted as set forth below on the achievemenpeti§ied corporate goals, with the remainder baseohdividual/functional performance. T
corporate goals include advancing the Companysazl programs for MultiStem, advancement of sgat@artnership and program activities,
and executing against the established operatinmggyid capital acquisition objectives. There isaroally adopted plan document for the Plan

Targe

Weighting on
Title Bonus Corporate Goa
Chief Executive Officer 6C% 10C%
President & Chief Operating Offic: 45% 80%
Executive Vice President & Chief Scientific Offic 45% 80%
Executive Vice President, Regenerative Medi 4C% 60%
Vice President of Financ 3C% 60%

A summary of the plan is attached to this annyabreon Form 10-K as Exhibit 10.55 and is herelmpiporated herein by reference thereto.
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PART lIl
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE
The persons listed below are the directors andutixecofficers of the Company as of March 13, 2014.

Name Age  Current Position and Office

Gil Van Bokkelen, Ph.D. 53 Chief Executive Officer, Chairman and Director
William (B.J.) Lehmann, Jr., J.I 48 President and Chief Operating Offic

John J. Harrington, Ph.I 46 Chief Scientific Officer, Executive Vice Presidemtd Directol
Robert Deans, Ph.I 62 Executive Vice President of Regenerative Medit
Laura K. Campbell, CP, 50 Vice President of Financ

Lee E. Babiss, Ph.L 58 Director (Lead Director

Ismail Kola, Ph.D 57 Director

Lorin J. Randal 70 Director

Kenneth H. Traul 52 Director

Jack L. Wyszomiersk 58 Director

Executive Officers and Directo

Gil Van Bokkelen, Ph.D.. Dr. Van Bokkelen has served as our Chief Exgeufifficer and Chairman since August 2000. Dr. Van
Bokkelen co-founded Athersys, Inc. in 1995 and egras Chief Executive Officer and Director sinae @ompany’s founding. Prior to May
2006, he also served as the Company’s President/drBokkelen served as the Chairman of the Atkafor Regenerative Medicine from
2010 through 2012, a Washington D.C. based comnsomif companies, patient advocacy groups, diseaselhtions, and clinical and research
institutions that are committed to the advanceroétite field of regenerative medicine, and now esex officio. He is also the Chairman of
the Board of Governors for the National CenterRegenerative Medicine, and has served on a nunile¢her boards, including the
Biotechnology Industry Organizati®ECS board of directors (from 2001 to 2004, anchf2008 to present). He received his Ph.D. in Ges
from Stanford University School of Medicine, his®Bin Economics from the University of CaliforniaBerkeley, and his B.A. in Molecular
Biology from the University of California at Berlesl.

Dr. Van Bokkelen brings to the Board leadershiggersive business, operating, financial and sciergitperience, and tremendous
knowledge of our Company and the biopharmaceutichistry. Dr. Van Bokkelen also brings his broaatsigic vision for our Company to the
Board of Directors and his service as the ChairarahChief Executive Officer of Athersys createsitical link between management and the
Board, enabling the Board to perform its oversighttion with the benefit of management’s perspestion the business. In addition, having
the Chief Executive Officer, and Dr. Van Bokkel@nparticular, on our Board of Directors providas €ompany with ethical, decisive and
effective leadership.

John J. Harrington, Ph.D .. Dr. Harrington co-founded Athersys in 1995 aad berved as our Chief Scientific Officer, Exeoritifice
President and Director since our founding. Dr. hhgon led the development of the RAGE technolagywell as its application for gene
discovery, drug discovery and commercial protewmdpiction applications. He is a listed inventor @8ra20 issued or pending United States
patents, has authored numerous scientific pubdinatiand has received numerous awards for his wuarkiding being named one of the top
international young scientists by MIT Technologywke in 2002. Dr. Harrington has overseen the theutic product development programs
at Athersys since their inception, and is also $eclion the clinical development and manufacturingatiStem® . During his career, he has
also held positions at Amgen and Scripps Clinicréteived his B.A. in Biochemistry and Cell Biolofygm the University of California at S
Diego and his Ph.D. in Cancer Biology from Stanfordversity.

Dr. Harrington’s scientific experience and deepersthnding of our Company, combined with his dftaweinnovation and excellence,
position him well to serve on the Board of Direstor

Executive Officer

William (BJ) Lehmann, Jr., J.D. Mr. Lehmann joined Athersys in September 2001 aaglderved as our President and Chief Operatin
Officer since June 2006. Prior to that time, Mrhb@ann was Athersys’ Executive Vice President ofp@cate Development and Finance from
August 2002 until June 2006, when he became AtseRagsident and Chief Operating Officer. From 1892001, Mr. Lehmann was with
McKinsey & Company, Inc., an international managetro®nsulting firm, where he worked extensivelyhaiiew technology and servitasec
businesses in the firm’s Business Building practitor to joining McKinsey, he worked at Wilsomr&ini, Goodrich & Rosati, a Silicon
Valley law firm, and worked with First Chicago Corgation, a financial institution. Mr. Lehmann regaid his J.D. from Stanford University,
his M.B.A. from the University of Chicago, and #sA. from the University of Notre Dame.
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Robert J. Deans, Ph.DDr. Deans joined Athersys in February 2003 to lg@dCompany’s regenerative medicine research and
development activities and has served as our Execuice President since June 2011. Prior to tina tDr. Deans was Vice President of
Regenerative Medicine, until he was named Senioe Yresident of Regenerative Medicine in June 2806 Executive Vice President in June
2011. Dr. Deans is highly regarded as an expestem cell therapeutics, with over twenty yearsxgfegience in this field. From 2001 to 2003,
Dr. Deans worked for early-stage biotechnology canigs. Dr. Deans was formerly the Vice PresideiRegearch at Osiris, a biotechnology
company, from 1998 to 2001 and Director of ResearcthDevelopment with the Immunotherapy DivisiorBakter International, Inc., a glol
healthcare company, from 1992 to 1998. Dr. Dearsalgd previously on faculty at USC Medical Schodlos Angeles, between 1981 and
1998, in the departments of Microbiology and Neoggl at the Norris Comprehensive Cancer CenterDBans was an undergraduate at MIT,
received his Ph.D. at the University of Michigandalid his post-doctoral work at UCLA in Los Anggle

Laura K. Campbell, CPA. Ms. Campbell joined Athersys in January 1998 arsldsaved as our Vice President of Finance since Jun
2006. Ms. Campbell joined Athersys initially as @otier, followed by Director of Finance and Seniirector of Finance, and currently ser
as Vice President of Finance. Prior to joining Ays, she was at Ernst & Young LLP, a public actiogrfirm, for 11 years in the firm’s audit
practice. During her tenure with Ernst & Young LIN#s. Campbell specialized in entrepreneurial sewiand the biotechnology industry se
and participated in several initial public offermadgis. Campbell received her B.S., with distinctionBusiness Administration from The Ohio
State University.

Directors

Lee E. Babiss, Ph.D Dr. Babiss has served as Lead Director sincelf2ct®013 and as a Director since August 2010. Bbig is
currently Chief Scientific Officer and Executivedéi President of Discovery Innovation of PPD, laccpntract research organization, wher
has served since February 2010, and Chief ExecOfffieer of X-Rx, a majority-owned subsidiary of BPInc., providing strategic direction
and scientific leadership in support of drug dissgv Dr. Babiss was formerly President and DirecfoGlobal Pharmaceutical Research at
Roche, a pharmaceutical company, from 1998 urgibppointment at PPD, Inc. Prior to Roche, Dr. Babkpent seven years with Glaxo, Inc.,
now GlaxoSmithKline, a pharmaceutical company, wher held senior positions, including Vice PresidéiBiological Sciences and
Genetics. Dr. Babiss received his doctorate in dhi@mlogy from Columbia University and completed p@stdoctoral fellowship at the
Rockefeller University, where he served as an @sgisand associate professor. Dr. Babiss has mt@ivmerous fellowship awards and grants
and serves on several scientific advisory commnsttewl boards. Dr. Babiss has published over 60rpeawed scientific papers.

Dr. Babiss’ brings over 20 years of experience tgpieg and leading research and development progriiis strategic leadership and
product development knowledge provide a valuabiepgestive to the Board.

Ismail Kola, Ph.D . Dr. Kola has served as a Director since Octob&02Dr. Kola is currently Executive Vice PresidehUCB S.A. in
Belgium, a biopharmaceutical company dedicateti¢adevelopment of innovative medicines focusedherfields of central nervous system
and immunology disorders, and President of UCB Neadicines, UCB’s discovery research through prde¢ancept organization, since
November 2009. Dr. Kola was formerly Senior Vice$ident, Discovery Research and Early Clinical Rete& Experimental Medicine .
Schering-Plough Research Institute, the pharmazadutsearch arm of Schering-Plough Corporatighaamaceutical company, and Chief
Scientific Officer at Schering-Plough Corporatifnom March 2007 until his appointment at UCB. PtioiSchering-Plough, Dr. Kola held
senior positions from January 2003 to March 200Mextck, a pharmaceutical company, where he wasog#fice President and Site Head,
Basic Research. From 2000 to 2003, Dr. Kola wae Wiesident, Research, and Global Head, Genomiescgcand Biotechnology, at
Pharmacia Corporation, a pharmaceutical companmgr frhis position with Pharmacia, Dr. Kola spé&btyears as Professor of Human
Molecular Genetics and was Director of the CentreFunctional Genomics and Human Disease at Moktestical School in Australia.

Dr. Kola received his Ph.D. in Medicine from theitrsity of Cape Town, South Africa, his B.Sc. frolne University of South Africa, and t
B.Pharm. from Rhodes University, South Africa. Rola served on the board of directors of Astex apeutics (NASDAQ: ASTX) since Me
2010 until its sale to Otsuka Pharmaceuticals itoer 2013, and currently serves on the boardrettiirs of Biotie Therapies (and previously
Synosia who merged with Biotie) since February 2@t previously served on the board of directbGrdek Pty Ltd from 2009 to 2011,
Promega Corporation from 2003 to 2007. Dr. Koladuathored 160 technical publications in scientficd medical journals and is the named
inventor on at least a dozen patents. Dr. Kola$éldjunct Professorships of Medicine at Washindtioiversity in St. Louis, Missouri, and
Monash University Medical School; a Foreign AdjuRcbfessorship at the Karolinska Institute in Stadin, Sweden; and was elected Willi
Pitt Fellow at Pembroke College, Cambridge Univgrdinited Kingdom in 2008. Dr. Kola has also begpointed a Visiting Professor at
Oxford University, Nuffield School of Medicine, OQxfd UK, since September 2012.

For more than 20 years, Dr. Kola has created abrimbtween the scientific and academic worlds thawagious projects funded by

renowned institutes, and Dr. Kola’s experience laadership in taking numerous drugs from the retestage to market or late stage
development brings a unique and valuable perspetdiour Board.
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Lorin J. Randall. Mr. Randall has served as a Director since Septe@0¥. Mr. Randall is an independent financialstdtant and
previously was Senior Vice President and Chief iaiel Officer of Eximias Pharmaceutical Corporatiardevelopment-stage drug
development company, from 2004 to 2006. From 2002004, Mr. Randall served as Senior Vice PresidadtChief Financial Officer of i-
STAT Corporation, a publicly-traded manufacturenaddical diagnostic devices that was acquired blyod_aboratories in 2004. From 1995
to 2001, Mr. Randall was Vice President and ChieéRcial Officer of CFM Technologies, Inc., a pablitraded manufacturer of
semiconductor manufacturing equipment. Mr. Randaliently serves on the boards of directors of Adadfherapeutics, Inc. (NASDAQ:
ACOR) since 2006, where he serves as chairmaredauldit committee and is a member of the compeansatid nominations and governance
committees, Nanosphere, Inc. (NASDAQ: NSPH) sine@8?2 where he serves as chairman of the audit ctieenand Tengion, Inc. (OTCQB:
TNGN) since 2008, where he serves as chairmanecddidit committee and a member of the compenseatioimmittee. He previously served on
the board of directors of Opexa Therapeutics, (NASDAQ: OPXA) from 2007 to 2009, where he servedhair of the audit committee.

Mr. Randall received a B.S. in accounting from Hesmnsylvania State University and an M.B.A. fronrtReastern University.

Mr. Randall’'s strong financial and human resoutzaskground and his service on the audit and conapenscommittees of other
companies provides expertise to the Board, inctydim understanding of financial statements, comgigrspolicies and practices, corporate
finance, developing and maintaining effective intdrcontrols, accounting, employee benefits, inmesits and capital markets. These qualities
also formed the basis for the Board’s decisionpypoint Mr. Randall as chairman of the Audit Comadtand the Compensation Committee.

Kenneth H. Traub . Mr. Traub has served as our Director since J@i& 2Mr. Traub is currently the President and Chieécutive
Officer of Ethos Management LLC since 2009, whiphdalizes in investing in and enabling companiesxecute strategies to build and
unlock stockholder value, and Mr. Traub is alsaently general partner of Rosemark Capital, a peieauity firm since 2013. Mr. Traub
served as President, Chief Executive Officer anelctlor of American Bank Note Holographics, Inc. ABNH, a global leader in product and
document security, from 1999 until its sale in 26@3DS Uniphase Corporation, or JDSU, a providemptical products and measurement
solutions for the communications industry. Mr. Tsananaged the turnaround, growth and sale of AB&id, under his leadership, ABNH'’s
stockholders achieved a gain exceeding 1000 perEslowing the sale of ABNH, Mr. Traub served ais&/President of JDSU in 2008. In
1994, Mr. Traub co-founded Voxware, Inc., a piorieeéloice over IP’ communication technologies amted as its Executive Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer and director until June 89®rior to Voxware, he was Vice President of Foeaf Trans-Resources, Inc. Mr. Traub
currently serves on the boards of directors offtflewing publicly traded companies: (i) MRV Commigations, Inc. (OTC: MRVC) since
November 2011 and as Chairman since January 20i&2evihe is a member of the audit committee, congtimscommittee and nominatii
and governance committee; (ii) DSP Group, Inc. (WA®: DSPG) since May 2012 where he is a membeh@tbmpensation committee and
strategic committee; (iii) Vitesse SemiconductorfcdNASDAQ: VTSS) since March 2013, where he mamber of the compensation
committee; and (iv) Xyratex Limited (NASDAQ: XRT>X)jnce June 2013, where he is a member of the aowlimittee. Mr. Traub also served
on the board of Phoenix Technologies Ltd. (NASDATER) from November 2009 through its sale in Decan2®40, where he was a mem
of the audit committee and compensation committesjed on the board of MIPS Technologies, Inc. (RA®: MIPS) from November 2011
through its sale in February 2013, where he wasmlper of the audit and governance committee, angéden the board of iPass, Inc.
(NASDAQ: IPAS) from June 2009 through June 2013erghthe was a member of the compensation commitgkéha corporate governance
and nominating committee. Mr. Traub received a M.Brom Harvard Business School in 1988 and a Brédm Emory University in 1983.

As a director for Athersys, Mr. Traub contributés éxtensive experience and expertise in managidggeowing companies to maximize
shareholder value.

Jack L. Wyszomierski. Mr. Wyszomierski has served as a Director since 2010 and is currently retired. From 2004 umsl
retirement in June 2009, Mr. Wyszomierski servethasExecutive Vice President and Chief Financifficer of VWR International, LLC, a
supplier and distributor of laboratory suppliesyipgnent and supply chain solutions to the globs¢agch laboratory industry. From 1982 to
2004, Mr. Wyszomierski held positions of increasiagponsibility within the finance group at SchgrPlough Corporation, a pharmaceutical
company, culminating with his appointment as Exe@elVice President and Chief Financial Officer 898. Prior to joining Schering-Plough,
he was responsible for capitalization planningogtManufacturing Company, a producer of mining pquént, and was a management
consultant at Data Resources, Inc., a distributeconomic data. Mr. Wyszomierski currently sergaghe board of directors of Xoma
Corporation (NASDAQ: XOMA) since 2010, where hecat®rves as chairman of the compensation comnaittdes a member of the audit
committee, and Exelixis, Inc. (NASDAQ: EXEL) sin2804, where he serves as chairman of the audit dbeemMr. Wyszomierski was alsc
member of the board of directors and chairman efatidit committee at Unigene Laboratories, Inc. (OUGNE) from 2012 to 2013.

Mr. Wyszomierski holds a M.S. in Industrial Admitretion and a B.S. in Administration, ManagemerieB8ce and Economics from Carnegie
Mellon University.

Mr. Wyszomierski's extensive financial reportingcaunting and finance experience and his servigh®mudit committees of other
public companies, as well as his experience irhtdathcare and life sciences industries, providemtial expertise to the Board, including an
understanding of financial statements, corporai@fte, developing and maintaining effective intecoatrols, accounting, investments and
capital markets.
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Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compdince

Based solely on a review of reports of ownershépports of changes of ownership and written reptasiens under Section 16(a) of the
Exchange Act that were furnished to the Companindusr with respect to fiscal year 2013 by persahs were, at any time during fiscal year
2013, Directors or officers of the Company or bémnelf owners of more than 10% of the outstandingres of common stock, all filing
requirements for reporting persons were met.

Code of Ethics

Athersys has adopted a code of ethics that apjgligs principal executive officer, principal finaial officer and principal accounting
officer. Athersys’ code of ethics is posted undher investors tab of its website at www.athersys.osthersys will post any amendments to, or
waivers of, its code of ethics that apply to itepipal executive officer, principal financial offr and principal accounting officer on its
website.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseelmgdccounting and financial reporting processelefCompany and the audits of the
financial statements of the Company. The Audit Cattem is also directly responsible for the appoietiy compensation, retention and
oversight of the work of the Company’s independartitors, including the resolution of disagreemémtisveen management and the auditors
regarding financial reporting. Additionally, the ditt Committee approves all relatparty transactions that are required to be disdigsgsuar
to Item 404 of Regulation 8- The current members of the Audit Committee aweriJ. Randall, Kenneth H. Traub and Jack L. Wysiroski.
The Board of Directors has determined that eadfiroRandall, Mr. Traub and Mr. Wyszomierski is aautlit committee financial expert,” as
defined in Item 407(d)(5)(ii) of Regulation S-K,chan “independent director,” as defined in the NASDIisting standards.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Executive Summary

This section discusses the principles underlyingesecutive compensation policies and decisionstia@anost important factors relevant
to an analysis of these policies and decisiornsotides qualitative information regarding the manand context in which compensation is
awarded to and earned by our named executive tffieghich include Dr. Gil Van Bokkelen, our Chiefdeutive Officer, Ms. Laura Campbe
our Vice President of Finance, Mr. William (B.J8hmann, Jr., our President and Chief Operatingc@ffiDr. John Harrington, our Executive
Vice President and Chief Scientific Officer, and Robert Deans, our Executive Vice President ofdRegative Medicine, and places in
perspective the data presented in the compendatites and narratives that follow.

We are an international biotechnology company ith&dcused primarily in the field of regenerativedicine. Our MultiStem cell therapy
has been evaluated in two completed Phase 1 dlinigks and is currently being evaluated in twayoimg Phase 2 clinical trials, as well as an
investigatorled Phase 1 trial. We are also applying our phaeuiical discovery capabilities to identify and deypesmall molecule compoun
with potential applications in indications suchoiesity, related metabolic conditions and certaaralogical conditions. These represent
areas of clinical need, as well as substantial cernial opportunities. As further discussed in #@stion, our compensation and benefit
programs help us attract, retain and motivate iddals who will maximize our business results bykirag to meet or exceed established
company or individual objectives. In addition, vesvard our executive officers for meeting certaimelepmental milestones, such as
completing advancements in product candidate dpwamt, strategic partnerships or other financaigeactions that add to the capital
resources of the Company or create value for stidkins.

The following are the highlights of our 2013 comgation and benefit programs:
. increased the base salaries of our named exealfficers;
. paid cash bonuses to our named executive offi
. granted stock options to our named executive aBiceder a newly implemented annual equity comp@arsprogram
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. terminated incentive agreements established in 2@@5vould have provided our named executive effiavith bonus
opportunities in the event of a financing transattimerger or acquisition, or asset sale transaetial, in exchange, granted
restricted stock units to the executives that vest three years; ar

. amended our Athersys, Inc. Amended and Restated P@@g-Term Incentive Plan (Amended and RestatéecEde
June 18, 2013), or LTIP, to, among other thingsréase the shares of common stock available theéegl

The following discussion and analysis of our congagion and benefit programs for 2013 should be tegether with the compensation
tables and related disclosures that follow thigisacThis discussion includes forward-looking staents based on our current plans,
considerations, expectations and determinationatadi compensation program. Actual compensati@isias that we may make for 2014
and beyond may differ materially from our recengtpa

Compensation Objectives and Philosophy

Our executive compensation programs are designed to

. recruit, retain, and motivate executives and emgagythat can help us achieve our core business;

. provide incentives to promote and reward supermafggmance throughout the organization, which werrto as Pay for
Performance

. facilitate stock ownership and retention by ouraetves and other employees; ¢
. promote alignment between executives and other@mapbk and the lo-term interests of stockholde

The Compensation Committee seeks to achieve ttigsetives by:
. establishing a compensation program that is maxeipetitive and internally fai

. linking individual and corporate performance wiirtain elements of compensation through the usgoity grants, cash
performance bonuses or other means of compens#i®ralue of which is substantially tied to th@iawement of our
Company goals; an

. when appropriate, given the nature of our businesgarding our executive officers for both Company individual
achievements with o-time performance award

At the 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, appneaiely 95% of the votes cast were voted in favahefapproval of our named
executive officer compensation. Our Compensatiom@dtee believes that the stockholder vote reirdsrihe objectives and philosophy of
executive compensation programs.

Components of Compensation

Our executive compensation program includes tHevidhg elements:

. base salary

. cash bonuse:

. long-term equity incentive plan awards; &

. retirement and health and other insurance ben

Our Compensation Committee has not adopted anyalasminformal policies or guidelines for allocajicompensation between long-
term and currently paid-out compensation, betweeh @and non-cash compensation or among differemsfof non-cash compensation. We

consider competitive practices, relative manageneei and operating responsibilities of each ekgeuwfficer when determining the
compensation elements to reward his or her akdifynpact short-term and long-term results.
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Role of the Chief Executive Officer

Historically, our Chief Executive Officer has takér lead in providing our Board of Directors wéttivice regarding executive
compensation. For 2013, the Compensation Comnatiesidered recommendations from our Chief Execuliffecer regarding the
compensation for and performance of our executifieess in relation to company-specific strategaats that were established by the
Compensation Committee and approved by the BoaRrettors. These achievements related to potembialis payments and salary incree
The Compensation Committee considers the recomniendanade by our Chief Executive Officer becauskei®knowledge of the business
and the performance of the other executive officEhe@ Compensation Committee is not bound by thatiit receives from our Chief
Executive Officer. Instead, the Compensation Consmiexercises independent discretion when makiagutive compensation decisions. We
describe and discuss the particular compensaticisidas made by the Compensation Committee regauttiem 2013 compensation of our
named executive officers below under “Elementsxddative Compensation.”

Role of the Independent Compensation Consultant

From time to time, the Compensation Committee besimed the services of an independent compensatiosultant, Arnosti Consultin
Inc., or Arnosti. During 2013, at the request &f @ompensation Committee, Arnosti assisted the @osgtion Committee in evaluating the
base salaries to be paid to named executive daéfamed the annual equity awards to be granted copapde. Also during 2013, Arnosti
provided peer company data and advice with regpdbe increase of the shares of common stockablaiunder the LTIP and the elimination
of our 2005 incentive program with our named exeeutfficers (sed.ong-Term Incentive Prografater in this section). The Company pays
the cost for Arnosti’'s services. However, the Congagion Committee retains the sole authority tealirterminate or engage Arnosti's
services. In 2013, the Compensation Committee densil and assessed all relevant factors, inclualibgot limited to, those set forth in Rule
10C-1(b)(4)(i) through (vi) under the Exchange Abgt could give rise to a potential conflict ofdrest with respect to Arnosti's work. Based
on this review, we are not aware of any conflicimdérest that has been raised by the work perfdrinyeArnosti.

Elements of Executive Compensation

Base Salary We pay base salaries to provide executive offigath a competitive level of financial security eVéstablish base salaries
for our executives based on the scope of theirorsipilities, taking into account competitive markempensation paid by other companies fo
similar positions. Base salaries are generallyesggd annually, with adjustments based on the iddalis responsibilities, performance and
experience during the year. This review generatlyuos each year following an annual review of ifdlial performance.

In general, the Company and the executive teanopeed well in 2013 against many key goals and olvjes, as measured against the
metrics of key programmatic achievements (e.gnjadi and preclinical development), operational aggegment and financial performance (e
adherence to budgetary goals and objectives, bakimeet), intellectual property (e.g., patent issaa and new filings, competitive positioni
and business development, among others. Each éasyierformance was evaluated based on the Coyigpparformance as a whole,
combined with an evaluation of individual perforroaragainst specific goals and objectives relexahtd or her area of responsibility. Over
the majority of corporate goals were achieved ih3Q®aking into account that a business partnersagpnot achieved, which was, and
continues to be, an important goal.

For 2013, the Compensation Committee and the Bofalbdrectors approved an increase in base salafly6i% for 2013 as compared to
2012 for the Chief Executive Officer, an adjustmieased on both performance and on competitivenmdition provided to the Compensation
Committee by Arnosti. Also for 2013, the CompermatCommittee and the Board of Directors approvedeiases for each of the other named
executive officer’'s salary for 2013 as compare@@&?2 based primarily on Company performance folytree ended December 31, 2012. The
increases were as follows: Mr. Lehmann — 3.5%;Hawrington — 3.45%; Dr. Deans — 3.42%; and Ms. Caafip- 3.33%.

For 2014, the Compensation Committee and the Bofalbdrectors approved an increase in base sala?yQff% for 2014 as compared to
2013 for the Chief Executive Officer, an adjustmieased on both performance and on competitivenmdition provided to the Compensation
Committee by Arnosti. Also for 2014, the CompermatCommittee and the Board of Directors approvedeiases for each of the other named
executive officer’'s salary for 2014 as compare@@&3 based primarily on Company performance forytree ended December 31, 2013. The
increases are as follows: Mr. Lehmann — 2.05% Harrington — 2.06%; Dr. Deans — 2.04%; and Ms. Caetip- 2.07%.

Cash BonusesGiven the nature of our business, when appragnia reward our named executive officers with graneince-related
bonuses. We utilize annual incentive bonuses targwfficers and other employees for achievingrfaial and operational goals and for
achieving individual annual performance objectivEsese objectives relate generally to strategitofacincluding advancement of our product
candidates, identification and advancement of amdit programs or product candidates, establishmedtmaintenance of key strategic
relationships, and to financial factors, includmagsing capital, adherence to budgets and cashgeament.

69



Table of Contents

The Compensation Committee recommended and thedBggroved a cash bonus incentive program for ¢élae gnded December 31,
2013 for our named executive officers. Under th&dcentive program, each participant was eligiblearn a target bonus of a specified
percentage of the named executive officer’'s salanng the award term, weighted on the achieveraggpecific corporate goals, with the

remainder based on individual/functional performaras set forth below:

Weighted Or
Target Bonu Corporate Goa Functional Performan
Dr. Van Bokkelen 40% 100% 0%
Dr. Harrington 33% 80% 20%
Mr. Lehmanr 33% 80% 20%
Dr. Deans 30% 60% 40%
Ms. Campbel 25% 60% 40%

The evaluation of goal achievement is at the digmmeof Compensation Committee and Board of Directzased on input from the Chief
Executive Officer (with respect to the named exeudfficers other than the Chief Executive Officérhe 2013 corporate goals included
program and collaboration goals, progress on MidtiSclinical development, and execution againsestablished budget and operating plan.
However, any bonus ultimately paid under the 20t@mtive program was to be at the discretion oBbard of Directors based on the
recommendation of the Compensation Committee, gfied faith consideration of executive officer penfiance, overall company
performance, market conditions and cash availgibilibere was no formally adopted plan documenthier2013 incentive program, although
the Compensation Committee recommended and thelBd&irectors approved the specific corporate gaalrget bonus levels and
weightings between corporate and functional peréoroe. The Compensation Committee and the Boardretlors agreed that each of the
named executive officers would be entitled to ausonnder the 2013 incentive program as a resuftddfidual performance and the
achievement of operational and strategic objecliv@913, specifically the achievement of patiemoiment goals for the Company’s clinical
trials and other program development and sectaleleship goals, resulting in the payment of bonbsegd on a percentage of such officers’

2013 base salaries as follows:

Bonus Achieve Cash Bonus Pa
Dr. Van Bokkelen 26.4% $ 118,80(
Dr. Harrington 22.€% $  83,50(
Mr. Lehmanr 22.€% $ 84,00(
Dr. Deans 20.4% $ 65,00(
Ms. Campbel 17.€% $  42,00(

For the year ending December 31, 2014, the Compensaommittee recommended and the Board of Dirsapproved a similar cash
bonus incentive plan for our named executive offic&he 2014 plan includes the following changethéotarget bonus percentage for our

named executive officers.

Weighted Or
Target Bonu Corporate Goa Functional Performan
Dr. Van Bokkelen 60% 100% 0%
Dr. Harrington 45% 80% 20%
Mr. Lehmanr 45% 80% 20%
Dr. Deans 40% 60% 40%
Ms. Campbel 30% 60% 40%

The 2014 corporate goals include advancing strafggfitnership and program activities, advancingastdeving enroliment goals for ¢
clinical programs for MultiStem, and executing agaithe established operating plan and capitalisitigpm objectives.

Long-Term Incentive ProgramNe believe that we can encourage superior long-performance by our executive officers and
employees through encouraging them to own, andtasgithem with the acquisition of, our common &td@ur equity compensation plans
provide our employees, including named executiieers, with incentives to help align their inteiewith the interests of our stockholders.
believe that the use of common stock and stockebagerds offers the best approach to achievingbjarctive of fostering a culture of
ownership, which we believe will, in turn, motivaiar named executive officers to create and enhstockholder value. We have not adopted
stock ownership guidelines, but our equity compgosalans provide a principal method for our exeaiofficers to acquire equity in our

company.
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Our equity compensation plans authorize us to geanbng other types of awards, options, restristedk and restricted stock units, or
RSUs, to our employees, Directors and consult&hstorically, we elected to use stock options asprimary long-term equity incentive
vehicle. However, we began awarding RSUs to ourer@ctutive employees in 2011 and to our named ¢ixecofficers in 2013. We expect to
continue to use equity-based awards as a longiteremtive vehicle because we believe:

» equity-based awards align the interests of ouruiezs with those of our stockholders, support wfea-performance culture, foster
an employee stock ownership culture and focus theagement team on increasing value for our stodehns}

 the value of equity-based awards is based on atwmpgance, because all the value received by tbipient of equity-based awards is
based on the growth of our stock pri

» equity-based awards help to provide a balancect@tlerall executive compensation program becausie Wase salary and our
discretionary annual bonus program focus on skont-performance, vesting equity-based awards reimardases in stockholder
value over the longer term; a

 the vesting period of equ-based awards encourages executive retention aortisefd preserve stockholder vali

In 2013, we granted 540,000 stock options and 20000RSUs to our named executive officers, as ase#itock options and RSUs to our
other employees. We revised our long-term equitgmtive program for our named executive officer80A3, as described further below, in
connection with the termination of an outdated mi@ program and the initiation of an ordinary-csiannual award program.

In 2005, in connection with a restructuring of aternal programs, the Board established the 206&ritive Program to retain and
motivate our executives, which would have compeststte named executive officers in the event okeger, acquisition or asset sale
transaction. The 2005 Incentive Program becameateddor a variety of reasons, and, in 2013, the@msation Committee and the Board
determined that the 2005 Incentive Program shoeldliminated in exchange for a one-time award dd® %nd that an ordinary course annua
award program for our named executive officers khba implemented. In April 2013, the Compensattmmmittee approved amendments
whereby the named executive officers would agregerminate their incentive agreements, and thetleby005 Incentive Program, in return
one-time grants of RSUs for their past service gerflormance, and for the ability to receive anmgrahts under our Amended LTIP. Each
named executive officer entered into such a tertiinaagreement and received the following numbeR&Us in June 2013: 695,040 for
Dr. Van Bokkelen; 570,551 for Dr. Harrington; 57806for Mr. Lehmann; 491,162 for Dr. Deans; and 869,for Ms. Campbell. These RSUs
will vest ratably and quarterly over a three-yeamnt. The Compensation Committee utilized the sesviaf Arnosti to assist in the development
of a fair and rational approach to the eliminaiidithe 2005 Incentive Program and the number oftone RSUSs.

Annual equity awards in the ordinary course of bess, which were initiated in June 2013 for our ed@xecutive officers once the 2(
Incentive Program was eliminated, are tied to ficsnich as performance, peer and market analysldptal equity ownership level of each
named executive officer, and further enhance ttention and long-term stock ownership featuresusfemuity incentive program. In
determining the number of stock-based awards wréeted to named executive officers, we review atipour named executive officers’
equity ownership positions, and we take into actthm individual’s scope of responsibility, abiliy affect results and stockholder value,
anticipated future contributions to increases iarsholder value, and the value of equity-based dsviarrelation to other elements of the
individual named executive officer’s total compeima We also review competitive compensation dateassessment of individual
performance, a review of each named executiveasffie@xisting long-term incentives, retention colesations and a subjective determination
of the individual’s potential to positively impafttture stockholder value. Equity-based awards eaatgd from time to time by the
Compensation Committee and the Board of Directsit, input from independent compensation consudtaas appropriate. The following
stock option awards were granted to our named eixecofficers in June 2013 as part of the progranrdutine annual equity-based awards:
185,000 for Dr. Van Bokkelen; 100,000 for Dr. Hagion; 115,000 for Mr. Lehmann; 80,000 for Dr. Dgaand 60,000 for Ms. Campbell.

Retirement and Insurance BenefitSonsistent with our compensation philosophy, veéntain benefits for our named executive officers,
including medical, dental, vision, life and dis@iigiinsurance coverage and the ability to contebiat a 401(k) retirement plan. The named
executive officers and employees have the abiityarticipate in these benefits at the same leVéésbegan making employer contributions to
our 401(k) retirement plan in 2011 and contribuapgdroximately $97,000 in 2013. We provide suchregtent and health insurance benefits tc
our employees to retain qualified personnel.

In addition, Dr. Van Bokkelen, Dr. Harrington, Mrehmann, Dr. Deans and Ms. Campbell also receivagamy-paid life insurance
benefits in the amounts of $2.0 million for Dr. VBokkelen, Dr. Harrington and Mr. Lehmann, and $tiion for Dr. Deans and
Ms. Campbell. These additional life insurance pesicare provided to these officers due to theiersive travel requirements and contributions
to the Company.

71



Table of Contents

Severance Arrangements

See the disclosure under “Potential Payments Ugomihation or Change of Control” for more infornmatiabout severance
arrangements with our named executive officers Wéeide such severance arrangements in order tweaigat our executives will focus on
the best interests of the business at all timethowt undue concern for their own financial segurit

Employment Agreements and Arrangements

We believe that entering into employment agreemeittseach of our named executive officers was seagy for us to attract and retain
talented and experienced individuals for our selgeel positions. In this way, the employment agreets help us meet the initial objective of
our compensation program. Each agreement con&imstand arrangements that we agreed to througstlarmgth negotiation with our named
executive officers. We view these employment agergmas reflecting the minimum level of compensatiat our named executive officers
require to remain employed with us, and thus thirdiek of our compensation program for our nameagteee officers. For more details of
our employment agreements and arrangements, sdesthesure under “2013 Summary Compensation Table.

General Tax Deductibility of Executive Compensation

We structure our compensation program to compli Witernal Revenue Code Section 162(m). Under &edt62(m) of the Code, there
is a limitation on tax deductions of any publiclghth corporation for individual compensation to aartexecutives of such corporation
exceeding $1.0 million in any taxable year, unkegscompensation is performancased. The Compensation Committee manages outtive
programs to qualify for the performance-based exemphowever, it also reserves the right to previmpensation that does not meet the
exemption criteria if, in its sole discretion, &tdrmines that doing so advances our businesstlgiec
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2013 Summary Compensation Table

The following table and narrative set forth certaiformation with respect to the compensation eduthéring the fiscal year ended

December 31, 2013 by our named executive officers.

Option All Other
Stock Awards (2) Compensatior
Name and Principal Salary Awards (1) Total
Position Year ($) Bonus ($) (%) ($) (%) (4)
Gil Van Bokkelen, 201 $450,00( $118,80( $1,188,51i $264,55( $ $2,034,48:
Chief Executive 12,62(
Officer (3) 201z $430,000 $107,50( $ 0 $ 0 $ 12,62( $ 550,12
2011 $404,50( $ 40,000 $ 0 $ 0 $ 1262( $ 457,12
Laura Campbell, 201 $239,30( $ $ $ $ $1,004,23
Vice President 42,00( 632,02¢ 85,80( 5,10¢
of Finance 201z $231,56: $ 40,50C $ 0 $ 0 $ 5,10¢ $ 277,17:
2011 $225,36* $ 15,30 $ 0 $ 0 $ 510¢ $ 245,77:
William (BJ) Lehmann, Jr., 201: $371,40( $ $ $164,45( $ $1,605,44
President and Chief 84,00( 980,92: 4,677
Operating Officer 2012 $358,84¢ $ 77,000 $ 0 $ 0 $ 467 $ 440,52
2011 $346,71: $ 27,00C $ 0 $ 0 % 4,67 $ 378,38
John Harrington, 201  $369,40( $ $ $143,000 $ $1,575,89
Chief Scientific Officer and 83,50( 975,64 4,35¢
Executive Vice President (3) 201z $357,11t $ 77,80( $ 0o $ 0 $ 4,35° $ 439,27
2011 $346,71¢ $ 27,000 $ 0 $ 0 $ 4355 $ 378,06
Robert Deans, 201: $318,000 $ $ $114,40( $ $1,342,90
Executive Vice President, 65,00( 839,88 5,62(
Regenerative Medicine 201z $307,50( $ 62,30C $ 0o $ 0 $ 5620 $ 37542
2011 $292,89¢ $ 2430( $ 0 % 0 $ 562 $ 322,81

1)

(2)

(3)

Amounts for stock awards represent the grate fidl value of restricted stock units that vegeoa three-year period, and do not
necessarily reflect compensation actually receiwedur named executive officers. The fair valueasitricted stock unit awards is
calculated in accordance with Accounting Stand&madification 718 (“ASC 718"), excluding the impaaftpotential forfeitures.
Assumptions used in the calculation of these anmar# included in Note B to the audited consolidéitgancial statements included
herein for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2

Amounts for option awards do not necessariflect compensation actually received by our namextetive officers. The amounts for
option awards reflect the full grant date fair vabf the equity awards made during the fiscal yealed December 31, 2013 in
accordance with ASC 718, excluding the impact déptal forfeitures. Assumptions used in the caltioh of these amounts are inclu
in Note B to the audited consolidated financiatestzents included herein for the fiscal year endeddinber 31, 201:

Drs. Van Bokkelen and Harrington also servedwasDirectors for 2013, 2012 and 2011 but didnegkive any compensation as our
Directors.

Grants of Plan-Based Awards for 2013

The following table sets forth plan-based equityaelg granted to our named executive officers du2iB under our equity

compensation plans.

All Other Stocl All Other

Option Awards

Awards: Exercise or Grant Date Fa
Number of Numbt_ar of Base Price of
Shares of Stoc Securities Obtion Award Value of Stocl
Underlying P and Option

or Units Options Awards

Name Grant Date #) (#) ($/sh) (%) (3
Gil Van Bokkelen June 18, 2013 ( 695,04( $1,188,51!
June 18, 2013 ( 185,00( $ 1.4% $ 264,55(
Laura Campbel June 18, 2013 ( 369,60 $ 632,02
June 18, 2013 ( 60,00( $ 1.4% $ 85,80(
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William (BJ) Lehmann, Ji June 18, 2013 ( 573,64( $980,92:
June 18, 2013 ( 115,00( $1.45 $164,45(
John Harringtor June 18, 2013 ( 570,55: $975,64.
June 18, 2013 ( 100,00( $1.4: $143,00(
Robert Dean June 18, 2013 ( 491,16. $839,88'
June 18, 2013 ( 80,00( $1.4: $114,40(

(1) Restricted stock units granted under our L-Term Incentive Plar

(2) Options granted under our Lc-Term Incentive Plar

(3) The amounts in this column represent the gitate fair value of the options calculated in acaam with ASC 718, excluding the impact
of potential forfeitures

Employment Agreements and Arrangements

Dr. Gil Van Bokkelen On December 1, 1998, we entered into a one-yapltoyment agreement, effective April 1, 1998, with Gil
Van Bokkelen, to serve initially as President amde€Executive Officer. The agreement automaticetlyews for subsequent opear terms ¢
April 1 of each year unless either party givesc®bf termination at least thirty days before thd ef any term. Under the terms of the
agreement, Dr. Van Bokkelen was entitled to anahitase salary of $150,000, which may be increaseéie discretion of the Board of
Directors, and an annual discretionary incentivieusoof up to 33% of his base salary. His salan2fiir4 is $459,000 and his target annual
incentive bonus is 60% of his base salary. Dr. Bakkelen also received options to purchase shdresnamon stock upon his employment
that were terminated in 2007, and his current stgatlons are described in the table below. Dr. Bakkelen is also entitled to life insurance
coverage for the benefit of his family in the ambomhat least $1.0 million (which is $2.0 millioorf2014) and is provided the use of a com|
automobile for business use. For more informatiooua severance arrangements under the agreemeithesdisclosure under “Potential
Payments Upon Termination or Change of Control."\lan Bokkelen has also entered into a non-comgetitnd confidentiality agreement
with us under which, during his employment anddqreriod of 18 months thereafter, he is restrifétech, among other things, competing with
us.

Dr. John J. Harrington On December 1, 1998, we entered into a one-yaployment agreement, effective April 1, 1998, with
Dr. John J. Harrington to serve initially as Ex@oeitvice President and Chief Scientific Officer.eTagreement automatically renews for
subsequent one-year terms on April 1 of each yelmsa either party gives notice of terminationeatst thirty days before the end of any term.
Under the terms of the agreement, Dr. Harringtos aritled to an initial base salary of $150,00Biclv may be increased at the discretion of
the Board of Directors, and an annual discretiomacgntive bonus of up to 33% of his base salary.ddlary for 2014 is $377,000 and his
target annual incentive bonus is 45% of his bakaysaDr. Harrington also received options to pash shares of common stock upon his
employment that were terminated in 2007, and hieeot stock options are described in the tablevbeldr. Harrington is also entitled to life
insurance coverage for the benefit of his familyhia amount of at least $1.0 million (which is $thilion for 2014). For more information
about severance arrangements under the agreemenhesdisclosure under “Potential Payments Upomihation or Change of Control.”
Dr. Harrington has also entered into a non-comipetind confidentiality agreement with us underakhiduring his employment and for a
period of 18 months thereafter, he is restrictedhframong other things, competing with us.

Laura K. Campbell On May 22, 1998, we entered into a two-year egmknt agreement with Laura K. Campbell to serviailty as
Controller. The agreement automatically renewsstdorsequent one-year terms on May 22 of each ydessuaither party gives notice of
termination at least thirty days before the endrof term. Under the terms of the agreement, Ms.@athwas entitled to an initial base salary
of $70,200, which may be increased at the disanaifdhe Board of Directors. Her salary for 2014214,250 and her target annual incentive
bonus is 30% of her base salary. Ms. Campbellralseived options to purchase shares of common sfpek her employment that were
terminated in 2007, and her current stock optiorsdascribed in the table below. For more infororatibout severance arrangements unde
agreement, see the disclosure under “Potential BatgJpon Termination or Change of Control.”

William (B.J.) Lehmann, JrOn January 1, 2004, we entered into a four-yegrl@yment agreement with Mr. Lehmann to serveaiiiti
as Executive Vice President of Corporate Develogrard Finance. The agreement automatically renewsubsequent one-year terms on
January 1 of each year unless either party givésanof termination at least thirty days before ¢mel of any term. The agreement was ame
in 2013 to modify the duration of his severancamgement, with no changes to the events triggestiich severance. Under the terms of the
agreement, Mr. Lehmann was entitled to an initedebsalary of $250,000, which may be increaseueadiscretion of the Board of Directors.
His salary for 2014 is $379,000 and his target ahimeentive bonus is 45% of his base salary. Mshrhann also received options to
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purchase shares of common stock upon his employthanivere terminated in 2007, and his currentkstgtions are described in the table
below. For more information about severance armareges under the agreement, see the disclosure UpadiEntial Payments Upon
Termination or Change of Control.” Mr. Lehmann laéso entered into a non-competition and confidéttiagreement with us under which,
during his employment and for a period of six martthereafter, he is restricted from, among othegt) competing with us.

Dr. Robert Deans On October 3, 2003, we entered into a four-yegpleyment agreement with Dr. Robert Deans to sinitially as
Vice President of Regenerative Medicine. The ager#rautomatically renews for subsequent one-yearsten October 3 of each year unless
either party gives notice of termination at leh#tty days before the end of any term. Under thmseof the agreement, Dr. Deans was entitlec
to an initial base salary of $200,000, which mayrioeeased at the discretion of the Board of Doegtand an annual discretionary incentive
bonus of up to 30% of his base salary. His salarn2014 is $324,500 and his target annual inceittoraus is 40% of his base salary. Dr. De
also received options to purchase shares of constoak upon his employment that were terminatedidi72 and his current stock options are
described in the table below. For more informagbout severance arrangements under the agreemenhesdisclosure under “Potential
Payments Upon Termination or Change of Control.”[D¥ans has also entered into a non-competitiorcanfidentiality agreement with us
under which, during his employment and for a pedbdix months thereafter, he is restricted frompag other things, competing with us.

Equity Compensation Plans

In June 2007, we adopted two equity compensatiansplwhich authorize the Board of Directors, oommittee thereof, to provide
equity-based compensation in the form of stockamstj restricted stock, RSUs and other stock-bas@dds, which are used to attract and
retain qualified employees, Directors and conststalBquity awards are granted from time to timeauritle guidance and approval of the
Compensation Committee. Total awards under thesesphs amended, are currently limited to 11,5@sb@res of common stock, of which
3,441,585 shares remain available for issuance.

401(k) Plan

We have a tax-qualified employee savings and ratiré plan, also known as a 401(k) plan that cogkf our employees. Under our
401(k) plan, eligible employees may elect to redhed current compensation by up to the statuytgmiescribed annual limit, which was
$17,500 in 2013, and have the amount of the rediuctntributed to the 401(k) plan. The trusteethef401(k) plan, at the direction of each
participant, invest the assets of the 401(k) ptadesignated investment options. We may make nragabvi profit-sharing contributions to the
401(k) plan in amounts to be determined by the 8@Directors. We made matching contributionshi® 401(k) plan during fiscal 2013 at a
maximum rate of fifty cents for every dollar of tfiest 6% of participant contributions, up to aldolmaximum of $3,000 per participant, wh
amounted to approximately $97,000 in 2013. The KOdlan is intended to qualify under Section 401h&f Internal Revenue Code, so that
contributions to the 401(k) plan and income eamethe 401(k) plan contributions are not taxabl@l withdrawn, and so that any
contributions we make will be deductible when made.

Outstanding Equity Awards at 2013 Fiscal Year-End
The following table sets forth outstanding optitvedd by our named executive officers at DecembeB13.

Option Awards

Number
of Number of
Securities Securities
Underlying Underlying
Unexerciset Unexercised
Options Option
Options #) Exercise
#) Unexercisabl¢ Option Expiration
Exercisable Price Date
Name (a) (b) (©) ($)(e) ®
Gil Van Bokkelen 23,12¢ 161,87! $ 1.71 June 18, 202(1)
25,00( 0 $ 5.2¢ December 23, 201(2)
712,50( 0 $ 5.0C June 8, 201(3)
Laura Campbel 7,50( 52,50( $1.71 June 18, 202(1)
17,50( 0 $ 5.2¢ December 23, 201(2)
200,00 0 $ 5.0C June 8, 201(3)
William (BJ) Lehmanr 14,37¢ 100,62! $1.71 June 18, 202(1)
22,50( 0 $ 5.2¢ December 23, 201(2)
400,00( 0 $ 5.0C June 8, 201(3)
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John Harringtor 12,50( 87,50( $1.71 June 18, 202(1)
22,50( 0 $5.2¢ December 23, 201(2)

700,00( 0 $5.0C June 8, 201(3)

Robert Dean 10,00( 70,00( $1.71 June 8, 201(1)
20,00( 0 $5.2¢ December 23, 201(2)

240,00( 0 $5.0C June 8, 201(3)

(1) Options were granted on June 18, 2013, vestinplsatever four years on a quarterly ba:

(2) Options were granted on December 23, 2009 astkd ratably over one year on a quarterly basdstlaus were fully exercisable on
December 24, 201!

(3) Options were granted on June 8, 2007 and vestedatt of 40% on the grant date and vested 20%dh ef the three years thereafter
a quarterly basis), and thus were fully exercisabldune 8, 201(

2013 Options Exercised and Stock Vested

None of our named executive officers exercisedsdogk options during 2013. The following table gd®s information on all stock
awards vested and the value realized upon vestinthe named executive officers during fiscal 2013:

Stock Awards
Number of Shares
Acquired on Vesting

Value Realized ol

Vesting (1)
$

Name #

Gil Van Bokkelen 115,84( $ 222,41
Laura Campbel 61,60: $ 118,27¢
William (BJ) Lehmanr 95,60¢ $ 183,56
John Harringtot 95,09: $ 182,57
Robert Dean 81,86: $ 157,17!

(1) The value realized upon vesting is the proafichultiplying the number of shares of common stbgkhe market value of the underlying
shares on the vesting da

Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Catrol

Under their employment agreements, the named éxeaufficers may be entitled to certain potentiayments upon termination. In the
event that an executive officer is terminated witthcause or terminates employment for good reas®defined in the agreements, we woul
obligated to pay full base salary for a definedqabrsubject to mitigation related to other emple@yr For Gil Van Bokkelen and John
Harrington, the defined payment period is 18 monfitlisWilliam (BJ) Lehmann, the defined paymentipérs twelve months, and for Laura
Campbell and Robert Deans, the defined paymenbghésisix months. We would also be obligated tatiooie the participation of Gil Van
Bokkelen and John Harrington in all other medititd,and employee “welfare” benefit programs fgpexiod of eighteen months at our
expense, to the extent available and possible uhdgrrograms.

The agreements define “cause” to mean willful amatinuous neglect of such executive officer’s dutie responsibilities or willful
misconduct by the executive officer that is matiriand manifestly injurious to Athersys. “Good sea” includes, among other things,
demotion, salary reduction, relocation, failurgotovide an executive officer with adequate and appate facilities and termination by the
executive officer within 90 days of a change intcoln A “change in control” occurs when (1) a persm group of persons purchases 50% or
more of our consolidated assets or a majority ofvating shares, or (2) if, following a public offieg, the directors of Athersys immediately
following the offering no longer constitute a maipof the Board of Directors. Upon a change intcoln or if the named executive officer
should die or become permanently disabled, all si@eestock options become immediately vested aactmable. As of December 31, 2013,
each of the named executive officers held unvestisek options, as reflected in the Outstanding fggivards at 2013 Fiscal Year-End table
above.

In the event that an executive officer is termiddi@ cause or as a result of death, we would ligatied to pay full base salary and other
benefits, including any unpaid expense reimbursésnémrough the date of termination, and would hawéurther obligations to the executive
officer. In the event that an executive officetigble to perform duties as a result of a disgbilite would be obligated to pay full base salary
and other benefits until employment is terminated for a period of twelve months from the datewdtstermination.
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The table below reflects the amount of compensatayable to each named executive officer in theeektermination of such
executive’'s employment, pursuant to such execigieaiployment agreement. The amounts shown assatnsuith termination was effective
as of December 31, 2013 and thus includes amoamge@ through such time and are estimates of tloeiars that would be paid out to
executives upon their termination.

Termination
Without
Cause or
Voluntary
Executive Benefit and For
Payments Upon Good
Separation Reason
Gil Van Bokkelen Cash Severance Paym $
675,00(
Continuation of Benefit $ 25,84¢
Total $ 700,84¢
William (BJ) Lehmann, Jr. Cash Severance Paym $
371,40(
Continuation of Benefit  $ —
Total $ 371,40(
John Harrington Cash Severance Paym  $
554,10(
Continuation of Benefit $ 25,84¢
Total $ 579,94¢
Robert Deans Cash Severance Paym $
159,00(
Continuation of Benefit  $ —
Total $ 159,00(
Laura Campbell Cash Severance Paym $
119,65(
Continuation of Benefit  $ —
Total $ 119,65(
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Director Compensation Table for 2013
The following table summarizes compensation paiduionon-employee Directors in 2013:

Fees Earned o

Option

Paid in Cash Aveards Total
Name(a) $)(b) ®Q)(d) ($)(h)
Lee E. Babiss $ 58,25( $41,40( $ 99,65(
Ismail Kola $ 42,00( $41,40( $ 83,40(
Lorin J. Randal $ 68,50( $41,40( $109,90(
Kenneth H. Traul $ 50,00( $41,40( $ 91,40(
Jack L. Wyszomiersk $ 56,00( $41,40( $ 97,40(

(1) Amounts in column (d) do not necessarily refllmmpensation actually received by our Direct®ie amounts in column (d) reflect the
full grant date fair value of the equity awards maldring the fiscal year ended December 31, 20il&c¢ordance with ASC 718.
Assumptions used in the calculation of these anmar# included in the notes to the 2013 auditedaatated financial statements
included herein. The Directors had option awardstanding as of December 31, 2013 for shares ofrmmstock as follows: Lee Babi
— 135,000; Ismail Kola 135,000; Lorin Rand— 90,000; Kenneth Trau— 60,000; and Jack Wyszomier— 135,000.

Under our Director compensation program for non-eyge Directors, new Directors receive an initialck option grant to purchase
50,000 shares (30,000 shares prior to Septemb@&) 2Dtommon stock at fair market value on the aditgrant, which vests at a rate of 50¥
the first year (on a quarterly basis) and 25% itheaf the two years (on a quarterly basis) theeeaft

Additionally, the non-employee Directors receiv@aally an option award to purchase 30,000 sha®8@D shares prior to September
2013) of common stock at fair market value on thg @f grant, which vests quarterly over a one-peaiod, with such anniversary awards
issued in June of each year in connection withamwmual stockholder meeting. In June 2013, Diredatsiss, Kola, Randall, Traub and
Wyszomierski each received an anniversary stodoptwvard of 15,000 shares. In September 2013Ctmpensation Committee
recommended, and the Board of Directors approveh@ease to the initial option award and the aersary option award for a n@mployee
Director to 50,000 and 30,000 shares, respectiaflgr engaging Arnosti to conduct a market ana pealysis. As a result, each of Directors
Babiss, Kola, Randall, Traub and Wyszomierski nesgtian incremental anniversary stock option awafb@00 shares in September 2013.
The incremental awards vest over a one-year p&egihning June 2013, on a quarterly basis. Allahand anniversary stock option awards
granted to non-employee Directors have a termroféars and upon the termination of the Directe€wsice, the Director has 18 months in
which to exercise the vested portion of his optiprier to forfeiture.

Our Directors receive annual cash compensatioinetaas set forth below, effective October 1, 2013

Board Membe $40,00(
Lead Directol $25,00(
Audit Committee— Chairmar $15,00(
Audit Committee— Member $ 7,50(
Compensation Committe— Chairman $10,00(
Compensation Committe— Member $ 5,00(
Nominations and Corporate Governance Comm— Chairman $10,00(
Nominations and Corporate Governance Comm— Member $ 5,00(

Prior to October 1, 2013, we did not appoint a lémector, and the annual retainers for the chairarad members of the Nominations
Corporate Governance Committee were $6,000 and®$3rB8spectively. These annual retainers are paggiarterly installments and Directors
are reimbursed for reasonable out-of-pocket exgeimeeirred while attending Board and committee ingst

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Parttipation

In 2013, none of our Directors was a member obibeerd of directors of any other company where étationship would be construed to
constitute a committee interlock within the meanifighe rules of the SEC.
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Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and disduggh management the Compensation Discussio\aatysis section above
and based on this review, has recommended to thergy\ts Board of Directors the inclusion of the Cenmgation Discussion and Analysis in
this annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal yeaded December 31, 2013.

Compensation Committee
Board of Directors

Lee E. Babiss

Lorin J. Randall
Kenneth H. Traub
Jack W. Wyszomierski
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
SHAREHOLDER MATTERS

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

The following table sets forth certain informatiggarding the Company’s equity compensation plarsf ®ecember 31, 2013, unless
otherwise indicated.

Number of
securities
remaining
available for
future issuance
Number of under equity
securities Weighted- compensation
to be issued average plans (excluding
upon exercise price
exercise of of outstanding securities
outstanding reflected
Plan Category awards awards in column (a))
Equity compensation plan approved by security hslde 6,644,05! $ 3.74 2,911,45!
Equity compensation plan not approved by secutgdrs
934,87( $ 3.6C 530,13(
Total 7,578,92! 3,441,58!

(1) Included in column (a) are both stock options aglricted stock units awarded under our equity eaareation plans

(2) The other shares of common stock included in tlia pategory are issued or issuable under our ¥Etpientive Compensation Plan. 1
terms of our Equity Incentive Compensation Plansatestantially similar to the terms of the CurreftP. For information on the terms
of these plans, see “Compensation Discussion armdly8is — Elements of Executive Compensation — Léagn Incentive Program”, as
well as“Compensation Discussion and Analy- Equity Compensation Pla” in this annual repor
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BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP OF COMMON STOCK

The following table sets forth certain informatikmown to us regarding the beneficial ownershipwf@mmon stock as of February 28,

2014 (unless otherwise indicated below) by:

» each person known by us to beneficially own moas t8% of our common stoc
» each of our Director:

» each of the executive officers named in the SumrGamppensation Table; al

« all of our Directors and executive officers as auyr.

We have determined beneficial ownership in accardamith the rules of the SEC. In computing the nemdf shares beneficially owned

by a person and the percentage ownership of thabpeshares of common stock that could be issped the exercise of outstanding options
and warrants held by that person that are exeieiseithin 60 days of February 28, 2014 are congidautstanding. These shares, howeve
not considered outstanding when computing the péage ownership of each other person.

Percentage ownership calculations for beneficiaienship for each person or entity are based or836&88 shares of common stock

outstanding as of February 28, 2014.

Except as indicated in the footnotes to this tapleé pursuant to state community property laws, stmtkholder named in the table has

sole voting and investment power for the sharesvetas beneficially owned by them.

1)

(2)

(3)
(4)

(5)
(6)
(7)

Number of
Name of Beneficial Ownel Shares Percent of Clas
Greater Than 5% Stockholders
First Eagle Investment Management, L® 4,207,601 5.5%
Directors and Executive Officers
Gil Van Bokkeler® 1,137,87 1.5%
Lee Babis®) 127,50( @
John Harringtor® 911,14 1.2%
Ismail Kola®) 127,50( @
Lorin Randall® 82,50( *
Kenneth Traul® 61,25( &
Jack Wyszomiersk®) 127,50( *
Laura Campbel® 344,09¢ *
Robert Dean9 369,44¢ *
William (BJ) Lehmann, Jit1) 525,96° *
All Directors and executive officers as a group Edsons 3,814,78! 5.C%

Less than 1%

A Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on Februady 2014 reported that First Eagle Investment Mangent, LLC, or FEIM, an
investment adviser registered under Section 2@QBeofnvestment Advisers Act of 1940, is deemededhe beneficial owner of 4,207,¢
shares of common stock as a result of acting asstment adviser to various FEIM clients. FEIM halg soting and dispositive power
over 4,207,600 shares of common stc

Includes vested options for 772,187 share®ofmon stock at a weighted average exercise pri$d.86 per share and 57,920 restricted
stock units that vest on March 18, 20

Includes vested options for 127,500 shares of comshack at a weighted average exercise price @&732er share

Includes vested options for 741,250 share®ofroon stock at a weighted average exercise pri$d 8B per share and 47,546 restricted
stock units that vest on March 18, 20

Includes vested options for 127,500 shares of comsimck at a weighted average exercise price dbS3er share

Includes vested options for 82,500 shares of comstack at a weighted average exercise price of5)ied share

Includes vested options for 41,250 shares of comshack at a weighted average exercise price ofghies share
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(8) Includes vested options for 127,500 shares of comstack at a weighted average exercise price @&l$§2er share

(9) Includes vested options for 228,750 share®ofrnon stock at a weighted average exercise pri¢d.86 per share and 30,801 restricted
stock units that vest on March 18, 20

(10) Includes vested options for 275,000 sharemnfmon stock at a weighted average exercise pfi$é.84 per share and 40,930 restricted
stock units that vest on March 18, 20

(11) Includes vested options for 444,063 sharemofmon stock at a weighted average exercise pfi$é.85 per share and 47,804 restricted
stock units that vest on March 18, 20

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
Certain Relationships and Related Person Transactits

We give careful attention to related person tratisas because they may present the potential foilicts of interest. We refer taélated
person transactions” as those transactions, amags, or relationships in which:

* we were, are or are to be a participi
» the amount involved exceeds $120,000;

» any of our Directors, Director nominees, executfficers or greater-than five percent stockholdersany of their immediate family
members) had or will have a direct or indirect maténterest.

To identify related person transactions in advaneerely on information supplied by our executiféoers, Directors and certain
significant stockholders. We maintain a comprehangiritten policy for the review, approval or ratédtion of related person transactions, and
our Audit Committee reviews all related person sastions identified by us. The Audit Committee awes or ratifies only those related per
transactions that are determined by it to be, uatl@f the circumstances, in the best intereshefCompany and its stockholders. No related
person transactions occurred in fiscal 2013 thaired a review by the Audit Committee.

At times, Aspire Capital has beneficially owned mtian 5% of our outstanding common stock. We edtatto an equity purchase
agreement with Aspire Capital in 2011, which pre@ddhat Aspire Capital was committed to purchastowgn aggregate of $20.0 million of
shares of our common stock over a two-year teripjestito our election to sell any such shares. Uiliagreement, we had the right to sell
shares, subject to certain volume limitations amgidimum floor price, at a modest discount to thevpiling market price. As part of the
agreement, Aspire Capital made an initial investno€i$1.0 million in us through the purchase of @ shares of our common stock at $1.5
per share in 2011, and received 266,667 additisimales as compensation for its commitment. Aswdtrefthis transaction, combined with
shares of our common stock that Aspire Capital pelar to the November 2011 transaction, Aspirei@hpecame one of our larger
stockholders, owning more than 5% of our sharesuocommon stock outstanding at that time.

By September 30, 2013, we had sold all the remgisirares that were available under the 8,000,08@slof common stock registered
for resale under the equity facility, which was doexpire in January 2014. In October 2013, wenileaited the expiring equity purchase
agreement with Aspire Capital and entered intova @guity purchase agreement with Aspire Capitagiutichase up to an aggregate of $25.0
million of shares of our common stock over a new-tw@ar period. The terms of the 2013 equity fac#itg similar to the previous arrangem
and we issued 333,333 shares of our common stogkeA€apital as a commitment fee in October 2018Bfded a registration statement for
the resale of 10,000,000 shares of common stockrinection with the new equity facility.

In 2013, we sold an aggregate 6,566,666 sharespgo\Capital at an average price of $1.70 pereshader both equity purchase
agreements.

In our March 2012 private placement, Aspire Capitaichased an additional 966,184 shares of commaeok and five-year warrants to
purchase 966,184 shares of common stock with arciseeprice of $2.07 per share. The securities wel@ in multiples of a fixed combinatit
of one share of common stock and a warrant to pseelone share of common stock at an offering pifi§2.07 per fixed combination, for a
total purchase price to Aspire Capital of approxeha$2.0 million. Also, in our October 2012 pubbffering, Aspire Capital purchased an
additional 750,000 shares of common stock for @l fmirchase price to Aspire Capital of approxima$f.8 million. As a result of our October
2012 public offering and in accordance with thadilution provisions of the March 2012 warrants, saught and obtained stockholder
approval in February 2013 to reduce the exercige @f the March 2012 warrants to $1.01 per share.
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Also, in our December 2013 registered direct offgriAspire Capital purchased an additional 1.0ianilshares of common stock and
warrants to purchase 350,000 shares of common stiticlan exercise price of $2.50 per share thairexqn March 31, 2015, a portion of
which are not exercisable until June 3, 2014. Hwisties were sold in multiples of a fixed comhioa of one share of common stock and a
warrant to purchase 0.35 shares of common stoak affering price of $2.00 per fixed combinatioor, & total purchase price to Aspire Capita
of approximately $2.0 million.

Director Independence

The Board reviews the independence of each Diredtlast annually. During these reviews, the Bedldconsider transactions and
relationships between each Director (and his oiirherediate family and affiliates) and the Compang aur management to determine
whether any such transactions or relationshipsnaensistent with a determination that the Direstas independent. The Board conducted its
annual review of Director independence to deterrifinay transactions or relationships exist thatidadisqualify any of the individuals who
serve as a Director under the rules of the NASDAAi@l Market or require disclosure under Secwitiad Exchange Commission, or SEC,
rules. Based upon the foregoing review, the Boatdrthined the following individuals are independemder the rules of the NASDAQ Cap
Market: Lee E. Babiss, Ismail Kola, Lorin J. Randidenneth H. Traub and Jack L. Wyszomierski. Cutlse we have two members of
management that also serve on the Board: Dr. Vdkden, who is also our Chairman and Chief Exeeu@fficer, and Dr. Harrington, who is
our Executive Vice President and Chief Scientifftic@r. Neither Dr. Van Bokkelen nor Dr. Harringt@considered independent under the
independence rules of the NASDAQ Capital Market.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Audit Fees. Fees paid to Ernst & Young LLP for the auditled annual consolidated financial statements includéhe Company’s Annual
Reports on Form 10-K, for the reviews of the coitsted financial statements included in the Com{saRgrms 10-Q, and for services related
to registration statements were $639,100 for theafiyear ended December 31, 2013 and $500,4Q0€discal year ended December 31,
2012. The increase related primarily to servicesdgistration statements filed in 2013 and intecaatrol attestation required in 2013.

Audit-Related Fees There were no fees paid to Ernst & Young LLP&odit-related services in 2013 and 2012.

Tax Fees. Fees paid to Ernst & Young LLP associated withdampliance and tax consultation were $29,250%2%J000 for the fiscal years
ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

All Other Fees. There were no other fees paid to Ernst & Young lih 2013 or 2012.

Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policies and Procedurs

The Audit Committee has adopted a formal policyaaditor independence requiring the pre-approvahbyAudit Committee of all
professional services rendered by the Companyspaddent auditor prior to the commencement of pleeifed services.

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013, 100%tecservices described above were pre-approveadenpudit Committee in
accordance with the Company’s formal policy on tardndependence.

83



Table of Contents

PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(3)(1) Financial Statements:

The following consolidated financial statement#\tfersys, Inc. are included in Item 8:
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accourfing
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&012012

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Compsealehoss for each of the years ended Decembe2®13, 2012 and 2011

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equityeeh of the years ended December 31, 2013, 2@ 2Gi1
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow for eachef#ars ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules:
The following financial statement schedule of Athey, Inc. is included:

Schedule Il — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Balance at
Beginning of
(In thousands Year Additions Deductions
Year Ended December 31, 201
Deducted from asset accour
Allowance for doubtful accoun— note receivabli $ 33C $ — $ —
Tax valuation allowance $ 34,22 $10,12¢ $18,306(B)
Total 2013 $ 34,55: $10,12¢ $ 18,30¢

Year Ended December 31, 2012
Deducted from asset accour

Allowance for doubtful accoun— note receivabl $ 307 $ 23 $ —
Tax valuation allowance $ 29,27 $ 4,95( $ —
Total 2012 $ 29,57¢ $ 4,97¢ $ —
Year Ended December 31, 201
Deducted from asset accour
Allowance for doubtful accoun— note receivabli $ 29¢ $ 11 $ —
Tax valuation allowance $ 23,90¢ $ 5,36/ $ —
Total 2011 $ 24,20 $ 5,37 $ —

(A) — Reserve on note receivable; FL- reserved

(B) — Deferred tax assets are fully offset by valuatiboveances. As a result of the October 2012 equitgring, the
Company lost the use of a significant portion sfriet operating loss carryforwards generated poi@ctober
2012.

Balance at
End of Year

33C(A)
26,04
26,37

&+ |H B

33C(A)
34,22;
34,55;

&+ |h B

307
29,27:
29,57¢

&+ s B

All other schedules for which provision is madetie applicable accounting regulation of the SECnaterequired under the related instructi

or are not applicable and, therefore, omitted.
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(a)(3) Exhibits.
Exhibit No.

3.1

3.2
4.1
4.2
4.3
4.4

10.1*

10.2*

10.3*

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

Exhibit Descriptior

Certificate of Incorporation of Athersys, Inc.,asended as of June 28, 2013 (incorporated hereiafeyence to Exhibit
3.1 to the registrant’'s Quarterly Report on ForrfdCommission No. 000-52108) filed with the Comsings on August
13, 2013)

Bylaws of Athersys, Inc., as amended as of Oct8BeR2007 (incorporated herein by reference to ExBili to the
registran’s Current Report on Forn-K (Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on October 31, 2X

Form of Warrant (incorporated herein by referemcExhibit 4.1 to the registrant’s Current ReportFarm 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on January 28,1)(

Form of Warrant (incorporated herein by referemcExhibit 4.1 to the registrant’s Current ReportFamrm 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on March 15, 20

Form of Warrant (incorporated herein by referemcExhibit 4.1 to the registrant’s Current ReportFarm 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on November 291 2X

Form of Warrant (incorporated herein by referemcExhibit 4.1 to the registrant’s Current ReportFamrm 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on January 13,4)(

Research Collaboration and License Agreement, deted December 8, 2000, by and between Athersgsahd Bristol-
Myers Squibb Company (incorporated herein by refeedo Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Current 8¢pn Form 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Cell Line Collaboration and License Agreement, dats of July 1, 2002, by and between Athersys,dnd.Bristol-
Myers Squibb Company (incorporated herein by refezdo Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s Current &&pn Form 8-
K/A (Commission No. 00-52108) filed with the Commission on September 20,72

Extended Collaboration and License Agreement, daseaf January 1, 2006, by and between Athersgsalmd Bristol-
Myers Squibb Company (incorporated herein by refezdo Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s Current &pn Form 8-
K/A (Commission No. 00-52108) filed with the Commission on September 2072

License Agreement, effective as of May 5, 2006abg between Athersys, Inc. and Angiotech (incorjgaraerein by
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the registrant’s Catiieeport on Form 8-K (Commission No. 000-5210&dfiwith the
Commission on June 14, 20(

Sublicense Agreement, effective as of May 5, 2096and between Athersys, Inc. and Angiotech (inotated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the registrant’s Cotfieeport on Form 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108dfiwith the
Commission on June 14, 20

Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreerdated as of April 28, 2000, by and among AtherBys, and the
stockholders of Athersys, Inc. parties theretodiporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6 ®régistrant’s Current
Report on Form-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 1 to Athersys, Inc. Amended and RedtRegistration Rights Agreement, dated as ofagi2z9, 2002,
by and among Athersys, Inc., the New Stockholdees|nvestors, Biotech and the Stockholders (eadateéined in the
Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreerdated as April 28, 2000, by and among Athersys, dnd the
stockholders of Athersys, Inc. parties theretoddimporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10. htoregistrant’s Current
Report on Form-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 2 to Athersys, Inc. Amended and RedtBegistration Rights Agreement, dated as of Ndper 19,
2002, by and among Athersys, Inc., the New Stoadrs| the Investors, Biotech and the Stockhold=ash as defined in
the Amended and Restated Registration Rights Ageagendated as April 28, 2000, as amended, by ammhgrthersys,
Inc. and the stockholders of Athersys, Inc. pattieseto) (incorporated herein by reference to BixHi0.8 to the
registran’s Current Report on Forn-K (Commission No. 0¢-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 3 to Amended and Restated Registr&ights Agreement, dated as of May 15, 2007, ldyaanong
Athersys, Inc. and the Existing Stockholders (ddd therein) (incorporated herein by referencExbibit 10.9 to the
registran’s Current Report on Forn-K (Commission No. 0¢-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(
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10.10t

10.11t

10.12t

10.13t

10.14t

10.15t

10.16t

10.17t

10.18t

10.19t

10.20t

10.211

10.22t

Athersys, Inc. Equity Incentive Compensation Plandrporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10d fhe registrant’'s Current
Report on Form-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datefilascember 1, 1998 but effective as of April 298, by and betwe
Athersys, Inc. and Dr. Gil Van Bokkelen (incorpagtherein by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to thesiegnt's Current Report on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employegrdgement, dated as of May 31, 2007, by and betwelanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Gil Van Bokkelen (incaigted herein by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to #wgstrant’s Current Report
on Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datedbdDecember 1, 1998, by and between Athersysaime Dr. Gil Van
Bokkelen (incorporated herein by reference to ExHiB.16 to the registrant’s Current Report on F@&4ik (Commission No.
00C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datefilascember 1, 1998 but effective as of April 298, by and betwe
Athersys, Inc. and Dr. John J. Harrington (incogped herein by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to thyisteants Current Report ¢
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employgrdement, dated as of May 31, 2007, by and betwelanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and John Harrington (incoaped herein by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to thysteant’s Current Report
on Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datecbdDecember 1, 1998, by and between Athersysaimt Dr. John J.
Harrington (incorporated herein by reference toikixti0.19 to the registrant’s Current Report omr&-K (Commission No.
00C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Employment Agreement, dated as of May 22, 199&ruybetween Athersys, Inc. and Laura K. Camplmdbfiporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the registrantisr€nt Report on Form 8-K (Commission No. 000-5210&d with the
Commission on June 14, 20(

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated &ay 31, 2007, by and between Advanced Biotherapgunc. and
Laura Campbell (incorporated herein by referendeéxaibit 10.21 to the registrant’s Current Repartfmrm 8-K (Commission
No. 00(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Employment Agreement, dated as of October 3, 209pand between Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. asteR Deans, Ph.D.
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1a®@%the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (@assion No. 000-52108)
filed with the Commission on June 14, 20

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, datedf &say 31, 2007, by and between Advanced Biotheraipgunc. and
Robert Deans (incorporated herein by referencextolit 10.26 to the registrant’s Current Reportrmrm 8-K (Commission
No. 00(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datecd&October 3, 2003, by and among Athersys, kdvanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Robert Deans (incorpdrhgrein by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to the riegig’s Current Report on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2004nd between Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. ailligvi Lehmann
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1G®@&e registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (@assion No. 000-52108)
filed with the Commission on June 14, 20
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10.23"

10.24

10.25

10.26°

10.27-

10.28"

10.29°

10.30

10.31

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated &ay 31, 2007, by and between Advanced Biotherapgunc. and
William Lehmann (incorporated herein by refererm&xhibit 10.29 to the registrant’s Current ReportForm 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 2 to Employment Agreement, dated damuary 24, 2014, by and between Advanced Biaffeartics, Inc.
and William Lehmani

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datecbéSeptember 10, 2001, by and among Athersys, Advanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and William Lehmann (incoigged herein by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to tligsteant’s Current
Report on Form-K (Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Form Incentive Agreement by and between AdvancethBrapeutics, Inc. and named executive officerd,acknowledged
by Athersys, Inc. and ReGenesys, LLC (incorpordiemin by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to the registis Current Report on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Form Amendment No. 1 to Incentive Agreement by aeitiveen Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and namedutive officers
and acknowledged by Athersys, Inc. and ReGene&yG,(Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit32Xo the registrant’s
Current Report on Formr-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Form Amendment No. 2 to Incentive Agreement by laeidveen Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and namedutive officers
and acknowledged by Athersys, Inc. and ReGenedy@,(Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit?lf@ the registrant’s
Current Report on Formr-K (Commission No. 0€-52108) filed with the Commission on June 20, 2(

Exclusive License Agreement, dated as of May 10220y and between Regents of the University ofridsota and MCL
LLC, assumed by ReGenesys, LLC through operatianefyer on November 4, 2003 (incorporated hereirefgrence to
Exhibit 10.34 to the registrant’s Current Reportramm 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108) filed with tBemmission on June
14, 2007,

Amendment No. 1 to Cell Line Collaboration and lnse Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2006, bpetween Athersys,
Inc. and Bristol-Myers Squibb Company (incorporatedein by reference to Exhibit 10.36 to the regigfs Current Report
on Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Form Indemnification Agreement for Directors, O#is and Directors and Officers (incorporated helpgineference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Current Reportfamrm 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108) filed with tBemmission on
August 6, 2007
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10.32*

10.33

10.34

10.35

10.36”

10.37-

10.38"

10.39

10.40°

10.41-

10.42

10.43

10.44

Collaboration and License Agreement, dated as cebBer 18, 2009, by and between Athersys, Inc., ABlding Company
and Pfizer (incorporated herein by reference toiliikh0.42 to the registrant’s Annual Report onidr0-K for the year
ended December 31, 2009 (Commission No-33876) filed with the Commission on March 11, 20

Stand-by License Agreement, dated as of DecemhexI®, by and between Regents of the UniversitMiohesota, ABT
Holding Company and Pfizer (incorporated hereindfgrence to Exhibit 10.43 to the registrant’'s AalnfReport on Form 10-
K for the year ended December 31, 2009 (Commiddimn002-33876) filed with the Commission on March 11, 20

Amendment dated as of March 31, 2009 to the Exidi@i#laboration and License Agreement, by and betw&hersys, Inc.
and Bristol-Myers Squibb Company effective Janugr2006 (incorporated herein by reference to ExHiBil to the
registran’s Current Report on Forn-K (Commission No. 0C-33876) filed with the Commission on April 9, 20(

Amendment No. 4 to Amended and Restated Registr&ights Agreement, dated as of March 8, 2010,rolyaanong
Athersys, Inc. and the Existing Stockholders (é@dd therein) (incorporated herein by referencExbibit 10.45 to the
registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the yeaded December 31, 2009 (Commission No. 001-33#&6 with the
Commission on March 11, 201

License and Technical Assistance Agreement, dated September 10, 2010, between ABT Holding Comzamd RTI
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1@.1he registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-@rfission No. 001-
33876) filed with the Commission on November 8, X

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement (incorpedsherein by reference to Exhibit 10.47 to thastegnt's Annual Repo
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2@Hnmission No. 001-33876) filed with the CommissionMarch 25,
2011)

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for NEBmployee Directors (incorporated herein by refeeetacExhibit 10.4¢
to the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-Ktlee year ended December 31, 2010 (Commission Nie38876) filed witr
the Commission on March 25, 201

Athersys, Inc. Amended and Restated 2007 Long-Tecentive Plan (Amended and Restated Effective 1@ne011)
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1@.tegistrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (ComnuadNo. 001-33876)
filed with the Commission on June 20, 2(

Athersys, Inc. Amended and Restated 2007 Long-Tecentive Plan (Amended and Restated Effective 1&)2013)
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1@.tegistrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (ComnuiasNo. 001-33876)
filed with the Commission on June 18, 2(

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for NEBmployee Directors pursuant to the Athersys, Aroended and
Restated 2007 Longierm Incentive Plan (Amended and Restated Effeclivee 16, 2011) (incorporated herein by referea
Exhibit 10.49 to the registrant’s Quarterly RepmitForm 10-Q (Commission No. 001-33876) filed wilie Commission on
May 6, 2011

Common Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of Nayehih 2011, by and between Athersys, Inc. andraspapital Fund,
LLC (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibitllt the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8amhmission No. 001-
33876) filed with the Commission on November 1417

First Amendment to Common Stock Purchase Agreemdeted as of November 17, 2011, by and betweenrgythelnc. and
Aspire Capital Fund, LLC (incorporated by referetm&xhibit 10.47 to the registrant’s Registratitatement on Form S-1
(Commission No. 33-178418) filed with the Commission on December 94,1\

Common Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of Oc2@2013, by and between Athersys, Inc. and Aspapital Fund,
LLC (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibitll the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8amission No. 001-
33876) filed with the Commission on October 23,2X
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10.45%

10.46t

10.47

10.48

10.49

10.50

10.51

10.52t

10.53

10.54

10.55t
211
23.1
24.1
311

31.2

32.1

101.INS
101.SCF
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (incorpedaherein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the rtegig’'s Quarterly Report
on Form 1-Q (Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on August 10, 20

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (incorpedaterein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the rtegig’'s Current Report on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-33876) filed with the Commission on June 20, 2(

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of NoveritheP011, by and between Athersys, Inc. and Aspagital Fund, LLC
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2he registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Cassion No. 001-33876)
filed with the Commission on November 14, 20

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of Oct@BeP013, by and between Athersys, Inc. and Agpagital Fund, LLC
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2he registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Cdssion No. 001-33876)
filed with the Commission on October 23, 20

Amendment No. 3 to Extended Collaboration and LseeAgreement, dated January 31, 2012, by and betd@& Holding
Company and Bristol-Myers Squibb Company (incorfeday reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the registmQuarterly Report on
Form 1(-Q (Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on May 14, 20

First Amendment to License and Technical Assistakgeement, dated September 17, 2012, by and betéB& Holding,
Inc. and RTI Biologics, Inc. (incorporated hereinreference to Exhibit 10.52 to the registrant’gReation Statement on
Form $-1/A (Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on October 23,2(

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of Marc092, by and between Athersys, Inc. and the sigiestthereto
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1adb#e registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (@uission No. 001-33876)
filed with the Commission on March 15, 20:

Summary of Athersys, Inc. 2013 Cash Bonus IncerRia@ (incorporated herein by reference to ExHiBi64 to the
registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the yeaded December 31, 2012 (Commission No. 001-33fd&6 with the
Commission on March 12, 201

Form of Securities Purchase Agreement (incorporagedin by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registis Current Report on
Form ¢&-K (Commission No. 0C-33876) filed with the Commission on November 291 32X

Form of Securities Purchase Agreement (incorporagedin by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registis Current Report on
Form ¢&-K (Commission No. 0C-33876) filed with the Commission on January 13,4)(

Summary of Athersys, Inc. 2014 Cash Bonus IncerRiam

List of Subsidiarie:

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registétablic Accounting Firn
Power of Attorney

Certification of Gil Van Bokkelen, Chairman and €hixecutive Officer, pursuant to SEC Rules 13aaldfd 15d-14(a)
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarl-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Laura K. Campbell, Vice Presidefit-inance, pursuant to SEC Rules 13a-14(a) andl4%a) adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbi-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Gil Van Bokkelen, Chairman and €hExecutive Officer, and Laura Campbell, Vice Rient of Finance,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, adopted putd¢aa@ection 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

XBRL Instance Documer

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntr
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurh
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent

* Confidential treatment requested as to certainqust which portions have been filed separatelywie SEC
t Indicates management contract or compensatory ptantract or arrangement in which one or moreatlars or executive officers of the
registrant may be participar
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredalp authorized, in the city of Cleveland, Stateddfio, on March 13, 2014.

ATHERSYS, INC.

By: /s/ Gil Van Bokkeler
Gil Van Bokkeler
Title: Chief Executive Office

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed belptine following persons on behalf of 1
registrant and in the capacities and on the dalieated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ Gil Van Bokkelen Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the March 13, 2014
Gil Van Bokkelen Board of Directors (Principal Executive

Officer)
/s/ Laura K. Campbell Vice President of Finance (Principal Finan March 13, 2014
Laura K. Campbel Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)
* Executive Vice President, Chief Scientific March 13, 2014
John J. Harringto Officer and Director
*
Lorin J. Randal Director March 13, 201«
*
Kenneth H. Traul Director March 13, 201
*
Jack L. Wyszomiersk Director March 13, 201«
*
Lee E. Babis: Director March 13, 201
*
Ismail Kola Director March 13, 201

* Gil Van Bokkelen, by signing his name hereto, sibereby sign this Form 10-K on behalf of eacthefabove named and designated
directors of the Company pursuant to Powers ofrAtg executed by such persons and filed with tlei$tées and Exchange
Commission

By: /s/ Gil Van Bokkeler
Gil Van Bokkeler
Attorney-in-fact
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No.
3.1

3.2

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

10.1*

10.2*

10.3*

Exhibit Descriptior

Certificate of Incorporation of Athersys, Inc.,asended as of June 28, 2013 (incorporated hereiafbyence to Exhibit
3.1 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form@(Commission No. 000-52108) filed with the Comsitis on August
13, 2013

Bylaws of Athersys, Inc., as amended as of Oct80eR2007 (incorporated herein by reference to BkBil to the
registran’s Current Report on Forn-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on October 31, 2(

Form of Warrant (incorporated herein by referemcEsthibit 4.1 to the registrant’s Current ReportFarm 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on January 28,1(

Form of Warrant (incorporated herein by referemcEsthibit 4.1 to the registrant’s Current ReportFarm 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on March 15, 20

Form of Warrant (incorporated herein by referemcEsthibit 4.1 to the registrant’s Current ReportFarm 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on November 2912

Form of Warrant (incorporated herein by referemcEsthibit 4.1 to the registrant’s Current ReportFarm 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on January 13,48(

Research Collaboration and License Agreement, deted December 8, 2000, by and between Atheragsahd Bristol-
Myers Squibb Company (incorporated herein by refeego Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Current &&jpn Form 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Cell Line Collaboration and License Agreement, date of July 1, 2002, by and between Athersys,dnd. Bristol-Myers
Squibb Company (incorporated herein by referendextabit 10.2 to the registrant’s Current ReportFarm 8-K/A
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on September 207

Extended Collaboration and License Agreement, daseaf January 1, 2006, by and between Athersgsaimd Bristol-
Myers Squibb Company (incorporated herein by refeedo Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s Current 8¢pn Form 8-K/A
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on September 207}
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10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10t

10.111

License Agreement, effective as of May 5, 2006abg between Athersys, Inc. and Angiotech (incorgar&erein by reference
to Exhibit 10.4 to the registrant’'s Current RepmrtForm 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108) filed witletCommission on
June 14, 2007

Sublicense Agreement, effective as of May 5, 2096and between Athersys, Inc. and Angiotech (inocaged herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the registrant’s Cotiieeport on Form 8-K (Commission No. 000-5210&dfiwith the Commission
on June 14, 2007

Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreerdated as of April 28, 2000, by and among Atherbys, and the
stockholders of Athersys, Inc. parties theretodiporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6 ®registrant’s Current Report
on Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 1 to Athersys, Inc. Amended and RedtRegistration Rights Agreement, dated as ofakgn20, 2002, by and
among Athersys, Inc., the New Stockholders, thestors, Biotech and the Stockholders (each asatkfimthe Amended and
Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated ai$ 28§ 2000, by and among Athersys, Inc. and tbeldolders of Athersys,
Inc. parties thereto) (incorporated herein by iiee to Exhibit 10.7 to the registrant’s Currenp&éon Form 8 (Commissior
No. 00(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 2 to Athersys, Inc. Amended and RegtRegistration Rights Agreement, dated as of Ndpex 19, 2002, by
and among Athersys, Inc., the New Stockholdersirthestors, Biotech and the Stockholders (eactefinetl in the Amended
and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, datekpsal 28, 2000, as amended, by and among Athetsgsand the
stockholders of Athersys, Inc. parties theretodg@mporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.&h&registrant’s Current Report
on Form &K (Commission No. 0¢-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 3 to Amended and Restated Registr&ights Agreement, dated as of May 15, 2007, ladyaanong Athersys,
Inc. and the Existing Stockholders (as definedetmr(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibiflto the registrarg’ Curren
Report on Form-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Athersys, Inc. Equity Incentive Compensation Plandrporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10d fhe registrant’'s Current
Report on Form-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datetiscember 1, 1998 but effective as of April 29&, by and between
Athersys, Inc. and Dr. Gil Van Bokkelen (incorp@ttherein by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to thestegnt's Current Report on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(
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10.13t

10.141

10.15t

10.16t

10.171

10.18t

10.19t

10.20t

10.21t

10.221

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employgrdement, dated as of May 31, 2007, by and betwelanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Gil Van Bokkelen (incaigted herein by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to #wgstrant’s Current Report
on Form &K (Commission No. 0¢-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datecb&December 1, 1998, by and between Athersysaimt Dr. Gil Van
Bokkelen (incorporated herein by reference to EixHiB.16 to the registrant’'s Current Report on F@&i (Commission No.
00C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datetiscember 1, 1998 but effective as of April 29&, by and between
Athersys, Inc. and Dr. John J. Harrington (incogped herein by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to tlggsteant’s Current Report on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employdgrdement, dated as of May 31, 2007, by and betwelanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and John Harrington (incoaped herein by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to thygsteant’s Current Report on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datecb&December 1, 1998, by and between Athersysaimt Dr. John J.
Harrington (incorporated herein by reference toikixti0.19 to the registrant’s Current Report omr&-K (Commission No.
00C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Employment Agreement, dated as of May 22, 199&riybetween Athersys, Inc. and Laura K. Camplmdbfiporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the registrantisr@nt Report on Form 8-K (Commission No. 000-521&d with the
Commission on June 14, 20(

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, datedf &say 31, 2007, by and between Advanced Biotheraipgunc. and
Laura Campbell (incorporated herein by referendexoibit 10.21 to the registrant’s Current ReportFarm 8-K (Commission
No. 00(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Employment Agreement, dated as of October 3, 209pand between Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. asteR Deans, Ph.D.
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1a@%he registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (@uission No. 000-52108)
filed with the Commission on June 14, 201

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated &ay 31, 2007, by and between Advanced Biotherapgunc. and
Robert Deans (incorporated herein by referencextolit 10.26 to the registrant's Current Reportkmrm 8K (Commission No
00C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datecb&October 3, 2003, by and among Athersys, kdvanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Robert Deans (incorpdratzein by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to the regig’s Current Report on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2004nd between Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. aiilisvd Lehmann
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1a@&e registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (@uission No. 000-52108)
filed with the Commission on June 14, 20
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10.23"

10.24

10.25

10.26°

10.27-

10.28"

10.29°

10.30

10.31

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated &ay 31, 2007, by and between Advanced Biotherapgunc. and
William Lehmann (incorporated herein by refererm&xhibit 10.29 to the registrant’'s Current ReportForm 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 2 to Employment Agreement, dated damuary 24, 2014, by and between Advanced Biaffeartics, Inc. ar
William Lehmann

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datecbé September 10, 2001, by and among Athersys, Advanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and William Lehmann (incoigued herein by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to tligsteant’s Current Report
on Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Form Incentive Agreement by and between AdvancethBrapeutics, Inc. and named executive officerd,axknowledged by
Athersys, Inc. and ReGenesys, LLC (incorporateeihdyy reference to Exhibit 10.31 to the registsa@urrent Report on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Form Amendment No. 1 to Incentive Agreement by beitiveen Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and namedutive officers,
and acknowledged by Athersys, Inc. and ReGene&yG,(Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit32Xo the registrant’s
Current Report on Formr-K (Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Form Amendment No. 2 to Incentive Agreement by laeidveen Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and namedutive officers,
and acknowledged by Athersys, Inc. and ReGenedyG,(iIncorporated herein by reference to Exhibi2lf. the registrant’s
Current Report on Formr-K (Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 20, 2(

Exclusive License Agreement, dated as of May 10220y and between Regents of the University ofridsota and MCL
LLC, assumed by ReGenesys, LLC through operatianefyer on November 4, 2003 (incorporated hereirefgrence to
Exhibit 10.34 to the registrant’s Current Reportramm 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108) filed with tBemmission on June
14, 2007,

Amendment No. 1 to Cell Line Collaboration and lnise Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2006, bpetween Athersys,
Inc. and Bristol-Myers Squibb Company (incorporatedein by reference to Exhibit 10.36 to the regigfts Current Report on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Form Indemnification Agreement for Directors, O#is and Directors and Officers (incorporated helogineference to Exhibit
10.1 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8=kimmission No. 000-52108) filed with the Comnmigson August 6,
2007)
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10.33

10.34

10.35

10.36”

10.37-

10.38"

10.39

10.40°

10.41-

10.42

10.43

10.44

Collaboration and License Agreement, dated as oeBer 18, 2009, by and between Athersys, Inc., ABIding Company,
and Pfizer (incorporated herein by reference toiliikh0.42 to the registrant’s Annual Report onfRdr0-K for the year ended
December 31, 2009 (Commission No. -33876) filed with the Commission on March 11, 20

Stand-by License Agreement, dated as of DecemhexQl®, by and between Regents of the Universityliohesota, ABT
Holding Company and Pfizer (incorporated hereindfgrence to Exhibit 10.43 to the registrant’s AalnReport on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2009 (CommissiarOBii-33876) filed with the Commission on March 11, 20

Amendment dated as of March 31, 2009 to the Exidi@i#laboration and License Agreement, by and betw&hersys, Inc.
and Bristol-Myers Squibb Company effective Janugr006 (incorporated herein by reference to ExHiBil to the
registran’s Current Report on Forn-K (Commission No. 0C-33876) filed with the Commission on April 9, 20(

Amendment No. 4 to Amended and Restated Registr&ights Agreement, dated as of March 8, 2010,rolyaanong Athersy
Inc. and the Existing Stockholders (as definedetmr(incorporated herein by reference to ExhiBi4b to the registrant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Ddmem31, 2009 (Commission No. 001-33876) filed wvitfite Commission
on March 11, 201C

License and Technical Assistance Agreement, dated September 10, 2010, between ABT Holding Comzamd RTI
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1@.1he registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-@r{nission No. 001-
33876) filed with the Commission on November 8, @

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement (incorpgedsherein by reference to Exhibit 10.47 to thestegnt's Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2@Hinmission No. 001-33876) filed with the CommissaonMarch 25,
2011)

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for NEBmployee Directors (incorporated herein by refeesto Exhibit 10.48
to the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-Ktfue year ended December 31, 2010 (Commission Nie38876) filed with
the Commission on March 25, 201

Athersys, Inc. Amended and Restated 2007 Long-Tecentive Plan (Amended and Restated Effective 1@n@011)
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10@.tetgistrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (ComnuadNo. 001-33876) filed
with the Commission on June 20, 2(

Athersys, Inc. Amended and Restated 2007 Long-Tecentive Plan (Amended and Restated Effective 1&)2013)
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1@.tegistrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (ComnuasNo. 001-33876) filed
with the Commission on June 18, 2(

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for NEBmployee Directors pursuant to the Athersys, Aroended and
Restated 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan (AmendedRestated Effective June 16, 2011) (incorporatedihdy reference to
Exhibit 10.49 to the registrant’s Quarterly RepmitForm 10-Q (Commission No. 001-33876) filed wilie Commission on
May 6, 2011

Common Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of Nayehih 2011, by and between Athersys, Inc. andraspapital Fund,
LLC (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibitllf the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8a¥imission No. 001-
33876) filed with the Commission on November 1417

First Amendment to Common Stock Purchase Agreemdeted as of November 17, 2011, by and betweenrsythgelnc. and
Aspire Capital Fund, LLC (incorporated by referetm&xhibit 10.47 to the registrant’'s RegistratiBtatement on Form S-1
(Commission No. 33-178418) filed with the Commission on December 94,1\

Common Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of Oc2@2013, by and between Athersys, Inc. and Aspapital Fund,
LLC (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibitll the registrant’s Current Report on Form 82fimission No. 001-
33876) filed with the Commission on October 23,2X
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Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (incorpedalierein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the tegig’s Quarterly Report ¢
Form 1(-Q (Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on August 10, 2C

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (incorpedaterein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the rtegig’'s Current Report on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-33876) filed with the Commission on June 20, 2(

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of NoveritheP011, by and between Athersys, Inc. and Aspagital Fund, LLC
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2he registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Cassion No. 001-33876)
filed with the Commission on November 14, 20

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of Oct@BeP013, by and between Athersys, Inc. and Agpagital Fund, LLC
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2he registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Cdssion No. 001-33876)
filed with the Commission on October 23, 20

Amendment No. 3 to Extended Collaboration and LseeAgreement, dated January 31, 2012, by and betd@& Holding
Company and Bristol-Myers Squibb Company (incoreddy reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the registmQuarterly Report on
Form 1(-Q (Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on May 14, 20

First Amendment to License and Technical Assistakgeement, dated September 17, 2012, by and betéB& Holding, Inc.
and RTI Biologics, Inc. (incorporated herein byereihce to Exhibit 10.52 to the registrant’'s Regi&in Statement on Form S-
1/A (Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on October 23, 2(

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of Marc092, by and between Athersys, Inc. and the sigiestthereto
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1ad&e registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (@uission No. 001-33876)
filed with the Commission on March 15, 20:

Summary of Athersys, Inc. 2013 Cash Bonus IncerRiam (incorporated herein by reference to ExHiBi64 to the registrant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Ddwem31, 2012 (Commission No. 001-33876) filed vifitt Commission on
March 12, 2013

Form of Securities Purchase Agreement (incorporagedin by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registis Current Report on
Form €K (Commission No. 0C-33876) filed with the Commission on November 291 32X

Form of Securities Purchase Agreement (incorporagedin by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registis Current Report on
Form ¢&-K (Commission No. 0C-33876) filed with the Commission on January 13,4)(

Summary of Athersys, Inc. 2014 Cash Bonus IncerRiam

List of Subsidiarie:

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registétablic Accounting Firn
Power of Attorney

Certification of Gil Van Bokkelen, Chairman and €hixecutive Officer, pursuant to SEC Rules 13a}ld6d 15d-14(a)
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarl-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Laura K. Campbell, Vice Presiderfit-inance, pursuant to SEC Rules 13a-14(a) anel#%al) adopted pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Gil Van Bokkelen, Chairman and €hExecutive Officer, and Laura Campbell, Vice Rient of Finance,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, adopted putd¢aa@ection 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

XBRL Instance Documer

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntr
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurh
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent

* Confidential treatment requested as to certainqust which portions have been filed separatelywie SEC
t Indicates management contract or compensatory ptantract or arrangement in which one or moreatlars or executive officers of the
registrant may be participar
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Exhibit 10.24

AMENDMENT NO. 2TO
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

This Amendment No. 2 (this “Amendment”), dated &danuary 24, 2014, to the Employment Agreemeng(é&ment”), dated as of
January 1, 2004, as amended, betw&@ham Lehmann (“Employee”) andADVANCED BIOTHERAPEUTICS, INC. (“Employer”).

WHEREAS, Employee is employed by Advanced Biothetdigs, Inc., an indirect wholly-owned subsidiafyAthersys, Inc.
(“Athersys”); and

WHEREAS, Employer and Employee wish to amend thee@ment in accordance with action of the Board ioé®@ors of Athersys.
NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto, intending tdelgally bound, agree as follows:

1. Effective as of the date of this Amendment, Bect(c)(i) of Agreement is hereby amended andatedtin its entirety as follows:

“(i  ABT will continue to pay to Employee his fuBase Salary for a period of twelve months fromBiate of Termination at the
rate in effect at the time Notice of Terminatiorgigen and all other unpaid amounts, if any, tockHEmployee is entitled as
of the Date of Termination, including any bonus dvpeirsuant to Section 2(grovided, however, if during such twelve
month period, Employee violates any provision & Agreement for Disclosure of Confidential Inforimatbetween
Employee and Athersys, then ABT will not be reqdite make any further payments to Employee”

2. This Amendment and the Agreement shall bindiaack to the benefit of and be enforceable by Egxo Employer and their

respective heirs, executors, personal represeesatbuccessors and assigns, except that neithgmpay assign any rights or delegate any
obligations hereunder without the prior written sent of the other party.

3. This Amendment may be executed in two or motmtarparts, each of which constitutes an origiaad] all of which taken together
shall constitute one and the same Amendmentuhderstood that all parties need not sign the saeterpart. In the event that any signature
is delivered by facsimile transmission or by endaiivery of a “.pdf” format data file, such signegwshall create a valid and binding obligation

of the party executing (or on whose behalf suchatigre is executed) with the same force and effedt such facsimile or “.pdfSignature pac
were an original thereof.

4. The validity, interpretation, construction aretformance of this Amendment will be governed by ltws of the State of Ohio without
regard to its conflicts of law principle



5. Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defime@in have the meanings set forth in the Agre¢men
[signatures on following page]

-2



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties has exettitis Amendment as of the day and year first emithbove.

W ILLIAM L EHMANN

/s/ William Lehmann

January 24, 2014

Date

A DVANCED B IOTHERAPEUTICS , | NC.

By:  /s/ Gil Van Bokkelen

Name Gil Van Bokkelen
Title: Chief Executive Office

January 24, 2014

Date



EXHIBIT 10.55

SUMMARY OF ATHERSYS, INC.
2014 CASH BONUS INCENTIVE PLAN

On January 17, 2014, the Board of Directors of Adpe, Inc. (the “Company”), upon the recommendatibthe Compensation Committee of
the Board of Directors of the Company, approvedshdonus incentive plan (the “Plan”) for the yeaded December 31, 2014 for the namec
executive officers of the Company. The Plan prosithat each participant is eligible to earn a baturing the award term of January 1, 2014
through December 31, 2014. The Plan provides ®iffdowing target bonus percentages of the namedugive officer’s salary during the
award term, weighted as set forth below on theeagiment of specified corporate goals, with the iatder based on individual/functional
performance. The corporate goals include advantia@ompany’s clinical programs for MultiStem, extdog against the established
operating plan and capital acquisition objectivwe®] advancement of strategic partnership and progrdivities. There is no formally adopted

plan document for the Plan.

Targe
Weighting on
Title Bonus Corporate Goa
Chief Executive Officer 60% 10C%
President & Chief Operating Offic: 45% 80%
Executive Vice President & Chief Scientific Offic 45% 80%
Executive Vice President, Regenerative Medi 40% 60%

Vice President of Financ 30% 60%



Name of Subsidian
ABT Holding Company (formerly Athersys, Inc.)
Advanced Biotherapeutics, In
Athersys Limitec
ReGenesys LL(
ReGenesys BVB/
ReGenesys EU N'

SUBSIDIARIES OF ATHERSYS, INC.

EXHIBIT 21.1

Jurisdiction
Delaware
Delaware
United Kingdom
Delaware
Belgium
Belgium



EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference irféHewing Registration Statements:

(1) Registration Statement (Forn-3, No. 33:-191873) dated October 24, 20:

(2) Registration Statement (Forn-8, No. 33:-189406) dated June 18, 2013 pertaining to the Ayfseinc. Lon-Term Incentive Plar

(3) Registration Statement (Forn-3, No. 33:-180411) dated March 28, 201

(4) Registration Statement (Forn-8, No. 33:-175023) dated June 20, 2011 pertaining to the Ayfseinc. Lon-Term Incentive Plar

(5) Registration Statement (Form S-8, No. 333-14978lated November 14, 2007 pertaining to the Ag®rsic. Equity Incentive
Compensation Plal

(6) Registration Statement (Form S-8, No. 333-1078&ted November 14, 2007 pertaining to the Agrgeric. Long-Term Incentive
Plan, anc

(7) Registration Statement (Forn-3/A, No. 33-144433) dated October 10, 20t

of our reports dated March 13, 2014, with respethé consolidated financial statements and sckeafuhthersys, Inc. and the effectiveness o
internal control over financial reporting of Athgss Inc. included in this Annual Report (Form 104€)Athersys, Inc. for the year ended
December 31, 2013.

/sl ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Cleveland, Ohio
March 13, 2014



EXHIBIT 24.1

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each of thedensigned officers and directors of Athersys, lad)elaware corporation,
hereby constitutes and appoints of Gil Van BokkelWilliam Lehmann, Jr., and Laura K. Campbell, @adh of them, as his true and lawful
attorney or attorneys-ifact, with full power of substitution and revocatjdor each of the undersigned and in the namegpknd stead of ea
of the undersigned, to sign on behalf of each efuhdersigned an Annual Report on Form 10-K forfigeal year ended December 31, 2013
pursuant to Section 13 of the Securities ExchangeoA1934 and to sign any and all amendments¢b sunnual Report, and to file the same,
with all exhibits thereto, and other documentsanreection therewith including, without limitatioa,Form 12b-25 with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, granting to said attorneyttorrzeys-in-fact, and each of them, full power amthority to do so and perform each and
every act and thing requisite and necessary twhe th and about the premises, as fully to allnt#@nd purposes as the undersigned might c
could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirmailgthat said attorney or attorneysfact or any of them or their substitute or subgttumay
lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue thereof.

This power of attorney may be executed in multg@anterparts, each of which shall be deemed amatigith respect to the person
executing it.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have hereuetth®ir hands as of the 6th day of March 2014.

Signaturw m
/s/ Gil Van Bokkelen
Gil Van Bokkeler Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Boafdoectors

/sl Laura K. Campbell
Laura K. Campbel Vice President of Financ

/s/ John J. Harrington
John J. Harringto Executive Vice President, Chief Scientific Offi@ard Directol

/s/ Lorin J. Randall
Lorin J. Randal Director

/sl Jack L. Wyszomierski
Jack L. Wyszomiersk Director

/s/ Kenneth H. Traub
Kenneth H. Traul Director

/s/ Ismail Kola
Ismail Kola Director

/sl Lee E. Babiss
Lee E. Babis: Director




EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Gil Van Bokkelen, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Athersys, Inc.

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiominy untrue statement of a material fact or dongtate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaotee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to
by others within those entities, particularly dgrie period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Designed such internal control over financédarting, or caused such internal control overrfgial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragigslosure controls and procedures and presenteisi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; an

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thesignt's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evafuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal céotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a simifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

March 13, 2014

/s/ Gil Van Bokkelen

Gil Van Bokkeler
Chief Executive Officer an
Chairman of the Board of Directa



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Laura K. Campbell, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Athersys, Inc.

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiominy untrue statement of a material fact or dongtate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaotee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to
by others within those entities, particularly dgrie period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Designed such internal control over financédarting, or caused such internal control overrfgial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragigslosure controls and procedures and presenteisi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; an

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thesignt's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evafuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal céotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a simifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

March 13, 2014

/s/ Laura K. Campbell

Laura K. Campbel
Vice President of Financ



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Athersys;.I(the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year endmtember 31, 2013, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the dateh@he “Report”), each of the undersigned officefshe Company certifies, pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant taoBe2®6 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, thasuoh officer’'s knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finana@aldition and results of operations of the
Company as of the dates and for the periods exgnidashe Repor

Date: March 13, 2014

/s/ Gil Van Bokkelen
Name: Gil Van Bokkelel
Title: Chairman and Chief Executive Offic

/sl Laura K. Campbell
Name: Laura K. Campbe
Title: Vice President of Financ

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pleursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is notdofiled as part of the Report or as a
separate disclosure docume



